Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc
Directors' Report and Consolidated Financial
Statements
Financial Year Ended December 31, 2019

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

Directors' Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2019

CONTENTS

Page

DIRECTORS' REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

2 - 68

69 - 76

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

77

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

78

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

79

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

80 - 81

82 - 121

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

122

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

123

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

124 - 131

1

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT
The directors present their report together with the financial statements of the Company (as defined below) for
the financial year ended December 31, 2019.
Organization and Nature of Operations
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (“the Company”), together with its subsidiaries (“the Group”), is a fully integrated
biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of specialty products that
target markets with underserved patient populations. The Company generates revenues across an existing
portfolio of promoted specialty neurology and women’s health products, as well as non-promoted products,
many of which are primarily complex formulations of generic drugs.
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Limited) is
an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on April 30,
2018 for the purpose of facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On October 22,
2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which it issued and
allotted 7,647,500 ordinary shares at a public offering price of $7.00 per share. The number of shares issued in
the IPO reflected the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 997,500 additional ordinary shares.
In addition, the Company issued and allotted 2,014,285 ordinary shares at the public offering price in a private
placement to investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, Altchem Limited and an entity controlled
by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The aggregate net proceeds from the IPO and the private placement
were approximately $58.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses.
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc becoming the direct parent of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp with each holder of common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. receiving approximately 42.84
ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc in exchange for each such common unit. In addition, each
holder of an option to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. received an option to purchase
the number of ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc determined by multiplying the number of units
underlying such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded down to the nearest whole share) and dividing the
exercise price per unit for such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded up to the nearest whole cent). These
transactions are referred to as the “Reorganization”. Accordingly, all share and share amounts for all periods
presented in the accompanying financial statements have been adjusted retroactively, where applicable, to
reflect the Reorganization. Until the Reorganization on October 17, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc did not
conduct any operations (other than activities incidental to its formation, the Reorganization and the pursuit of
an initial public offering). Upon the completion of the Reorganization, the historical consolidated financial
statements of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. became the historical financial statements of Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein reflect
the financial information of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.is a Luxembourg special limited partnership, formed on January 28, 2016. Osmotica
Holdings US LLC, a subsidiary of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. entered into a fifty-fifty partnership (the “Merger”),
effective February 3, 2016, pursuant to a definitive agreement between Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC
(“Vertical/Trigen”) and members, and Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited and Subsidiaries. Osmotica Holdings
S.C.Sp. and several other holding companies and partnerships were formed as a result of the Merger. Pursuant
to the Merger, Vertical/Trigen was deemed to be the accounting acquirer. Osmotica is a fully integrated
biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of specialty products that
target markets with underserved patient populations.
Unless otherwise indicated or required by the context, references throughout to “Osmotica,” or the “Company,”
refer to (i) prior to the completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and its consolidated
subsidiaries, including, from and after April 30, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, and (ii) following the
completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc and its consolidated subsidiaries, including
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.
Basis of presentation
The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 279 of
the Companies Act 2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial statements in accordance with United States (U.S.)
accounting standards (U.S. GAAP), as defined in that section to the extent that the use of those principles in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements does not contravene any provision of Part 6 of the
Companies Act 2014.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Principal activities
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc is a fully integrated biopharmaceutical company focused on the development
and commercialization of specialty products that target markets with underserved patient populations.
The group’s core competencies span drug development, manufacturing and commercialization. Our team of
sales representatives support the ongoing commercialization of our existing promoted product portfolio as well
as the launch of new products.
Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the directors’ report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with
Irish law.
Irish law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year giving a true and fair view
of the consolidated and Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year
and of the profit or loss of the group for the financial year. Under that law, the Directors have prepared the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. accounting standards, as defined in Section 279(1)
of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial
statements does not contravene any provision of the Companies Act or of any regulations made thereunder,
and the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in
Ireland (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland and Irish law).
Under Irish law, the directors shall not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year
and the profit or loss of the Company for the financial year.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•
•
•

•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state that the consolidated financial statements comply with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (U.S. GAAP) to the extent that it does not contravene Irish Company Law and that
the entity financial statements of the Company comply with accounting standards issued by the Financial
Reporting Council and Irish law; and
assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and
use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2014. They are responsible for such internal
controls as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities. The directors are also responsible for preparing a directors’ report that complies with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2014.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company’s website (www.osmotica.com). Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Accounting records
The directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of sections 281 to 285 of the Companies
Act 2014 with regard to adequate accounting records by employing accounting personnel with appropriate
expertise and by providing adequate resources to the financial function. The accounting records of the Company
are maintained at 400 Crossing Boulevard, Bridgewater, NJ 08807, USA.
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Directors’ compliance statement
The directors, in accordance with Section 225(2) of the Companies Act 2014, acknowledge that they are
responsible for securing the Company’s compliance with certain obligations specified in that section arising from
the Companies Act 2014, and Tax laws (‘relevant obligations’). The directors confirm that:
•
•
•

a compliance policy statement has been drawn up setting out the Company’s policies with regard to such
compliance;
appropriate arrangements and structures that, in their opinion, are designed to secure material compliance
with the Company’s relevant obligations, have been put in place; and
a review has been conducted, during the financial year, of the arrangements and structures that have been
put in place to secure the Company’s compliance with its relevant obligations.

In discharging their responsibilities under Section 225 of the Companies Act 2014, the directors relied on the
advice of persons who the directors believe have the requisite knowledge and experience to advise the
Company on compliance with its relevant obligations.
Audit committee
In accordance with Section 167 of the Companies Act 2014, the Company has an audit committee, which meets
the requirements of the Companies Act.
Dividends
No dividends were paid or proposed during the year.
Events since the end of the financial year
The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2019 through the
date of the approval of the directors’ report, and have identified the following events:
On January 13, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 6,900,000 ordinary shares at a public
offering price of $5.00 per share. The number of shares issued in this offering reflected the exercise in full of
the underwriters’ option to purchase 900,000 ordinary shares. The aggregate net proceeds from the follow-on
offering were approximately $31.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering
expenses.
On March 17, 2020, Carlos Sielecki informed the board of directors (the “Board”) of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals
plc (the “Company”) that he would resign as a director, with such resignation effective immediately prior to the
appointment of his successor to the Board. On March 22, 2020, the Board appointed Joachim Benes to fill the
vacancy on the Board resulting from the resignation of Mr. Sielecki, with such appointment effective on March
23, 2020.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, referred to as 2019-ncov, COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic,
or COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. COVID-19 has since spread to other regions
in China and other countries, including the United States, where we have our executive offices and principal
operations. For additional information please refer to Risks related to our business later in this report.
Research and development
Our research and development team leverages its expertise across a variety of scientific disciplines to formulate
product candidates and advance programs through the drug development and approval process and post
marketing studies. We have capabilities in regulatory affairs, pharmaceutical science, analytical chemistry,
preclinical studies, clinical trial design and operations, quality assurance and compliance, medical affairs and
pharmacovigilance. We deploy these competencies to advance a product candidate through the drug
development process, and develop data and intellectual property to improve our products, support
commercialization and extend product life cycles. Scientific staff in Buenos Aires, Argentina, Wilmington, North
Carolina, Bridgewater, New Jersey, Marietta, Georgia and Budapest, Hungary use their expertise in formulation
development (including in our proprietary Osmodex drug delivery system), chemistry and material science to
focus on identifying drug compounds for re-formulation to achieve either new therapeutic attributes (e.g.,
extended release) or indications. Our clinical development team utilizes its experience to design and implement
clinical trials to support submission of new drug applications for organically developed and in-licensed product
candidates. Additionally, we perform early-stage manufacturing and technology transfer engineering and
evaluate any unique intellectual property arising from these activities. For development candidates that we have
elected to progress forward, scale-up process engineering has been performed at our manufacturing plant in
Marietta, Georgia.
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Research and development - continued
As of December 31, 2019, we had 93 employees in our research and development department worldwide. Our
staff of research scientists has expertise in the drug development process, from pre-formulation studies and
formulation development, to scale-up and manufacturing. The clinical development and medical affairs team
assumes product stewardship from pre-clinical testing and first-in-human studies, Phase I, Phase II and Phase
III clinical trials through to post-marketing studies, risk management and pharmacovigilance activities. Our
research and development team has extensive experience developing and coordinating clinical trial programs
and communicating with the FDA throughout the process to ensure proper trial design and an efficient clinical
and drug development process. Our team has a successful track record of developing products and receiving
FDA approval for NDAs and abbreviated new drug applications, or ANDAs.
In 2019, we generated total revenues across our existing portfolio of promoted specialty neurology and women’s
health products, as well as our non-promoted products, which are primarily complex formulations of generic
drugs. In 2017, we received regulatory approval from the FDA, for M-72 (methylphenidate hydrochloride
extended-release tablets, 72 mg) for the treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, or ADHD, in patients
aged 13 to 65, and, in 2018, we received regulatory approval from the FDA for Osmolex ER (amantadine
extended-release tablets) for the treatment of Parkinson’s disease and drug-induced extrapyramidal reactions,
which are involuntary muscle movements caused by certain medications, in adults. We launched M-72 in the
second quarter of 2018 and completed the launch of Osmolex ER in January 2019. In addition, we have a latestage development pipeline highlighted by two NDA product candidates, both of which have completed Phase
III clinical trials: RVL-1201 (oxymetazoline hydrochloride ophthalmic solution, 0.1%) designed for the treatment
of acquired blepharoptosis, or droopy eyelid, and arbaclofen extended-release tablets designed for the
alleviation of signs and symptoms of spasticity resulting from multiple sclerosis. In November 2019, an NDA for
RVL-1201 was accepted for filing by the FDA with a goal date for FDA decision on the application of July 16,
2020.
Our core competencies span drug development, manufacturing and commercialization. Our team of sales
representatives support the ongoing commercialization of our existing promoted product portfolio as well as the
launch of new products. As of December 31, 2019, we actively promoted six products: Osmolex ER, M-72,
Lorzone (chlorzoxazone scored tablets) and ConZip (tramadol hydrochloride extended-release capsules) in
specialty neurology and OB Complete, our family of prescription prenatal dietary supplements, and Divigel
(estradiol gel, 0.1%) in women’s health. As of December 31, 2019, we sold a portfolio consisting of
approximately 30 non-promoted products. The cash flow from these non-promoted products has contributed to
our investments in research and development and business development activities. Some of our existing
products benefit from several potential barriers to entry, including intellectual property protection, formulation
and manufacturing complexities, and U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, or DEA, regulation and quotas for
API.
Our non-promoted products compete in generic markets where barriers to entry are lower than markets in which
certain of our promoted products compete.
Generic products generally contribute most significantly to revenues and gross margins at the time of launch or
in periods where no or a limited number of competing products have been approved and launched. In the United
States, the consolidation of buyers in recent years has increased competitive pressures on the industry as a
whole. As such, the timing of new product launches can have a significant impact on a company’s financial
results. The entrance into the market of additional competition can have a negative impact on the pricing and
volume of the affected products which are outside the company’s control. In particular, both methylphenidate
ER tablets and venlafaxine ER tablets, or VERT, have experienced, and are expected to continue to experience,
significant pricing erosion due to additional competition from other generic pharmaceutical companies. This
generic pricing erosion has resulted in lower net product sales, revenue and profitability from methylphenidate
ER tablets and VERT in 2019, and this erosion is expected to continue in subsequent years. Additionally, an
AB-rated generic of Lorzone was approved on November 27, 2019, which may result in pricing and market
share declines.
We are focused on continuing the transition of our business to a specialty pharmaceutical company that
develops and commercializes proprietary products. The Company’s research and development pipeline
highlighted by RVL-1201 and arbaclofen extended release tablets, is the primary driver of this strategy. In 2017,
we acquired the worldwide rights to RVL-1201 and have completed two Phase III clinical trials of RVL-1201 in
the United States for the treatment of acquired blepharoptosis.
Branches
The company does not operate any branches outside of the state.
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Political donations
No political contributions that require disclosure under Irish law were made during the financial year.
Business Review
Segment Information
We currently operate in one business segment focused on the development and commercialization of
pharmaceutical products that target markets with underserved patient populations. We are not organized by
market and are managed and operated as one business. We also do not operate any separate lines of business
or separate business entities with respect to our products. A single management team reports to our chief
operating decision maker who comprehensively manages our entire business. Accordingly, we do not
accumulate discrete financial information with respect to separate product lines and do not have separately
reportable segments. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Components of Results of Operations
Revenues
Our revenues consist of product sales, royalty revenues and licensing and contract revenue.
Net product sales—Our revenues consist primarily of product sales of our promoted products, principally M-72,
Lorzone, Divigel and the OB Complete family of prescription prenatal dietary supplements, and our
non-promoted products, principally methylphenidate ER and VERT. We ship product to a customer pursuant to
a purchase order, which in certain cases is pursuant to a master agreement with that customer, and we invoice
the customer upon shipment. For these sales we recognize revenue when control has transferred to the
customer, which is typically on delivery to the customer. The amount of revenue we recognize is equal to the
selling price, adjusted for any variable consideration, which includes estimated chargebacks, commercial
rebates, discounts and allowances at the time revenues are recognized.
Royalty revenue—For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based
on the level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, the
Company recognizes revenue at the later of (a) when the related sales occur, or (b) when the performance
obligation to which some or all the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
Licensing and contract revenue—The Company has arrangements with commercial partners that allow for the
purchase of product from the Company by the commercial partners for purpose of sub-distribution. Licensing
revenue is recognized when the performance obligation identified in the arrangement is completed. Variable
considerations, such as returns on product sales, government program rebates, price adjustments and prompt
pay discounts associated with licensing revenue, are generally the responsibility of our commercial partners.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, including salaries and
benefits for employees in executive, finance, accounting, business development, legal and human resource
functions. General and administrative expenses also include corporate facility costs, including rent, utilities, legal
fees related to corporate matters and fees for accounting and other consulting services. We expect to continue
to incur additional general and administrative expenses as a public company, including costs associated with
the preparation of our SEC filings, increased legal and accounting costs, investor relations costs, incremental
director and officer liability insurance costs, as well as costs related to compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.
Research and Development
Costs for research and development are charged as incurred and include employee-related expenses (including
salaries and benefits, travel and expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or
CROs, contract manufacturing organizations and service providers that assist in conducting clinical and
preclinical studies), costs associated with preclinical activities and development activities and costs associated
with regulatory operations.
Costs for certain development activities, such as clinical studies, are recognized based on an evaluation of the
progress to completion of specific tasks using data such as patient enrollment, clinical site activations or
information provided to us by our vendors on their actual costs incurred. Payments for these activities are based
on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may differ from the patterns of costs incurred, and are
reflected in our consolidated financial statements as prepaid expenses or accrued expenses as applicable.
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Financial Operations Overview
The following table presents revenues and expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
Licensing and contract revenue
Total revenues
Cost of goods sold (inclusive of amortization of intangibles)
Gross profit
Gross profit percentage
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Impairments of goodwill
Impairment of intangibles
Total operating expenses
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount
Other non-operating expense (gain)
Total other non-operating expense (gain)
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss

235,472
3,641
918
240,031
111,630
128,401
53 %
93,030
32,319
—
283,747
409,096
18,211
(884)
17,327
(298,022)
27,121
(270,901)

261,398
1,959
344
263,701
140,082
123,619
47 %
74,243
43,693
86,318
17,903
222,157
20,790
(664)
20,126
(118,664)
8,983
(109,681)

% Change
(10)%
86 %
167 %
(9)%
(20)%
4%
25 %
(26)%
(100)%
1,485 %
84 %
(12)%
33 %
(14)%
151 %
202 %
147 %

Revenue
The following table presents total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (dollars in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
% Change
Venlafaxine ER (VERT)
Methylphenidate ER
Lorzone
Divigel
OB Complete
Other
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
Licensing and contract revenue
Total revenues

75,601
73,205
15,004
26,794
9,851
35,017
235,472
3,641
918
240,031

66,039
129,469
17,172
23,314
10,510
14,894
261,398
1,959
344
263,701

14 %
(43)%
(13)%
15 %
(6)%
135 %
(10)%
86 %
167 %
(9)%

Total revenues decreased by $23.7 million to $240.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as
compared to $263.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily due to a decrease in net product
sales.
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 - continued
Net Product Sales. Net product sales decreased by $25.9 million to $235.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019, as compared to $261.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Net product sales
of methylphenidate ER (including M-72, which was launched in the second quarter of 2018) decreased 43%
due to additional competitors entering the market, resulting in significantly lower net selling prices, partially offset
by lower than estimated product returns. Product sales from VERT increased by 14% for the year ended
December 31, 2019. During 2019 a competing dosage strength was launched which negatively affected sales
volumes, however volume decreases were more than offset by lower than estimated product returns and
government rebates resulting in higher realized net selling prices in the period. Additionally, during the third
and fourth quarter of 2019, two additional generic forms of VERT from competitors were approved but not
launched. We expect that the additional competition for both methylphenidate ER and VERT from these
competitors, as well as additional generic product approvals and launches in the future, if any, will continue to
negatively affect our sales of these products in 2020 and future years. Methylphenidate and VERT net sales
were favorably impacted by adjustments of approximately $25.3 million in the aggregate primarily related to
product returns reserves during the year ended December 31, 2019 based on actual product returns experience.
There can be no assurance that actual product returns experience and other adjustments will continue to
favorably impact net sales in 2020 and in future years.
Product sales from Lorzone declined 13% for the year ended December 31, 2019, reflecting lower volume,
partially offset by higher net selling prices. Product sales from Divigel increased by 15%, driven primarily by the
launch of a new dosage strength together with targeted promotional activities and strong patient access. Product
sales from the OB Complete family of prescription prenatal dietary supplements decreased by $0.7 million or
6% during 2019. Other non-promoted product sales increased by 135%, largely due to the launch of
nitrofurantoin during 2019 and growth of other non-promoted products.
Royalty Revenue- Royalty revenue increased by $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared
to the prior year period, primarily due to price protection adjustments incurred by one of our license partners
thereby reducing royalty revenue during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Licensing and Contract Revenue- Licensing and contract revenue increased by $0.6 million in 2019 primarily
due to the higher product sales by our license partners during the year.

Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit Percentage
The following table presents a breakdown of total cost of goods sold for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018 (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
% Change
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation expense
Royalty expense
Other cost of goods sold
Total cost of goods sold

52,657
2,343
10,198
46,432
111,630

77,096
2,626
11,949
48,411
140,082

(32)%
(11)%
(15)%
(4)%
(20)%

Total cost of goods sold decreased $28.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2019 to $111.6 million as
compared to $140.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily driven by a $24.4 million decrease
in amortization of intangible assets, due to lower amortization for methylphenidate ER and VERT. Royalty
expense decreased by $1.7 million due to decrease in net sales of certain royalty products. There was no
material change in depreciation expense or other cost of goods sold.
Gross profit percentage increased to 53% for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 47% for the year
ended December 31, 2018. Excluding amortization and depreciation, our gross profit percentage for the year
ended December 31, 2019 was 76% as compared to 77% for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 - continued
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $18.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2019 to
$93.0 million as compared to $74.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase in our selling,
general and administrative expenses reflects additions to salesforce headcount and marketing costs associated
with the launch of Osmolex ER, severance expenses associated with a salesforce realignment during the third
quarter of 2019 and increased share compensation expense and higher costs associated with being a public
company.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses decreased by $11.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2019 to
$32.3 million as compared to $43.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease primarily
reflects the completion of the Phase III clinical trials of arbaclofen ER during the first quarter of 2019 and the
cost of manufacturing development batches of Osmolex ER during 2018, which costs were not present in 2019,
partially offset by increased share compensation expense during 2019.
The following table summarizes our research and development expenses incurred for the periods indicated
(dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
Osmolex ER
Arbaclofen ER
RVL-1201
Other
Total

502
7,430
7,059
17,328
32,319

1,732
19,679
7,225
15,057
43,693

% Change
(71)%
(62)%
(2)%
15 %
(26)%

Impairment of Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill was $283.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2019
primarily consisting of write-downs to fair value of methylphenidate ER, VERT, Osmolex ER, and Corvite of
$128.1 million, $137.7 million, $17.7 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. Methylphenidate ER tablets and
VERT were impaired due to lower revenues reflecting an increasingly competitive environment which
deteriorated pricing and volumes; Osmolex ER was impaired due to underperforming revenue expectations
subsequent to the launch of the product; and Corvite was impaired due to the discontinuation of the product. In
the third and fourth quarter of 2019, we recognized an impairment of finite-lived development technology and
product rights for VERT of $73.0 million and $64.7 million, respectively, due to approvals of competing products
which deteriorated pricing and volumes.
During 2018 we recognized impairments of finite-lived developed technology assets of $10.3 million consisting
of the write down to fair value of nifedipine and Khedezla of $6.2 million and $4.1 million, respectively. Nifedipine
was impaired due to a greater competitive environment which reduced the anticipated royalty revenue from our
license partner, and in late 2018, we made the decision to discontinue commercialization of Khedezla and
recognized an impairment charge of $4.1 million. In December 2018, we made the decision to cease
development of Generic Product A, an indefinite-lived In-Process R&D asset which resulted in an impairment
charge of $7.6 million. In December 2018, circumstances and events related to pricing on certain of our generic
assets, together with our decision to discontinue development and commercialization of Khedezla and Generic
Product A, made it more likely than not that goodwill had become impaired. As a result, we performed an
assessment of goodwill as of December 31, 2018. Based on the results of this assessment, we recognized an
impairment charge of $86.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 - continued
Impairment of Intangible Assets and Goodwill - continued
The following table details the impairment charges for such periods (in thousands):

Asset/Asset Group
Product Rights
Osmolex ER
Methylphenidate ER
Corvite

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Impairment
Charge
$
Reason For Impairment
17,730

Lower than expected volume
Lower revenue due to generic
competition.
Discontinued formulation

128,113
190
146,033

Developed Technology

Venlafaxine ER

72,995

Revenue underperforming
expectations due to new
generic market entrants.

64,719

Revenue underperforming
expectations due to new
generic market entrants.

Distribution Rights

Venlafaxine
Total Impairment Charges for year ended
December 31, 2019

Asset/Asset Group
Developed Technology
Nifedipine
Khedezla

283,747

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Impairment
Charge
$
Reason For Impairment
Lower royalty revenue due to
competition
Discontinued
(1)
4,130
commercialization
10,303
6,173

In-Process R&D
Generic Product “A”

Goodwill
Total Impairment Charges for year ended
December 31, 2018

7,600

86,318

(1)

Suspension of development
activities

Discontinued products and
price erosion on generic
assets

104,221

1. Assets were fully impaired as of December 31, 2018.
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 - continued
Interest Expense and Amortization of Debt Discount
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount decreased by $2.9 million in the year ended December 31,
2019 to $18.2 million as compared to $20.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease in
borrowing costs reflects lower levels of indebtedness following the prepayment of debt in the fourth quarter of
2018, and lower interest rates.
Other Non-operating (Income) Expenses, net
Other non-operating (income) expense was $(0.9) million and $(0.7) million for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.
Income Tax Benefit (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
Income tax benefit
Effective tax rate

27,121
9.1 %

8,983
7.6 %

Income tax benefit increased by $18.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2019 to $27.1 million as
compared to $9.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2018.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations and amounts available to be drawn under
our Revolving Credit Facility, or Revolver. Our primary uses of cash are to fund operating expenses, product
development costs, capital expenditures, debt service payments, as well as strategic business and product
acquisitions.
As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $95.9 million and borrowing availability under
the Revolver of $50.0 million. In January 2020 completed a follow-on equity offering generating $31.8 million of
net proceeds, after giving effect to underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. We also
had $271.4 million aggregate principal amount borrowed under our term loans. During the year ended
December 31, 2019 we generated $33.6 million of cash from operations, and during the year ended December
31, 2018, we generated cash flows from operations of $37.6 million. We expect to generate positive cash flow
from operations in the future through sales of our existing products, launches of products currently in our
development pipeline and sales derived from in-licenses or acquisitions of other products; however, we expect
our levels of cash flow generated to be lower or negative in the near term due to price erosion on
methylphenidate ER and VERT and new product launch expenses.
As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate was 5.79% and 6.29% for our Term A Loan and Term B Loan,
respectively. As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate was 6.09% and 6.59% for our Term A Loan and Term
B Loan, respectively.
At December 31, 2019, there were no outstanding borrowings or outstanding letters of credit under the Revolver.
Availability under the Revolver as of December 31, 2019 was $50.0 million.
On January 13, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 6,900,000 ordinary share at a public
offering price of $5.00 per share. The number of shares issued in this offering reflected the exercise in full of
the underwriters’ option to purchase 900,000 ordinary shares. The aggregate net proceeds from the follow-on
offering were approximately $31.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering
expenses. Proceeds from the offering were used for working capital and general corporate purposes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources - continued
On October 22, 2018, we completed our IPO, in which we issued and allotted 7,647,500 ordinary shares at a
public offering price of $7.00 per share. The number of shares issued in the IPO reflected the exercise in full of
the underwriters’ option to purchase 997,500 additional ordinary shares. In addition, we issued and allotted
2,014,285 ordinary shares at the public offering price in a private placement to certain existing shareholders.
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The aggregate net proceeds of the IPO and the private placement were approximately $58.1 million after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. Shortly after the IPO, we prepaid
$50 million of our Term A loan and Term B loan.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we benefited from the commercial launch of methylphenidate ER
and M-72 in September 2017 and April 2018, respectively. Methylphenidate ER competes in generic markets
for which competition has eroded, and will continue to erode, profitability over time. In late 2018 and 2019,
several companies launched competing versions of methylphenidate ER. Additionally, there were three
approvals and one launch of competing dosage strengths of VERT during 2019. As a result, we have
experienced, and anticipate that we will continue to experience, price erosion negatively affecting profitability of
both methylphenidate ER and VERT in 2020 and future years. During 2018 and 2019, we made significant
investments in research and development, primarily for arbaclofen ER and RVL-1201, both of which completed
Phase III clinical trials in 2019.
We believe that our existing cash balances, cash we expect to generate from operations from our existing
product portfolio, as well as funds available under the Revolver, will be sufficient to fund our operations and to
meet our existing obligations for at least the next 12 months.
The adequacy of our cash resources depends on many assumptions, including primarily our assumptions with
respect to product sales and expenses, drug development and commercialization costs, as well as other factors,
such as successful development and launching of new products and strategic product or business acquisitions.
Our assumptions may prove to be wrong or other factors may adversely affect our business. We expect our
near term levels of cash flow to be negatively affected by price competition on methylphenidate ER and VERT,
and increased expenses associated with new product launches. As a result, we could exhaust or significantly
decrease our available cash resources, and we may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our debt
obligations. This could, among other things, force us to raise additional funds or force us to reduce our expenses
through cost cutting measures either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. During the
third quarter of 2019, the Company realigned its operating infrastructure to prepare for the launch of RVL-1201
and implemented cost-savings measures to reduce its expenses. In addition, the Company is exploring options
to raise additional capital by, for example, out-licensing or partnering rights to RVL-1201, or arbaclofen ER,
divesting non-strategic assets, strategic business development, and/or conducting one or more public or private
debt or equity financings, which could be dilutive to our shareholders. Such actions may not be on favorable
terms and the proceeds from such actions may not be sufficient to meet our obligations.
To continue to grow our business over the longer term, we plan to commit substantial resources to internal
product development, clinical trials of product candidates, expansion of our commercial, manufacturing and
other operations and product acquisitions and in-licensing. We have evaluated and expect to continue to
evaluate a wide array of strategic transactions as part of our plan to acquire or in-license and develop additional
products and product candidates to augment our internal development pipeline. Strategic transaction
opportunities that we pursue could materially affect our liquidity and capital resources and may require us to
incur additional indebtedness, seek equity capital or both. In addition, we may pursue development, acquisition
or in-licensing of approved or development products in new or existing therapeutic areas or continue the
expansion of our existing operations. Accordingly, we expect to continue to opportunistically seek access to
additional capital to license or acquire additional products, product candidates or companies to expand our
operations, or for general corporate purposes. Strategic transactions may require us to raise additional capital
through one or more public or private debt or equity financings or could be structured as a collaboration or
partnering arrangement. Any equity financing would be dilutive to our shareholders, and the consent of the
lenders under our senior secured credit facilities could be required for certain financings.
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Cash Flows
The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
33,567
37,558
(4,020)
(4,134)
(4,691)
3,604
175
(938)
25,031
36,090

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect on cash of changes in exchange rate
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Change
(3,991)
114
(8,295)
1,113
(11,059)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities are primarily driven by earnings from operations (excluding the impact of
non-cash items), the timing of cash receipts and disbursements related to accounts receivable and accounts
payable and the timing of inventory transactions and changes in other working capital amounts. Net cash
provided by operating activities was $33.6 million and $37.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. The decrease in cash provided by operating activities in the year ended December 31,
2019, as compared to year ended December 31, 2018, was due to lower revenues and changes in working
capital, primarily as a result of increased payments of accounts payable and accrued expenses, which were
partially offset by lower levels of accounts receivable, inventories and prepaid expenses.
Net cash used in investing activities
Our uses of cash in investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 reflected
purchases of property, plant and equipment and were $4.0 million and $4.1 million, respectively.
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities of $4.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily related
to the $1.8 million of net repayments of insurance premium financing and by $2.8 million repurchase of ordinary
shares.
Net cash provided by financing activities of $3.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily
related to the $58.1 million of net proceeds from our IPO and a $2.7 million net increase in insurance financing
loans, partially offset by $56.1 million of repayments of our term loans under our senior secured credit facility.
Contractual Obligations
The following table lists our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2019.
Payments due by period (in thousands)
Less than 1
Total

year

More than 5
1 - 3 years

3 - 5 years

years

271,360

—

271,360

—

—

47,371

15,908

31,463

—

—

174

130

40

4

—

Operating lease obligations (4)

5,596

2,285

2,820

491

—

Royalty obligations(5)

7,271

1,188

3,000

2,000

1,083

331,772

19,511

308,683

2,495

1,083

Long-term debt obligations(1)
Interest expense(2)
Capital lease obligations(3)

Total

1. Represents the remaining principal amount under our senior secured credit facilities, which is due on
December 21, 2022.
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2. These amounts represent future cash interest payments related to our existing debt obligations based on
variable interest rates specified in the senior secured credit facilities. Payments related to variable debt are
based on applicable rates at December 31, 2019 plus the specified margin in the senior secured credit
facilities for each period presented. As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate was 5.79% for Term A Loan
and 6.29% for Term B Loan.
3. Includes minimum cash payments related to certain fixed assets, primarily office equipment.
4. Includes minimum cash payments related to our leased offices and warehouse facilities under noncancelable leases in New Jersey, Florida, North Carolina, as well as in Argentina and Hungary.
5. Includes obligations to make minimum annual royalty payments.
Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits has been excluded from the above contractual obligations table as
the nature and timing of future payments, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated. As of December 31, 2019,
our liability for unrecognized tax benefits was $2.7 million (excluding interest and penalties). We do not
anticipate that the amount of our liability for unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change in the next 12
months.
Principal risks and uncertainties
This Annual Report contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations. You should
carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below together with all of the other information contained
in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing at the
end of this Annual Report. We have presented the below risks as “Risks related to our business,” “Risks related
to our industry,” “Risks related to our indebtedness,” “Risks related to our ordinary shares,” “Risks related to
being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares” and “Risks related to taxation.” If any of the following risks
actually occurs, our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition could suffer materially. The
risks described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to
us or those we currently view to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business, prospects,
operating results or financial condition.
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Risks related to our business
If we are unable to successfully develop or commercialize new products, or to do so on a timely or
cost-effective basis, or to extend life cycles of existing products, our operating results will suffer.
Developing and commercializing a new product is time consuming and costly and is subject to numerous factors
that may delay or prevent development and commercialization. Our future results of operations will depend to
a significant extent upon our ability to successfully gain FDA approval of and commercialize new products in a
timely and cost-effective manner, especially new branded products as we shift from focusing on generic to
branded products. There are numerous difficulties in developing and commercializing new products, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the ability to develop products in a timely and cost-effective manner and in compliance with regulatory
requirements;
the success of the pre-clinical and clinical testing processes to assure that new products are safe and
effective or chemically identical and bioequivalent to the branded reference listed drug;
the risk that any of our products presently under development, if and when fully developed and tested,
will not perform as expected;
delays or unanticipated costs, including delays associated with the completion of clinical trials for our
branded products;
delays associated with FDA registration, listing and approval processes and the ability to obtain in a
timely manner, and maintain, required regulatory approvals;
legal actions against our generic products brought by brand competitors, and legal challenges to our
branded products or branded product intellectual property;
the availability, on commercially reasonable terms, of raw materials, including API and other key
ingredients;
our ability to scale-up manufacturing methods to successfully manufacture commercial quantities of
products in compliance with regulatory requirements; and
acceptance of our products by physicians, patients, payors and the healthcare community.

As a result of these and other difficulties, products currently in development may or may not receive necessary
regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at all and we may not succeed in effectively managing our development
costs. Further, if we are required by the FDA or any equivalent foreign regulatory authority to complete clinical
trials in addition to those we currently expect to conduct, or to repeat a clinical trial that has already been
completed, or if there are any delays in completing preclinical studies, filing an IND or completing clinical trials,
our expenses could increase.
This risk exists particularly with respect to the introduction of new branded products as we continue our shift
away from focusing on generic markets. New Drug Applications, or NDAs, for branded products are subject to
uncertainties, higher costs and lengthy time frames associated with research and development of such products
and the inherent unproven market acceptance of such products. For example, after reviewing the topline data
from our second Phase III clinical trial of arbaclofen in multiple sclerosis patients with spasticity, the FDA may
require us to conduct additional clinical trials before approving arbaclofen for commercial use, if they approve
the product at all. The FDA’s review, as well as any subsequent clinical testing, could delay or prevent the
commercial launch of this product and increase our operating expenses, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations. If we are unable or delayed in our attempts
to develop and commercialize branded products successfully, we may have to rely primarily on revenue from
existing and future generic products to support research and development efforts.
More than 77% and 79% of our net product sales for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, were generated by our generic products. Our future profitability depends, in part, upon our ability
to introduce, on a timely basis, new generic products. The timeliness of our product introductions is dependent
upon, among other things, the timing of regulatory approval of our products, which to a large extent is outside
of our control, as well as the timing of competing products. As additional suppliers introduce comparable generic
pharmaceutical products, price competition intensifies, market access narrows and product sales prices and
gross profit decline, often significantly and rapidly.
If any of our products, when acquired or developed and approved, cannot be successfully or timely
commercialized, our operating results could be adversely affected. We cannot guarantee that any investment
we make in developing products will be recouped, even if we are successful in commercializing those products.

15

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to our business - continued
We expend a significant amount of resources on research and development, including milestones on
in-licensed products, which may not lead to successful product introductions.
Much of our development effort is focused on technically difficult-to-formulate products or products that require
advanced manufacturing technology. We expend resources on research and development primarily to enable
us to manufacture and market FDA-approved products in accordance with FDA regulations. Typically, research
expenses related to the development of innovative compounds and the filing of NDAs are significantly greater
than those expenses associated with ANDAs. We spent $32.3 million and $43.7 million on research and
development expenses in the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. We have entered into,
and may in the future enter into, agreements that require us to make significant milestone payments upon
achievement of various research and development events and regulatory approvals. As we continue to develop
and in-license new products, we will likely incur increased research, development and licensing expenses.
Because of the inherent risk associated with research and development efforts in our industry, particularly with
respect to new drugs, our research and development expenditures may not result in the successful introduction
of new FDA-approved products. Also, after we or our development partners submit an ANDA or NDA, the FDA
may request that we conduct additional bioequivalence studies for an ANDA or additional clinical trials for an
NDA. For example, in our most recent clinical trial for arbaclofen, arbaclofen did not meet the co-primary
endpoint of the study of showing improvement in functional performance relative to placebo as measured by
the change in baseline in Clinical Global Impression of Change, or CGIC, score but did meet the other coprimary endpoint of showing improvement in spasticity relative to placebo as measured by the change from
baseline on Total Numeric modified Ashworth Scale, or TNmAS, for the 40mg and 80mg doses. At this time, it
is unclear whether or not the FDA will agree that the data from our completed clinical trials sufficiently
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of arbaclofen and the FDA may require us to conduct additional clinical
trials before approving arbaclofen, if ever. As a result, we may be unable to reasonably determine the total
research and development costs required to develop a particular product. Finally, we cannot be certain that any
investment made in developing products will be recovered, even if we are successful in commercializing the
product. To the extent that we expend significant resources on research and development efforts and are not
ultimately able to introduce successful new products as a result of those efforts or cost-effectively commercialize
new products, our business, financial position and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
Failures of or delays in clinical trials are common and have many causes, and such failures or delays
could result in increased costs to us and could prevent or delay our ability to obtain regulatory approval
and commence product sales for new products. We may also find it difficult to enroll patients in our
clinical trials, which could delay or prevent development of our product candidates.
We may experience failures of or delays in clinical trials of our product candidates. Our planned clinical trials
may not begin on time, have an effective design, enroll a sufficient number of patients or be completed on
schedule, if at all. Our clinical trials may fail or be delayed for a variety of reasons, including, among others:
delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial; delays in reaching agreement with the FDA or
equivalent foreign regulatory authorities on final trial design; imposition of a clinical hold for safety reasons or
following an inspection of our clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities;
delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs,
and clinical trial sites, or failure by such CROs to carry out the clinical trial at each site in accordance with the
terms of our agreements with them; delays in obtaining required IRB approval at each site; difficulties or delays
in having patients complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up, or clinical sites electing
to terminate their participation in one of our clinical trials, which would likely have a detrimental effect on subject
enrollment; time required to add new clinical sites; or delays or failure by us or our contract manufacturers to
produce and deliver sufficient supply of clinical trial materials.
In addition, identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical trials of our product candidates is critical
to our success. The timing of our clinical trials depends on the speed at which we can recruit patients to
participate in testing our product candidates as well as completion of required follow-up periods. We may not
be able to identify, recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with required or desired
characteristics or to complete our clinical trials, in a timely manner. Patient enrollment and completion of the
trials is affected by factors including: the severity of the disease under investigation; the design of the trial
protocol; the size of the patient population; the eligibility criteria for the trial in question; the perceived risks and
benefits of the product candidate under trial; the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective
patients; the availability of competing therapies and clinical trials; efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical
trials; patient referral practices of physicians; and the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after
treatment.
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Risks related to our business - continued
If we are unable to initiate or complete our planned clinical trials or any such clinical trial is delayed for any of
the above reasons or other reasons, our development costs may increase, our regulatory approval process
could fail or be delayed and our ability to commercialize and commence sales of our product candidates could
be materially harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Interim “top-line” and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to
time may change as more patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification
procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.
From time to time, we may publicly disclose preliminary or topline data from our preclinical studies and clinical
trials, which is based on a preliminary analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and
conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the particular
study or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of
data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result,
the topline or preliminary results that we report may differ from future results of the same studies, or different
conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and fully
evaluated. Topline data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data
being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, topline data should be
viewed with caution until the final data are a available.
From time to time, we may disclose interim data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials. Interim data from
clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may
materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Adverse differences
between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects. Further,
disclosure of interim data by us or by our competitors could result in volatility in the price of our common stock.
Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates,
calculations, conclusions or analyses or may interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could
impact the value of the particular program, the approvability or commercialization of the particular product
candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose
regarding a particular study or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others
may not agree with what we determine is material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our
disclosure.
If the interim, topline, or preliminary data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory
authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to obtain approval for, and commercialize, our
product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business, operating results, prospects or financial
condition.
If the FDA does not conclude that certain of our product candidates satisfy the requirements for the
Section 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if the requirements for such product candidates under
Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for those product candidates will likely
take significantly longer, cost significantly more and entail significantly greater complications and risks
than anticipated, and in either case may not be successful.
We are developing proprietary product candidates for which we intend to seek FDA approval through the Section
505(b)(2) regulatory pathway. The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, also known
as the Hatch-Waxman Act, added Section 505(b)(2) to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA.
Section 505(b)(2) permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval
comes from studies that were not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained
a right of reference. Section 505(b)(2), if applicable to us under the FDCA, would allow an NDA we submit to
FDA to rely in part on data in the public domain or the FDA’s prior conclusions regarding the safety and
effectiveness of approved compounds, which could expedite the development program for our product
candidates by potentially decreasing the amount of clinical data that we would need to generate in order to
obtain FDA approval. If the FDA does not allow us to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway as
anticipated, we may need to conduct additional clinical trials, provide additional data and information, and meet
additional standards for regulatory approval. If this were to occur, the time and financial resources required to
obtain FDA approval for these product candidates, and complications and risks associated with these product
candidates, would likely substantially increase.
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We could need to obtain additional funding, which could result in significant dilution to the ownership interests
of our then existing shareholders to the extent we issue equity securities or convertible debt. We cannot assure
you that we would be able to obtain such additional financing on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreover,
inability to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway would likely result in new competitive products
reaching the market more quickly than our product candidates, which would likely materially adversely impact
our competitive position and prospects. Even if we are allowed to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory
pathway, we cannot assure you that our product candidates will receive the requisite approvals for
commercialization.
In addition, notwithstanding the approval of a number of products by the FDA under Section 505(b)(2) over the
last few years, certain brand-name pharmaceutical companies and others have objected to the FDA’s
interpretation of Section 505(b)(2). If the FDA’s interpretation of Section 505(b)(2) is successfully challenged,
the FDA may change its 505(b)(2) policies and practices, which could delay or even prevent the FDA from
approving any NDA that we submit under Section 505(b)(2). In addition, the pharmaceutical industry is highly
competitive, and Section 505(b)(2) NDAs are subject to special requirements designed to protect the patent
rights of sponsors of previously approved drugs that are referenced in a Section 505(b)(2) NDA. These
requirements may give rise to patent litigation and mandatory delays in approval of our NDAs for up to 30
months or longer depending on the outcome of any litigation. It is not uncommon for a manufacturer of an
approved product to file a citizen petition with the FDA seeking to delay approval of, or impose additional
approval requirements for, pending competing products. If successful, such petitions can significantly delay, or
even prevent, the approval of the new product. However, even if the FDA ultimately denies such a petition, the
FDA may substantially delay approval while it considers and responds to the petition. In addition, even if we are
able to utilize the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, there is no guarantee this would ultimately lead to
accelerated product development or earlier approval.
Moreover, even if our product candidates are approved under Section 505(b)(2), the approval may be subject
to limitations on the indicated uses for which the products may be marketed or to other conditions of approval,
or may contain requirements for costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy
of the products.
The testing required for the regulatory approval of our products is conducted primarily by independent
third parties. Any failure by any of these third parties to perform this testing properly and in a timely
manner may have an adverse effect upon our ability to obtain regulatory approvals.
Our applications for the regulatory approval of our products, including both internally developed and in-licensed
products, incorporate the results of testing and other information that is conducted or gathered primarily by
independent third parties (including, for example, manufacturers of raw materials, testing laboratories, CROs or
independent research facilities). Our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of the products being
tested is dependent, in part, upon the quality of the work performed by these third parties, the quality of the third
parties’ facilities and the accuracy of the information provided by third parties. Our control over any of these
factors may be limited. We rely on these parties for execution of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, and
control only certain aspects of their activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our
trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific standards and our
reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of all of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs are required
to comply with FDA laws and regulations regarding GCP, which are also required by the Competent Authorities
of the Member States of the European Economic Area and comparable foreign regulatory authorities in the form
of International Conference on Harmonization, or ICH, guidelines for all of our products in clinical development.
Regulatory authorities enforce GCP through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and
trial sites.
If we or any of our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCP, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may
be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform
additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. For example, in June 2015, we submitted
an NDA containing data from our initial Phase III clinical trial for arbaclofen. During the NDA review process,
the FDA requested an independent audit of five of the 35 study sites, which were located in Russia and Ukraine.
The audit found numerous irregularities and deviations from good clinical practices, which led to a complete
response letter from the FDA in July 2016. The audit observations were thoroughly investigated, and we believe
the data were corrected where appropriate. In December 2016, we met with the FDA to discuss the path forward
for the application. The FDA indicated that, based on the initial audit findings, it considered the data from the
Phase III clinical trial to be insufficient to support a marketing application.
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Consequently, we conducted a second Phase III clinical trial. We cannot assure you that the FDA will accept
the data from this second Phase III trial.
We also rely on contract laboratories and other third parties, such as CROs, to conduct or otherwise support
our nonclinical laboratory studies properly and on time, which are subject to GLP requirements. We cannot
assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that
any of our clinical trials comply with applicable GCP and GLP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be
conducted with products produced under the FDA’s cGMP regulations. While we have agreements governing
activities of our CROs, we have limited influence over their actual performance. In addition, portions of the
clinical trials for our product candidates may be conducted outside of the United States, which will make it more
difficult for us to monitor CROs and perform visits of our clinical trial sites and will force us to rely heavily on
CROs to ensure the proper and timely conduct of our clinical trials and compliance with applicable regulations,
including GCP and GLP requirements.
If testing of our product candidates is not performed properly, or if the FDA or any equivalent foreign regulatory
authority finds that the clinical trials are deficient, we may be required to repeat the clinical trials or to conduct
additional clinical trials, which would result in additional expenses and may adversely affect our ability to obtain
or maintain regulatory approvals. As a result, our ability to launch or continue selling products could be denied,
restricted or delayed.
We may not obtain or maintain the benefits associated with orphan drug designation, including
market exclusivity.
Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States, may designate drugs intended for
relatively small patient populations as orphan drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a
drug as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally defined as
a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or a patient population greater than
200,000 in the United States where there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug will
be recovered from sales in the United States. In the United States, Orphan Drug Designation entitles a party to
financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding toward clinical trial costs, tax advantages and userfee waivers. In addition, if a product that has Orphan Drug Designation subsequently receives the first FDA
approval for the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity,
which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications, including a full NDA to market the same
product for the same indication for seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a
showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity or where the manufacturer is unable
to assure sufficient product quantity.
Although we have received orphan drug designation for arbaclofen for the alleviation of signs and symptoms of
spasticity resulting from multiple sclerosis, we may not receive the full set of benefits potentially associated with
orphan drug designation. The FDA has previously approved baclofen, a racemic mixture comprised of an Rand an S-isomer, for the treatment of intractable muscle spasticity in multiple sclerosis patients. If the FDA
determines that our product, arbaclofen, which is the R-isomer of baclofen, contains the same active ingredient
and is indicated for the same use as the approved product, we could be precluded from obtaining orphan drug
exclusivity for our product unless we are able to demonstrate that our product is clinically superior to the
approved product, which could potentially require a head-to-head study. Moreover, even if we obtain orphan
drug exclusivity, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition because different drugs
with different active moieties can be approved for the same condition. Even after an orphan product is approved,
the FDA can subsequently approve the same drug with the same active moiety for the same condition if the
FDA concludes that the later drug is safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. A
competitor also may receive approval of different products for the same indication for which the orphan product
has exclusivity or obtain approval for the same product but for a different indication for which the orphan product
has exclusivity. Additionally, orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA determines that the request for
designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug to
meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. Orphan Drug Designation neither shortens the
development time or regulatory review time of a drug nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory review
or approval process.

19

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to our business - continued
Our products or product candidates may cause adverse effects or have other properties that could
delay or prevent their regulatory approval or limit the scope of any approved package insert or market
acceptance, or result in significant negative consequences following marketing approval.
Treatment with our products or product candidates may produce undesirable side effects or adverse reactions
or events. Although many of our products or product candidates contain active ingredients that have already
been approved, meaning that the side effects arising from the use of the active ingredient or class of drug in our
products or product candidates is generally known, our products or product candidates may still cause
undesirable or unknown side effects. These could be attributed to the active ingredient or class of drug or to our
unique formulation of such products or product candidates, or other potentially harmful characteristics. Such
characteristics could cause us, our IRBs, clinical trial sites, the FDA or other regulatory authorities to interrupt,
delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay, denial or withdrawal of
regulatory approval, which may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.
Further, if any of our products cause serious or unexpected side effects after receiving market approval, a
number of potentially significant negative consequences could result. For example, regulatory authorities may
withdraw their approval of the product or impose restrictions on its distribution, the FDA may require
implementation of REMS, regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as
warnings or contraindications, we may be required to change the way the product is administered or conduct
additional clinical studies, we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients, and our reputation may
suffer.
Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product
or product candidate and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing our products and product
candidates.
If our products or product candidates do not produce the effects intended or if they cause undesirable
side effects, our business may suffer.
If our products or product candidates do not have the effects intended or cause undesirable side effects, our
business may suffer. For example, although many of the ingredients in our current dietary supplement products
are vitamins, minerals and other substances for which there is a history of human consumption, they also contain
innovative ingredients or combinations of ingredients. These products and the combinations of ingredients could
have certain undesirable side effects if not taken as directed or if taken by a consumer who has certain medical
conditions, such as the potential effect of high doses of folic acid masking pernicious anemia. In addition, our
products may not have the effect intended if they are not taken in accordance with applicable instructions, which
may include certain dietary restrictions. For example, if a patient switches from using another company’s product
to one of our products, there may be an actual or perceived lack of efficacy or increase in side effects. This is
not uncommon and has been observed, for example, in patients switching between products containing
methylphenidate. In this instance, the FDA has the ability to change the designation from AB to BX, or
alternatively, to discontinue the product’s approval. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that any of the
products, even when used as directed, will have the effects intended or will not have harmful side effects in an
unforeseen way or on an unforeseen patient population. If any of our products or products we develop or
commercialize in the future are shown to be harmful or generate negative publicity from perceived lack of effect
or harmful effects, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be harmed
significantly.
If side effects are identified with our marketed products, or if manufacturing problems occur, changes in labeling
of products may be required, which could have a material adverse effect on our sales of the affected products.
We or regulatory authorities, including the FDA, could decide that changes to the product labeling are needed
to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the products. Label changes may be necessary for a number of
reasons, including the identification of actual or potential safety or efficacy concerns by regulatory agencies or
the discovery of significant problems with a similar product that implicates an entire class of products. Any
significant concerns raised about the safety or efficacy of the products could also result in the need to
reformulate those products, to conduct additional clinical trials, to make changes to the manufacturing
processes, or to seek re-approval of the relevant manufacturing facilities. Significant concerns about the safety
and effectiveness of a product could ultimately lead to the revocation of its marketing approval. Under the Food
and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007, the FDA has broad authority to force drug manufacturers to
take any number of actions if previously unknown safety or drug interaction problems arise, including but not
limited to, mandating labeling changes to a product based on new safety information (safety labeling changes).
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Our products, including ConZip, Divigel and VERT, have been subject to safety labeling changes, which we
have addressed and incorporated into relevant product labeling. These products and others, including product
candidates, may become subject to additional safety labeling changes in the future. New safety issues may
require us to, among other things, provide additional warnings or restrictions on product package inserts, even
including boxed warnings in the United States or similar warnings outside of the United States, directly alert
healthcare providers of new safety information, narrow our approved indications, alter or terminate current or
planned trials for additional uses of products, or even remove a product from the market, any of which could
have a significant adverse impact on potential sales of the products or require us to expend significant additional
funds. The revision of product labeling or the regulatory actions described above could have a material adverse
effect on our sales of the affected products and on our business and results of operations.
Our operations in non-U.S. jurisdictions subject us to increased regulatory oversight and regulatory,
economic, social and political uncertainties, which could cause a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position and results of operations.
We are subject to certain risks associated with our operations in non-U.S. jurisdictions, including Argentina and
Hungary, and with having assets and operations located in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Our operations in these
jurisdictions may be adversely affected by general economic conditions and economic and fiscal policy,
including changes in exchange rates and controls, interest rates and taxation policies and increased government
regulation. For example, Argentina, where we currently conduct early-stage research and development
activities, has recently experienced hyperinflation and has mandated foreign exchange controls. Certain
jurisdictions have, from time to time, experienced instances of civil unrest and hostilities, both internally and with
neighboring countries. Rioting, military activity, terrorist attacks, or armed hostilities could cause our operations
there to be adversely affected or suspended. We generally do not have insurance for losses and interruptions
caused by terrorist attacks, military conflicts and wars. In addition, we operate in countries, including Argentina
and Hungary, where there have been reported instances of government corruption and there are circumstances
in which anti-bribery laws may conflict with some local customs and practices.
In addition, we are susceptible to risks to our manufacturing and production from the outbreak of the coronavirus,
which originated in China and has spread to other regions, including the United States. Parts of our direct and
indirect supply chain are in these affected regions and accordingly subject to disruption or product
contamination. Additionally, our results of operations could be adversely affected to the extent that coronavirus
or any other epidemic continues to harm the global economy in general.
Our international operations may subject us to heightened scrutiny under the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act, or FCPA, other federal statutes and regulations, including those established by the Office of Foreign Assets
Control, the Irish Criminal Justice (Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing) Acts 2010-2018, or the Irish
Money Laundering Acts, the Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018, the U.K. Bribery Act,
anti-corruption provisions in the Hungarian Criminal Code, Argentina’s recently enacted Law 27.401 and other
similar anti-bribery laws, and could subject us to liability under such laws despite our best efforts to comply with
such laws and regulations. The FCPA prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing
payment or offering of anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate
for the purpose of influencing any act or decision of the foreign entity in order to assist the individual or business
in obtaining or retaining business. The Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018 renders a company
liable for prosecution where any of its officers, managers, employees, agents or subsidiaries are found to be
involved in corruption. The only defense is for the company to show that it took all reasonable steps and
exercised all due diligence to prevent such corruption from taking place. The legislation also applies to certain
international activities. The Irish Money Laundering Acts provide for criminal sanctions for engaging in “money
laundering offences,” which are offenses committed where a person knows or believes that (or is reckless as to
whether or not) the property represents the proceeds of criminal conduct and the party is involved in concealing
or disguising the true nature, source, location, disposition, movement or ownership of property, or in converting,
transferring, handling, acquiring possession or using the property, or removing the property from, or bringing
the property into, Ireland. In addition, the U.K. Bribery Act prohibits both domestic and international bribery, as
well as bribery across both private and public sectors. An organization that “fails to prevent bribery” by anyone
associated with the organization can be charged under the U.K. Bribery Act unless the organization can
establish the defense of having implemented “adequate procedures” to prevent bribery. Under these laws and
regulations, as well as other anti-corruption laws, anti-money-laundering laws, export control laws, customs
laws, sanctions laws and other laws governing our operations, various government agencies may require export
licenses, may seek to impose modifications to our business practices, including the cessation of business
activities in sanctioned countries or with sanctioned persons or entities and modifications to compliance
programs, which may increase our compliance costs, and may subject us to fines, penalties and other sanctions.
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A violation of these laws or regulations could adversely impact our business, results of operations and
financial condition. As a result of our policy to comply with the FCPA, the Irish Money Laundering Acts, the
Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar anti-bribery laws, we
may be at a competitive disadvantage to competitors that are not subject to, or do not comply with, such laws
and regulations.
We are, and will continue to be in the future, a party to legal proceedings that could result in adverse
outcomes.
We are a party to legal proceedings, including matters involving securities liability, personnel and employment
issues, intellectual property claims and other proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. In addition,
there are an increasing number of investigations and proceedings in the health care industry generally that seek
recovery under the statutes and regulations identified in the section entitled “Business — Government
Regulation and Approval Process.” We evaluate our exposure to these legal proceedings and establish reserves
for the estimated liabilities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. Assessing
and predicting the outcome of these matters involves substantial uncertainties. Unexpected outcomes in these
legal proceedings, or changes in our evaluation or predictions and accompanying changes in established
reserves, could have a material adverse impact on our financial results. For more information on our material
pending litigation, see the risk factor under the caption “— Our competitors or other third parties may allege that
we, our suppliers or partners are infringing their intellectual property, forcing us to expend substantial resources
in litigation, the outcome of which is uncertain. Any unfavorable outcome of such litigation, including losses
related to “at-risk” product launches, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position
and results of operations” and the section entitled “Legal Proceedings” herein.

Due to our dependence on a limited number of products, our business could be materially adversely
affected if one or more of our key products do not perform as well as expected.
We generate a significant portion of our total revenues and gross profit from the sale of a limited number of
products. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, our top ten products by product sales accounted
for approximately 97% and approximately 99%, respectively, of our total revenues and a significant portion of
our gross profit. Any material adverse developments, including increased competition, pricing pressures or
supply shortages, with respect to the sale or use of one or more of these products or our failure to successfully
introduce new key products, could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and gross profit. For example,
we have experienced significant increased pricing and market share pressure on methylphenidate ER and
VERT due to additional market entrants, which we expect to continue. Additionally, an AB-rated generic of
Lorzone was approved on November 27, 2019, which may result in pricing and market share declines.
Our business may be adversely affected by the recent coronavirus outbreak.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, referred to as 2019-ncov, COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic, or
COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. COVID-19 has since spread to other regions in
China and other countries, including the United States, where we have our executive offices and principal
operations. Infections and deaths related to COVID-19 may disrupt the United States’ healthcare and healthcare
regulatory systems. Such disruptions could divert healthcare resources away from, or materially delay the FDA
approval with respect to, our clinical trials and product candidates, including the FDA’s decision on our NDAs
for RVL-1201 and arbaclofen. It is unknown how long these disruptions could continue, were they to occur.
Other known and unknown factors caused by COVID-19 could also materially delay our clinical trials that may
be required for these or other product candidates, including our ability to recruit and retain patients and principal
investigators and site staff who, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19 if an
outbreak occurs in their geography. Any elongation or de-prioritization of our clinical trials or delay in regulatory
review resulting from such disruptions could materially affect the development and/or approval of our product
candidates. In addition, we source materials from countries affected by COVID-19.
There is also an increased risk of supply interruption at our third-party suppliers as well as our manufacturing
facilities, which could result in business/operational disruption. For example, on March 17, 2020, we received
notification from Galephar P.R. Inc., the manufacturer of ConZip and tramadol hydrochloride, that due to COVID19, they will temporarily cease operation until at least March 30, 2020. It is unclear at this time what impact this
or other disruptions will have on the supply needed for our products.
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The economic impact of COVID-19’s spread, which has caused a broad impact globally, such as restrictions on
travel and quarantine policies put into place by businesses and governments, may adversely affect us. In
particular, we expect that the COVID-19 outbreak will negatively affect demand for our products by limiting the
ability of our sales representatives to meet with physicians and patients to visit their doctors and pharmacists to
receive prescriptions for our products. Additionally, while the potential economic impact brought by, and the
duration of, COVID-19 may be difficult to assess or predict, a widespread pandemic could result in significant
disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future negatively
affect our liquidity. The extent to which the coronavirus impacts our results will depend on future developments
that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.
Our operating results are affected by many factors and may fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis.
Our operating results may vary substantially from quarter to quarter and may be greater or less than those
achieved in the immediately preceding period or in the comparable period of the prior year. Factors that may
cause quarterly results to vary include, but are not limited to, the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to create demand in the marketplace for products we promote;
the number of new product introductions;
losses related to inventory write-offs;
marketing exclusivity, if any, which may be obtained on certain new products;
the level of competition in the marketplace for certain products;
price decreases and associated customer shelf stock adjustments;
availability of raw materials and finished products from suppliers;
our ability to manufacture products at our manufacturing facilities;
the scope and outcome of governmental regulatory actions;
our dependence on a small number of products for a significant portion of total revenues or income;
and
legal actions asserting intellectual property rights against our products brought by competitors and legal
challenges to our intellectual property rights brought against us by our competitors; price erosion and
customer consolidation; and significant payments (such as milestones) payable by us under licensing
and development agreements to our partners before the related product has received FDA approval.

The profitability of our product sales is also dependent upon the prices we are able to charge for our products,
the costs to purchase products from third parties and our ability to manufacture our products in a cost-effective
manner. If our total revenues decline or do not grow as anticipated, we may not be able to reduce our operating
expenses to offset such declines. Failure to achieve anticipated levels of total revenues could, therefore,
significantly harm our business and operating results.
If we determine that our goodwill and other intangible assets have become impaired, we may record
significant impairment charges, which would adversely affect our results of operations.
Goodwill and other intangible assets represent a significant portion of our assets. Goodwill is the excess of cost
over the fair market value of net assets acquired in business combinations. In the future, goodwill and intangible
assets may increase as a result of future acquisitions. We review our goodwill, indefinite lived intangible assets
and definite lived intangible assets at least annually for impairment. Impairment may result from, among other
things, deterioration in the performance of acquired businesses, adverse market conditions and adverse
changes in applicable laws or regulations, including changes that restrict the activities of an acquired business.
Any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets would result in a non-cash charge against earnings, which
would adversely affect our results of operations. For example, we incurred an impairment of intangible assets
charge of $29.9 million during the fourth quarter of 2019, primarily related to the write down to fair value of
venlafaxine due to price and volume decreases resulting from competing generic products. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, we recorded non-cash impairment charges of $283.7 million related to adjustments to the
forecasted operating results for certain of our acquired generic, developed technology and in-process research
and development assets compared to their originally forecasted operating results at the date of acquisition.
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In certain circumstances, we issue price adjustments and other sales allowances to our customers,
including providing lower pricing to underinsured or non-insured patients. If our estimates for these
price adjustments are incorrect, any reserves which we establish for these programs may be
inadequate, and may result in adjustments to these reserves or otherwise have a material adverse effect
on our financial position and results of operations.
For some of our products, we enjoy a period of time during which we may be the only party, or one of a small
number of parties, marketing and selling a certain product. This might be seen more often with one of our brand
products, but may also occur in instances where we are one of a small number of parties selling a generic
product. At some point other parties, selling either a competitive brand or generic product, may enter the market
and compete for customers and market share resulting in a significant price decline for our drug (in some
instances of generic entry, price declines have exceeded 90%). When we experience price declines following a
period of marketing exclusivity or semi-exclusivity, or at any time when a competitor enters the market or offers
a lower price with respect to a product we are selling, we may decide to lower the price of our product to retain
market share. As a result of lowering prices, we may provide price adjustments to our customers for the
difference between our new (lower) price and the price at which we previously sold the product which is still
held in inventory by our customers, which is known as a shelf stock adjustment. While we do establish reserves
for shelf stock adjustments, if actual shelf stock adjustments differ from our estimates, our operating results
could be negatively affected. There are also circumstances under which we may decide not to provide price
adjustments to certain customers, and consequently, as a matter of business strategy, we may risk a greater
level of sale returns of products in the customer’s existing inventory and lose future sales volume to competitors
rather than reduce our pricing.
We establish reserves for chargebacks, rebates and incentives, other sales allowances and product returns at
the time of sale, based on estimates. Separately, these same reserves may be used to support a patient
assistance program. A patient assistance program is a program designed to improve patient access to products
by reducing barriers to access caused by potentially high out-of-pocket expenses for patients. The program
assists under-insured or non-insured patients by helping to defray their out-of-pocket costs, in some cases
entirely. Our estimates on the number of participants for the patient assistance program or other similar
programs, currently or in the future, may affect the adequacy of our reserves. Although we believe our processes
for estimating reserves are adequate, we cannot provide assurances that our reserves will ultimately prove to
be adequate. Increases in sales allowances may exceed our estimates for a number of reasons, including
unanticipated competition or an unexpected change in one or more of our contractual relationships. We will
continue to evaluate the effects of competition and will record a price adjustment reserve if and when we deem
it necessary. Any failure to establish adequate reserves with respect to sales allowances may result in a material
adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.
Rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, Medicare Part D Prescription
Drug Benefit Program and TRICARE Retail Pharmacy Refunds Program (TRICARE). Rebates are amounts
owed after the final dispensing of the product to a benefit plan participant and are based upon contractual
agreements or statutory requirements with benefit providers. We estimate the allowance for rebates based on
statutory discount rates and expected utilization at the time of sale. We adjust the allowance for rebates quarterly
to reflect actual experience. If we change the way rebates are applied or calculated, it may impair our ability to
accurately accrue for rebates and have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of
operations. See “Risks Related to Our Industry — Our profitability depends on coverage and reimbursement by
governmental authorities, managed care organizations, or MCOs, and other third-party payors; healthcare
reform and other future legislation creates uncertainty and may lead to reductions in coverage or reimbursement
levels.”
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We may incur operating losses in the future.
Our net loss was $270.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Our net losses may fluctuate
significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year.
We devote significant amounts of financial resources to the manufacture, marketing and commercialization of
our approved products, and support of our research and development of our clinical and preclinical programs.
We may incur significant expenses in the future. Some of these expenses will be made in connection with our
ongoing activities, as we:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

launch new products into the marketplace;
conduct clinical trials and seek regulatory approval for arbaclofen ER and RVL-1201;
continue development of our pipeline product candidates;
conduct preclinical studies for product candidates;
incur litigation expenses related to Osmolex ER;
add personnel to support our marketing, commercialization and sales of approved products, and
continue clinical and preclinical product development efforts;
continue our research and development efforts for new product opportunities, including business
development and acquisitions; and
operate as a public company.

To become profitable, we must succeed in developing or acquiring products, obtaining regulatory approval for
them, and manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we may obtain regulatory approval.
Even if we achieve profitability for any period in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in
subsequent periods. Our failure to become profitable would depress our market value and could impair our
ability to raise capital, expand our business, discover or develop other products or continue our operations. A
decline in the value of our company could cause you to lose all or part of your investment.
Our profitability depends on our major customers. If these relationships do not continue as expected,
our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations could materially suffer.
As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately 34 customers, some of which are part of larger buying groups.
Our three largest customers accounted for approximately 97% of our total revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2019, as follows: Cardinal Health, Inc. 47%; McKesson Corporation 38%; and
AmerisourceBergen Corporation 12%. The loss of any one or more of these or any other major customer or the
substantial reduction in orders from any one or more of our major customers could have a material adverse
effect upon our business, prospects, future operating results and financial condition.
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We may discontinue the manufacture and distribution of certain existing products, which may adversely
impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We continually evaluate the performance of our products, and may determine that it is in our best interest to
discontinue the manufacture and distribution of certain of our products for various reasons, including
commercial, regulatory, strategic or other reasons. We cannot guarantee that we have correctly forecasted, or
will correctly forecast in the future, the appropriate products to discontinue or that our decision to discontinue
various products is prudent if conditions, including market conditions, change. In addition, we cannot assure
you that discontinuing one or more products will reduce our operating expenses or will not cause us to incur
material charges associated with such a decision. Furthermore, discontinuing one or more existing products
entails various risks, including, in the event that we decide to sell the discontinued product, the risk that we will
not be able to find a purchaser for such products or that the purchase price obtained will not be equal to at least
the book value of the net assets for such products. Other risks include managing the expectations of, and
maintaining good relations with, our customers who previously purchased products that we subsequently
discontinued, which could prevent us from selling other products to them in the future. Moreover, we may incur
other significant liabilities and costs associated with discontinuing one or more of our products, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We face intense competition from both brand and generic companies, including companies that sell
branded generics or authorized generics, which could significantly limit our growth and materially
adversely affect our financial results.
The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive. The principal competitive factors in the pharmaceutical
industry include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

introduction of other brand or generic drug manufacturers’ products in direct competition with our
products;
introduction of authorized generic products in direct competition with our products, particularly during
exclusivity periods;
ability of generic competitors to quickly enter the market after the expiration of patents or exclusivity
periods, diminishing the amount and duration of significant profits;
consolidation among distribution outlets through mergers and acquisitions and the formation of buying
groups;
the willingness of our customers, including wholesale and retail customers, to switch among products
of different pharmaceutical manufacturers;
pricing pressures by competitors and customers;
a company’s reputation as a manufacturer and distributor of quality products;
a company’s level of service (including maintaining sufficient inventory levels for timely deliveries);
product appearance and labeling; and
a company’s breadth of product offerings.

We face, and will continue to face, competition from pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical, biotechnology and
dietary supplement companies developing similar products and technologies. Many of our competitors have
longer operating histories and greater financial, research and development, marketing and other resources than
we do. Consequently, many of our competitors may be able to develop products or processes competitive with,
or superior to, our own. Furthermore, we may not be able to differentiate our products from those of our
competitors, to successfully develop or introduce new products, on a timely basis or at all, that are less costly
than those of our competitors, or to offer payment and other commercial terms to customers as favorable as
those offered by our competitors. The markets in which we compete and intend to compete are undergoing, and
are expected to continue to undergo, rapid and significant change. We expect competition to intensify as
technological advances and consolidations continue. New developments by other manufacturers and
distributors could render our products uncompetitive or obsolete.
We also face price competition generally as other manufacturers enter the market. Any such price competition
may be especially pronounced where our competitors source their products from jurisdictions where production
costs may be lower than our production costs (sometimes significantly), especially lower-cost non-U.S.
jurisdictions. Any of these factors, in turn, could result in reductions in our sales prices and gross profit. This
price competition has led to an increase in customer demands for downward price adjustments by
pharmaceutical distributors. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully in the
industry or that we will be able to develop and implement any new or additional strategies successfully.
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Some of our products, including Osmolex ER, VERT and Divigel, are reference listed drugs. Manufacturers may
seek approval of generic versions of our reference listed drugs through the submission of ANDAs. In order to
obtain approval of an ANDA, a generic manufacturer generally must show that its product has the same active
ingredient(s), dosage form, strength, route of administration, conditions of use and labeling as the reference
listed drug, and that the generic version is bioequivalent to the reference listed drug, meaning that it is chemically
identical and is absorbed in the body at the same rate and to the same extent. An ANDA applicant need not
conduct its own clinical trials to demonstrate the safety or effectiveness of its generic product, but instead may
rely on the prior findings of safety and effectiveness for the reference listed drug. As a result, generic products
may be significantly less costly to bring to market than reference listed drugs, and companies that produce
generic products are generally able to offer them at lower prices. Moreover, many states allow or require
substitution of a therapeutically equivalent generic drug at the pharmacy level even if a reference listed drug is
prescribed. Thus, following the introduction of a generic drug, a significant percentage of the market share of a
reference listed drug may be lost to the generic product. Competition from generic versions of our products
could negatively impact our future total revenues, profitability and cash flows. For example, both
methylphenidate ER tablets and VERT have experienced, and are expected to continue to experience,
significant pricing erosion due to additional competition from other generic pharmaceutical companies.
Additionally, an AB rated generic of Lorzone was approved on November 27, 2019, which may result in pricing
and market share declines.
Competition in the generic drug industry has also increased due to the proliferation of authorized generic
pharmaceutical products. Authorized generics are generic pharmaceutical products that are introduced by brand
companies, either directly or through third parties, under the brand’s NDA approval for its own branded drug.
Authorized generics, which have already been approved for marketing under the brand’s NDA, are not
prohibited from sale during the 180-day marketing exclusivity period granted to the first-to-file ANDA applicant.
The sale of authorized generics adversely impacts the market share of a generic product that has been granted
180 days of marketing exclusivity. This is a significant source of competition for companies that have been
granted 180 days of marketing exclusivity, because an authorized generic can materially decrease the profits
that such a company could receive as an otherwise exclusive marketer of a product. Branded drug product
companies may also reduce the price of their branded drug products to compete directly with generic drug
products entering the market, which would similarly have the effect of reducing gross profit. Such actions have
the effect of reducing the potential market share and profitability of generic products and may inhibit the
development and introduction of generic pharmaceutical products corresponding to certain branded drugs.
As our competitors introduce their own generic equivalents of our generic pharmaceutical products,
our revenues and gross profit from such products generally decline, often rapidly.
Revenues and gross profit derived from generic pharmaceutical products often follow a pattern based on
regulatory and competitive factors that we believe are unique to the generic pharmaceutical industry. As the
patent for a brand name product or the statutory marketing exclusivity period (if any) expires, the first generic
manufacturer to receive regulatory approval for a generic equivalent of the product often is able to capture a
substantial share of the market. However, as other generic manufacturers receive regulatory approvals for their
own generic versions, that market share and the price of that product will typically decline depending on several
factors, including the number of competitors, the price of the branded product and the pricing strategy of the
new competitors. For example, our revenue from methylphenidate ER declined 43% for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 due to price erosion as result of generic
competition from other pharmaceutical companies. Additionally, we are experiencing, and expect to continue
to experience, significant price and market pressure for VERT. We cannot provide assurance that the number
of competitors with such products will not increase to such an extent that we may stop marketing a product for
which we previously obtained approval, which may have a material adverse impact on our total revenues and
gross profit.

27

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to our business – continued
Our branded pharmaceutical expenditures may not result in commercially successful products.
Commercializing branded products is more costly than generic products. We have made significant investments
in the development, launch and commercialization of branded products. This has led to increased infrastructure
costs. We cannot be certain that these business expenditures will result in the successful development or launch
of branded products or will improve the long-term profitability of our business. Just as our generic products take
market share from the corresponding branded products, we will confront the same competitive pressures from
other generic pharmaceutical companies that may seek to introduce generic versions of our branded products.
Generic products generally are sold at a significantly lower cost than the branded version, and, where available,
may be required or encouraged in preference to the branded version under third-party reimbursement programs,
or may be required by law to be substituted for branded versions by pharmacies. Competition from generic
equivalents, accordingly, could have an adverse effect on our branded products. While we have endeavored
(with our relevant development and manufacturing partners, as applicable) to protect our branded assets by
incorporating specialized manufacturing processes and by securing regulatory exclusivities and intellectual
property protections, such exclusivities and protections are subject to expiry and to legal challenges.
We continue to consider product or business acquisitions or licensing arrangements to expand our product line.
The success of our branded products will be based largely on the successful commercialization of our existing
products, the identification of products for acquisition or future development and the acquisition or in-licensing
of new product opportunities. Our current and future investments in acquisition or license arrangements may
not lead to expected, adequate or any returns on investment. We also may not be able to execute future license
or acquisition agreements on reasonable or favorable terms in order to continue to grow or sustain our branded
products. In addition, we cannot be certain that our branded product expenditures will result in commercially
successful launches of these products or will improve the long-term profitability of our branded products. Any
future commercialization efforts that do not meet expectations could result in a write-down of assets related to
the relevant products.

A business interruption at our manufacturing facility in Marietta, Georgia, our warehouses in Sayreville,
New Jersey and Tampa, Florida or at facilities operated by third parties that we rely on could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We produce all of the products that we manufacture at our manufacturing facility in Marietta, Georgia, and our
inventory passes through our warehouses in Sayreville, New Jersey and Tampa, Florida. These facilities, or the
facilities of third parties that we rely on for the development, supply, marketing or distribution of raw materials
or finished products, could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, floods,
hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics and other natural or man-made
disasters or business interruptions. For example, the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak has resulted in increased
travel restrictions and may result in extended shutdown of our facilities or certain of our suppliers’ businesses,
which may negatively affect our suppliers’ operations. These or any further political or governmental
developments or health concerns in China or other countries in which we or our suppliers operate could result
in social, economic and labor instability, which could have a material adverse effect on the continuity of our
business, including with respect to the availability of raw materials for production. A significant disruption at any
of these facilities, even on a short-term basis, could impair our ability to produce and ship products to the market
on a timely basis, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We may experience declines in the sales volume and prices of our products as a result of the continuing
trend of consolidation of certain customer groups, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position and results of operations.
Our ability to successfully commercialize any generic or branded product depends in large part upon the
acceptance of the product by third parties, including pharmacies, government formularies, other retailers,
physicians and patients. Therefore, our success will depend in large part on market acceptance of our products.
We make a significant amount of our sales to a relatively small number of drug wholesalers and retail drug
chains. These customers represent an essential part of the distribution chain of our pharmaceutical products.
Drug wholesalers and retail drug chains have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant
consolidation. This consolidation may result in these groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and
consequently increasing the product pricing pressures facing our business.
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Additionally, the emergence of large buying groups representing independent retail pharmacies and other drug
distributors, and the prevalence and influence of MCOs and similar institutions, potentially enable those groups
to demand larger price discounts on our products. For example, there has been a recent trend of large
wholesalers and retailer customers forming partnerships, such as the alliance between Walgreens and
AmerisourceBergen Corporation, the alliance between Rite Aid and McKesson Drug Company and the alliance
between CVS and Cardinal Health. The result of these developments may have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We depend to a large extent on third-party suppliers and distributors for the raw materials for our
products, particularly the chemical compounds comprising the API used in our products, as well as
suppliers and distributors for certain finished goods. A prolonged interruption in the supply of such
products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of
operations.
We purchase raw materials, including API, and finished goods from both U.S. and non-U.S. companies. If we
experience supply interruptions or delays, we may have to obtain substitute materials or products, which in turn
would require us to obtain amended or additional regulatory approvals, subjecting us to additional expenditures
of significant time and resources. For example, we received a notice dated February 28, 2020, from a
manufacturer of one of our prenatal dietary supplements that they will be shutting down the facility where our
product is manufactured effective June 2020. We may source raw materials or API from a single source, which
increases the risk to our business if supply from that source is interrupted. For example, Orion Corporation is
our only supplier of Divigel, Nephron Pharmaceuticals Corporation is our only supplier of RVL-1201 and
Mallinckrodt LLC is our only supplier of the API currently used in methylphenidate ER (including M-72). We also
contract with third parties to distribute finished products, including Lannett Company, Inc. for oxybutynin ER and
nifedipine ER.
Further, third parties with whom we have agreements may allege that we have failed to perform our obligations
under such agreements and we may become involved in lawsuits or other proceedings related to such
agreements. For example, we had previously engaged in discussions with Albion Laboratories, Inc. regarding
potential disputes over the fulfillment of obligations under agreements for the supply of raw materials. If any
dispute with a third-party supplier or distributor were determined adversely to us, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
In addition, changes in our raw material suppliers, including suppliers of API, could result in significant delays
in production, higher raw material costs and loss of sales and customers, because regulatory authorities must
generally approve raw material sources for pharmaceutical products, which may be time consuming. Any
significant supply interruption could have a material adverse effect on our business, research and development
programs, financial condition, prospects and results of operations. Because the federal drug approval
application process requires specification of raw material suppliers, if raw materials from a specified supplier
were to become unavailable, FDA approval of a new supplier may be required. A delay in the manufacture and
marketing of the drug involved while a new supplier becomes approved by the FDA and its manufacturing
process is determined to meet FDA standards could, depending on the particular product, have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Generally, we attempt to mitigate the potential
effects of any such situation by providing for, where economically and otherwise feasible, two or more suppliers
of raw materials for the drugs that we manufacture. In addition, we may attempt to enter into a contract with a
raw material supplier in an effort to ensure adequate supply for certain of our products.

We depend on third-party agreements for a portion of our product offerings and product candidates,
including certain key products, and any failure to maintain these arrangements or enter into similar
arrangements with new partners could result in a material adverse effect.
We have broadened our product offering by entering into a variety of third-party agreements covering a
combination of joint development, supply, marketing and distribution of products. For example, we have entered
into an agreement with Mallinckrodt LLC for the development and supply of API used in methylphenidate ER
(including M-72) products that we manufacture at our manufacturing facility in Marietta, Georgia. For the year
ended December 31, 2019, 38% of our total revenues were generated from products manufactured under
contract or under license. We cannot provide assurance that the development, manufacturing or supply efforts
of our contractual partners will continue to be successful, that we will be able to maintain or renew such
agreements or that we will be able to enter into new agreements for additional products.
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These third parties may also exercise their rights to terminate these agreements or may fail to perform their
obligations as required under these agreements. Alternatives for some of these agreements may not be easily
available.
Any alteration to or termination of our current distribution and marketing agreements, any failure to enter into
new and similar agreements, any disputes regarding our manufacturing agreements with third parties, whether
or not such disputes result in litigation, any failure to fulfill obligations by a third party, or any other interruption
of our product supply under the distribution and marketing agreements, could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
If we are unable to develop or maintain our sales capabilities, we may not be able to effectively market
or sell our products.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we spent $50.0 million and $42.5 million, respectively, on
sales and marketing. As we gain approval and launch new products, we will invest in expanding our sales and
marketing organization into new areas such as Parkinson’s disease, multiple sclerosis and ophthalmology. We
face a number of risks in developing or maintaining internal sales and marketing capabilities, including:
•
•
•

not being able to attract talented and qualified personnel to build an effective marketing or sales force
capability;
the cost of establishing a marketing and sales force capability may not be justified in light of the total
revenues generated from our products; and
our direct sales and marketing efforts may not be successful.

If we are unable to establish or maintain adequate sales and marketing capabilities or are unable to do so in a
timely manner, our ability to generate revenues and profits from our products will be limited and this could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
Our future success depends on our ability to attract and retain key employees and consultants.
Our future success depends, to a substantial degree, upon the continued service of the key members of our
management team. The loss of the services of key members of our management team, including Brian
Markison, Tina deVries, Andrew Einhorn and James Schaub, or their inability to perform services on our behalf
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
Our success also depends, to a large extent, upon the contributions of our sales, marketing, scientific and quality
assurance staff. We compete for qualified personnel against other brand and generic pharmaceutical
manufacturers that may offer more favorable employment opportunities. If we are not able to attract and retain
the necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives, we could experience constraints that would
adversely affect our ability to sell and market our products effectively and to support our research and
development programs. In particular, sales and marketing efforts depend on the ability to attract and retain
skilled and experienced sales, marketing and quality assurance representatives. Although we believe that we
have been successful in attracting and retaining skilled personnel in all areas of our business, we cannot provide
assurance that we can continue to attract, train and retain such personnel. Any failure in this regard could limit
our ability to generate sales and develop or acquire new products.
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Any acquisitions we may undertake in the future involve numerous risks, including the risks that we
may be unable to integrate the acquired products or businesses successfully and that we may assume
liabilities that could adversely affect us.
We may acquire products or businesses. For example, in October 2017, we acquired the rights to RVL-1201.
Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including operational risks associated with the integration of acquired
businesses or products. These risks include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

difficulties in achieving identified revenue synergies, growth opportunities, operating synergies and cost
savings;
difficulties in assimilating the personnel, operations and products of an acquired company, and the
potential loss of key employees;
difficulties in consolidating information technology platforms, business applications and corporate
infrastructure;
difficulties in integrating our corporate culture with local customs and cultures;
possible overlap between our products or customers and those of an acquired entity that may create
conflicts in relationships or other commitments detrimental to the integrated businesses;
difficulties in obtaining approval from governmental authorities such as the Federal Trade Commission,
or FTC;
our inability to achieve expected total revenues and gross profit for any products we may acquire;
possible contingent liability that includes, among others, known or unknown environmental, patent or
product liability claims;
the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns; and
risks and challenges of entering or operating in markets in which we have limited or no prior experience,
including the unanticipated effects of export controls, exchange rate fluctuations, foreign legal and
regulatory requirements, and political and economic conditions.

In addition, non-U.S. acquisitions involve numerous additional risks, including those related to the potential
absence or inadequacy of policies and procedures sufficient to assure compliance by a non-U.S. entity with
U.S. regulatory and legal requirements. There can be no assurance that we will not be subject to liability arising
from conduct which occurred prior to our acquisition of any entity.
We incur significant transaction costs associated with our acquisitions, including substantial fees for investment
bankers, attorneys, and accountants. Any acquisition could result in our assumption of unknown or unexpected,
and potentially material, liabilities. Additionally, in any acquisition agreement, the negotiated representations,
warranties and agreements of the selling parties may not entirely protect us, and liabilities resulting from any
breaches may not be subject to indemnification by the suing parties and could exceed negotiated indemnity
limitations. These factors could impair our growth and ability to compete, divert resources from other potentially
more profitable endeavors, or otherwise cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
The financial statements of the companies we have acquired or may acquire in the future are prepared by
management of such companies and are not independently verified by our management. In addition, any pro
forma financial statements prepared by us to give effect to such acquisitions may not accurately reflect the
results of operations of such companies that would have been achieved had the acquisition of such entities
been completed at the beginning of the applicable financial reporting periods. Finally, we cannot guarantee that
we will continue to acquire businesses at valuations consistent with our prior acquisitions or that we will complete
acquisitions at all.
We may make acquisitions of, or investments in, complementary businesses or products, which may
be on terms that may not turn out to be commercially advantageous, may require additional debt or
equity financing, and may involve numerous risks, including those set forth above. We may also divest
assets, which may not be commercially advantageous.
We regularly review the potential acquisition of technologies, products, product rights and complementary
businesses and are currently evaluating, and intend to continue to evaluate, potential product and company
acquisitions and other business development opportunities. We may choose to enter into such transactions at
any time. Nonetheless, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition or
investment candidates.
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To the extent that we do identify candidates that we believe to be suitable, we cannot provide assurance that
we will be able to reach an agreement with the selling party or parties, that the terms we may agree to will be
commercially advantageous to us, or that we will be able to successfully consummate such investments or
acquisitions even after definitive documents have been signed. If we make any acquisitions or investments, we
may finance such acquisitions or investments through our cash reserves, debt financing (such as borrowings
available to us under our senior secured credit facilities, including our revolving credit facility), which may
increase our leverage, or by issuing additional equity securities, which could dilute the holdings of our
then-existing shareholders. If we require financing, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to obtain
any required financing when needed on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, we may divest certain of our
assets. Such divestitures may not be on favorable terms and the proceeds from such divestitures may not
outweigh the benefits such divested assets could have provided to our business.
The use of legal, regulatory and legislative strategies by brand competitors, including authorized
generics and citizen’s petitions, as well as the potential impact of proposed legislation, may increase
our costs associated with the introduction or marketing of our generic products, delay or prevent such
introduction or significantly reduce the profit potential of our products.
Brand drug companies often pursue strategies that may serve to prevent or delay competition from generic
alternatives to their branded products. These strategies include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

marketing an authorized generic version of a branded product at the same time that we introduce a
generic equivalent of that product, directly or through agreement with a generic competitor;
filing citizen petitions with the FDA that may limit generic competition and result in delays of our product
approvals;
using REMS-related distribution restrictions or other means of limiting access to their branded products
to prevent us from obtaining product samples needed to conduct bioequivalence testing required for
ANDA approval, thereby delaying or preventing us from obtaining FDA approval of a generic version of
such branded products;
seeking to secure patent protection of certain “Elements to Assure Safe Use” of a REMS program,
which are required medical interventions or other actions healthcare professionals need to execute prior
to prescribing or dispensing the drug to the patient, in an attempt to prevent the generic company’s
ability to avoid infringement of the patents in question or secure approval;
seeking to establish regulatory and legal obstacles that would make it more difficult to demonstrate a
generic product’s bioequivalence or “sameness” to the related branded product;
initiating legislative and administrative efforts in various states to limit the substitution of generic
versions of branded products for the corresponding branded products;
filing suits for patent infringement that automatically delay FDA approval of generic products;
introducing “next-generation” products prior to the expiration of market exclusivity for their branded
product, which often materially reduces the demand for the generic product for which we may be
seeking FDA approval;
obtaining extensions of market exclusivity by conducting clinical trials of branded drugs in pediatric
populations or by other methods;
persuading the FDA to withdraw the approval of branded drugs for which the patents are about to expire,
thus allowing the brand company to develop and launch new patented products serving as substitutes
for the withdrawn products;
seeking to obtain new patents on drugs for which patent protection is about to expire;
filing patent applications that are more complex and costly to challenge;
seeking temporary restraining orders and injunctions against selling a generic equivalent of their
branded product based on alleged misappropriation of trade secrets or breach of confidentiality
obligations;
seeking temporary restraining orders and injunctions against a generic company that has received final
FDA approval for a product and is attempting to launch an at risk product prior to resolution of related
patent litigation;
reducing the marketing of the branded product to healthcare providers, thereby reducing the branded
drug’s commercial exposure and market size, which in turn adversely affects the market potential of the
equivalent generic product; and
converting branded prescription drugs that are facing potential generic competition to over-the-counter
products, thereby potentially blocking the sale of generic prescription drugs under the operation of the
Durham-Humphrey amendments to the U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, or
significantly impeding the growth of the generic prescription market for the drugs.
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The FDCA provides for an additional six months of marketing exclusivity attached to another period of
exclusivity, such as a five-year period of exclusivity granted to the first applicant to obtain approval of an NDA
for a new chemical entity or if a sponsor conducts pediatric clinical trials in response to a written request from
the FDA. Some companies have lobbied Congress for amendments to the Hatch-Waxman legislation that would
give them additional advantages over generic competitors. For example, although the term of a company’s drug
patent can be extended to reflect a portion of the time an NDA is under regulatory review, some companies
have proposed extending the patent term by a full year for each year spent in clinical trials, rather than the
one-half year that is currently permitted. If proposals like these were to become effective, our entry into the
market and our ability to generate revenues associated with new generic products may be delayed, reduced or
eliminated, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects and financial position.
We depend on our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. We may not be able
to keep our intellectual property and proprietary rights confidential and protect such rights.
Our success depends on our ability to protect and defend the intellectual property rights associated with our
current and future products. If we fail to protect our intellectual property adequately, competitors may
manufacture and market products similar to, or that may be confused with, our products, and our generic
competitors may obtain regulatory approval to make and distribute generic versions of our branded products.
We cannot be certain that patents will be issued with respect to any of our patent applications or that any existing
or future patents issued to or licensed by us will provide competitive advantages for our products or will not be
challenged, invalidated, circumvented or held unenforceable in proceedings commenced by our competitors or
other third parties. Furthermore, our patent rights may not prevent or limit our present and future competitors
from developing, making, importing, using or commercializing products that are functionally similar to our
products. Some of our products, including some of our promoted products, are not protected by patents at all.
The patent position of companies in the pharmaceutical industry generally involves complex legal and factual
questions, and has been and remains the subject of significant litigation in recent years. Legal standards relating
to scope and validity of patent claims are evolving and may differ in various countries. Patent protection must
ultimately be sought on a country-by-country basis, which is an expensive and time-consuming process with
uncertain outcomes. Any patents we have obtained, or may obtain in the future, may be challenged, invalidated
or circumvented. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent
rights are highly uncertain. We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or the patents of
our licensors, which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful.
In addition to the above limitations, our patent protection outside the United States may be further limited. Filing,
prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be
prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States could
be less extensive than those in the United States. We generally select to pursue patent protection in only a
limited number of jurisdictions outside of the United States. Even where we wish to pursue protection, we may
not be able to obtain patent protection for certain technology outside the United States. In addition, the laws of
some countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the
United States, even in jurisdictions where we do pursue patent protection. The laws of certain non-U.S. countries
do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the U.S., and therefore we may
encounter additional problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property in certain non-U.S.
jurisdictions. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual
property rights in non-U.S. jurisdictions.
Proceedings to enforce patent rights, whether in the United States. or in non-U.S. jurisdictions, could: result in
substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business; put our patents at risk
of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly; put our patent applications at risk of not issuing; and provoke third
parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other
remedies awarded to us, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our
intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage.
We also rely particularly on trade secrets, unpatented know-how and proprietary expertise and continuing
innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We generally enter into confidentiality agreements
with licensees, suppliers, employees, consultants and other parties. This is done in part because not all of our
products are protected by patents. We cannot provide assurance that these agreements will not be breached.
We also cannot be certain that we will have recourse to adequate remedies in the event of a breach.

33

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to our business - continued
Disputes may arise concerning the ownership of intellectual property or the applicability of confidentiality
agreements. We cannot be sure that our trade secrets and proprietary technology will not be independently
developed or otherwise become known by our competitors or, if patents are not issued with respect to internally
developed products, that we will be able to maintain the confidentiality of information relating to these products.
Efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights can be costly, time-consuming and ultimately unsuccessful.
Any failure to adequately prevent disclosure of our know-how, trade secrets and other propriety information
could have a material adverse impact on our business and our prospects.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural,
document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies,
and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance and annuity fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the U.S. Patent and
Trademark office, or the USPTO, and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent.
The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. While an
inadvertent lapse may, in many cases, be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with
the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the
patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction.
Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include
failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly
prepare and submit formal documents. If we or our licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications
covering our products or product candidates, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would
harm our business, prospects and financial position.
Our competitors or other third parties may allege that we, our suppliers or partners are infringing their
intellectual property, forcing us to expend substantial resources in litigation, the outcome of which is
uncertain. Any unfavorable outcome of such litigation, including losses related to “at-risk” product
launches, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of
operations.
Companies that produce branded products routinely bring litigation against entities selling or seeking regulatory
approval to manufacture and market generic or other copies of their branded products, or products related to
their branded products or technologies. These companies or other patent holders, including patent holders who
do not have related products, may allege patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights.
Patent holders may also bring patent infringement suits against companies that are currently marketing and
selling an approved product, including an approved generic product. Litigation often involves significant expense
and can delay or prevent introduction or sale of our generic or other products. For example, a certain period of
delay may be statutorily prescribed, or a court could grant a patent holder injunctive relief for the period of the
litigation. If third party patents are held valid, enforceable and infringed by our products, we may, unless we
could obtain a license from the patent holder, need to delay selling our corresponding product, pay damages,
and, if we are already selling our product, cease selling and potentially destroy existing product stock. These
risks apply to our branded products as well as our generic products. Third parties, including our competitors,
may allege that one of our branded products violates their patent rights, which would expose us to the same
risks. A license may not be available from the patent holder on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If
available, we may choose to take a license under a third party’s patent rights to resolve a dispute, even in the
absence of a finding by a court that a patent is valid, enforceable and infringed.
There may be situations in which we may make business and legal judgments to manufacture, market or sell
products that are subject to claims of alleged patent infringement prior to final resolution of those claims by the
courts, based upon our belief that such patents are invalid, unenforceable, or are not infringed by our
manufacturing, marketing and sale of such products. This is referred to in the pharmaceutical industry as an
“at-risk” launch. The risk involved in an at-risk launch can be substantial because, if a patent holder ultimately
prevails against us, the remedies available to such holder may include, among other things, permanent
injunctive relief preventing the sale of the product and damages measured as a reasonable royalty or by the
profits lost by the patent holder, which can be significantly higher than the profits we make from selling our
product. We could face substantial damages from adverse court decisions in such matters. We could also be
at risk for the value of such inventory that we are unable to market or sell.
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Upon receipt of approval for Osmolex ER from the FDA, we filed a declaratory judgment action against Adamas
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Adamas LLC, which we collectively refer to as Adamas, on February 16, 2018 in the
U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware seeking a declaratory judgment that Osmolex ER does not
infringe, directly or indirectly, any valid and enforceable claim of any of the 11 patents enumerated in our
complaint. On September 20, 2018, Adamas filed an amended answer with counterclaims alleging infringement
of certain patents included in our complaint and requesting that the court grant Adamas damages, injunctive
relief and attorneys’ fees. Adamas commercializes a different amantadine product, an extended-release capsule
marketed and sold as Gocovri®. We intend to vigorously defend our rights to commercialize Osmolex ER free
and clear of any of these patents. However, this litigation is ongoing. If Adamas’s counterclaims for infringement
are successful, we could be subject to liability for damages, potentially including lost profits damages or
reasonable royalties, and also injunctive relief, as discussed above, and the other risks associated with patent
litigation, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations. For
more information on our material pending litigation, see “Legal Proceedings.
If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license rights from third
parties, or if the license agreements are terminated for other reasons, we could lose license rights that
are important to our business.
We are a party to a number of licenses that are important to our business and expect to enter into additional
licenses in the future. Our existing license agreements impose, and we expect that future license agreements
will impose, on us various development, regulatory and commercial diligence obligations, payment of milestones
or royalties and other obligations. Additionally, existing or future license agreements may include a sublicense
from a third party that is not the original licensor of the intellectual property at issue. Under such an agreement,
we must rely on our licensor to comply with their obligations under the primary license agreements under which
such third party obtained rights in the applicable intellectual property, where we may have no relationship with
the original licensor of such rights. If our licensors fail to comply with their obligations under these upstream
license agreements, the original third-party licensor may have the right to terminate the original license, which
may terminate our sublicense. If this were to occur, we would no longer have rights to the applicable intellectual
property unless we are able to secure our own direct license with the owner of the relevant rights, which we
may not be able to do at a reasonable cost, on reasonable terms or at all, and this may impact our ability to
continue to develop or commercialize our products incorporating the relevant intellectual property. If we fail to
comply with our obligations under our license agreements, or we are subject to a bankruptcy or insolvency, the
licensor may have the right to terminate the license. In the event that any of our existing or future important
licenses were to be terminated by the licensor, we would likely need to cease further development and
commercialization of the related program or be required to spend significant time and resources to modify the
program to not use the rights under the terminated license. In the case of marketed products that depend upon
a license agreement, we could be required to cease our commercialization activities, including sale of the
affected product.
Disputes may arise between us and any of our licensors regarding intellectual property subject to such
agreements, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the scope of rights granted under the agreement and other interpretation-related issues;
whether and the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the
licensor that is not subject to the agreement;
our right to sublicense patent and other rights to third parties;
our diligence obligations with respect to the use of the licensed intellectual property, and what activities
satisfy those diligence obligations;
the ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property
by our licensors and us, should any such joint creation occur;
our right to transfer or assign the license; and
the effects of termination.

These or other disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed or acquired may prevent or impair our
ability to maintain our current arrangements on acceptable terms, or may impair the value of the arrangement
to us. Any such dispute, or termination of a necessary license, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that we or our employees have misappropriated
their intellectual property, or claiming ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.
We may be subject to claims that our employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used intellectual
property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such employee’s former employer. We
may also in the future be subject to claims that we have caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her
non-competition or non-solicitation agreement. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these potential
claims.
In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the
development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, such
employees and contractors may breach the agreement and claim the developed intellectual property as their
own.
If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose
valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. A court could prohibit us from using technologies or features
that are essential to our products if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from
the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. Even if we are successful in
prosecuting or defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a
distraction to our management team. In addition, any litigation or threat thereof may adversely affect our ability
to hire employees or contract with independent service providers. Moreover, a loss of key personnel or their
work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize our products.
We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our owned or in-licensed
patent rights and other intellectual property.
We generally enter into confidentiality and intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees and
consultants. However, these agreements may be breached and may not effectively assign intellectual property
rights to us. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship or
ownership of inventions. The owners of intellectual property in-licensed to us could also face such claims. If we
or our licensors fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such
an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we or our licensors are successful in
defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our management
team and other employees.
Any trademarks we may obtain may be infringed or successfully challenged, resulting in harm to our
business.
We rely on trademarks as one means to distinguish our products and product candidates from the products of
our competitors. Our trademark applications may not result in registered trademarks. Third parties may oppose
our trademark applications or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks
are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which could result in substantial cost,
loss of brand recognition and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands.
Our competitors may infringe our trademarks, and we may not have adequate resources to enforce our
trademarks. Even if we are successful in defending the use of our trademarks or preventing third parties from
infringing our trademarks, resolution of such disputes may result in substantial costs.
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We are increasingly dependent on information technology, and our systems and infrastructure face
certain risks, including cybersecurity and data leakage risks.
Significant disruptions to our information technology systems or breaches of information security could
adversely affect our business. In the ordinary course of business, we collect, store and transmit large amounts
of confidential information, and it is critical that we do so in a secure manner to maintain the confidentiality and
integrity of such confidential information. The size and complexity of our information technology systems, and
those of our third-party vendors with whom we contract, make such systems potentially vulnerable to service
interruptions and security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees, partners or
vendors, from attacks by malicious third parties. Such attacks are of ever-increasing levels of sophistication and
are made by groups and individuals with a wide range of motives (including, but not limited to, industrial
espionage) and expertise, including organized criminal groups, “hacktivists,” nation states and others. As a
global pharmaceutical company, our systems are subject to frequent attacks. Due to the nature of some of these
attacks, there is a risk that they may remain undetected for a period of time. Service interruptions could also
result from intentional or accidental physical damage to our systems infrastructure maintained by us or by third
parties. Maintaining the secrecy of this confidential, proprietary, or trade secret information is important to our
competitive business position. While we have taken steps to protect such information and invested in information
technology, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions or security breaches in
our systems or the unauthorized or inadvertent wrongful use or disclosure of confidential information that could
adversely affect our business operations or result in the loss, dissemination, or misuse of critical or sensitive
information. A breach of our security measures or the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure, unapproved
dissemination, misappropriation or misuse of trade secrets, proprietary information, or other confidential
information, whether as a result of theft, hacking, fraud, trickery or other forms of deception, or for any other
reason, could enable others to produce competing products, use our proprietary technology or information, or
adversely affect our business or financial condition. Further, any such interruption, security breach, loss or
disclosure of confidential information, could result in financial, legal, business, and reputational harm to us and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flow.
Risks related to our industry
Our profitability depends on coverage and reimbursement by governmental authorities, private health
plans, MCOs and other third-party payors; healthcare reform and other future legislation creates
uncertainty and may lead to reductions in coverage or reimbursement levels.
We have obtained coverage and reimbursement at varying levels for our products from governmental payors,
private health insurers and other third-party payors such as MCOs. There is no assurance; however, that any
drug that we market will be covered by any third-party payor, or that, once a coverage determination has been
made, the third-party payor will offer an adequate reimbursement level for our product. Third-party payors may
limit coverage to specific products on an approved formulary, which might not include all of the approved
products for a particular indication. In determining whether to approve reimbursement for our products and at
what level, we expect that third-party payors will consider factors that include the efficacy, cost effectiveness
and safety of our products, as well as the availability of other treatments including other generic prescription
drugs and over-the-counter alternatives. Further, in order to obtain and maintain acceptable reimbursement
levels and access for patients at copay levels that are reasonable and customary, we may face mounting
pressure to offer discounts or rebates from list prices to increase existing discounts and rebates, to offer
discounts and rebates to a greater number of third-party payors or to implement other unfavorable pricing
modifications. Obtaining and maintaining favorable reimbursement can be a time consuming and expensive
process, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to negotiate or continue to negotiate pricing terms with
third-party payors at levels that are profitable to us, or at all. Additionally, any reimbursement granted may not
be maintained, or limits on reimbursement available from third-party payors may reduce the demand for, or
negatively affect the price of those products, and could significantly harm our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.
In particular, there is no assurance that drug plans participating under the Medicare Part D program will offer
our products, or of the terms of any such coverage, or that covered drugs will be reimbursed at amounts that
reflect current or historical levels. Medicare Part D is a voluntary outpatient prescription drug benefit for Medicare
beneficiaries (primarily the elderly over 65 and the disabled). These beneficiaries may enroll in private drug
plans. There are multiple types of Medicare Part D plans and numerous plan sponsors, each with its own
formulary and product access requirements.
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The plans have considerable discretion in establishing formularies and tiered co-pay structures and in placing
prior authorization and other restrictions on the utilization of specific products. In addition, Medicare Part D plan
sponsors are permitted and encouraged to negotiate rebates with manufacturers. The Medicare Part D program
is administered by the CMS within the Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS.
Since Medicare Part D was first established in 2006, CMS has issued extensive regulations and other
sub-regulatory guidance documents implementing the Medicare Part D benefit, and the HHS Office of Inspector
General, or OIG, has issued regulations and other guidance in connection with the Medicare Part D program.
The federal government may continue to issue guidance and regulations regarding the obligations of Part D
sponsors and their subcontractors that affect program coverage of pharmaceutical products or their
reimbursement levels. In addition, participating drug plans may establish drug formularies that exclude coverage
of specific drugs, and payment levels for drugs negotiated with Part D drug plans may be lower than
reimbursement levels available through private health plans or other payors. Moreover, beneficiary co-payment
requirements could influence which products are recommended by physicians and selected by patients.
There is no assurance that Medicaid programs will continue to offer coverage, and adequate reimbursement
levels, for our pharmaceutical products. Most state Medicaid programs have established preferred drug lists,
and the process, criteria and timeframe for obtaining placement on the preferred drug list varies from state to
state. For drugs not on the preferred drug list, the prescriber may have to request and obtain prior authorization
in order for the drug to be covered. Under the Medicaid drug rebate program, a manufacturer must pay a rebate
for Medicaid utilization of a product. The rebate for single source products (including authorized generics) is
based on the greater of (i) a specified percentage of the product’s average manufacturer price or (ii) the
difference between the product’s average manufacturer price and the best price offered by the manufacturer.
The rebate for multiple source products is a specified percentage of the product’s average manufacturer price.
In addition, many states have established supplemental rebate programs as a condition for including a drug
product on a preferred drug list. The profitability of our products may depend on the extent to which they appear
on the preferred drug lists of a significant number of state Medicaid programs and the amount of the rebates
that must be paid to such states. In addition, there is significant fiscal pressure on the Medicaid program, and
legislative action to lower the pharmaceutical costs of the program are possible. For example, recent legislation
enacted in 2019 revises how certain prices are calculated under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, a revision
that the Congressional Budget Office has estimated will save the federal government approximately $3 billion
in the next ten years. Any such legislative action could materially adversely affect our anticipated total revenues
and results of operations.
In addition, third-party payors are increasingly challenging pricing of pharmaceutical products, and imposing
controls to manage costs. For example, we were subject to an audit by the Office of Inspector General related
to purported overcharges with respect to the prices of VERT that were purchased by the U.S. Department of
Veterans Affairs. Although we believe that the prices we charged in these transactions were appropriate and
have settled this matter, adverse determination of other audits could result in the imposition of significant
financial penalties, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial
condition.
The trend toward managed healthcare in the United States and legislative proposals to reform healthcare and
government insurance programs could significantly influence the purchase of pharmaceutical products, resulting
in lower prices and a reduction in product demand. The ACA was signed into law in March 2010. A number of
provisions of the ACA continue to have a negative impact on the price of our products sold to U.S. government
entities. As examples, the legislation includes measures that (i) significantly increase Medicaid rebates through
both the expansion of the program and significant increases in rebates; (ii) substantially expand the Public
Health System (340B) program to allow other entities to purchase prescription drugs at substantial discounts;
(iii) extend the Medicaid rebate to utilization under Managed Medicaid; (iv) require manufacturers to provide
point of sale discounts on Medicare Part D beneficiary spending in the coverage gap for branded and authorized
generic prescription drugs (which discount was recently increased effective in 2019); and (v) levy a significant
excise tax on the industry to fund the healthcare reform. Such cost containment measures and healthcare reform
may affect our ability to sell our products and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
Executive, legislative and judicial action subsequent to the enactment of the ACA has sought to repeal, modify
or delay implementation of the ACA. Tax reform legislation enacted in 2017 removed the tax penalty applicable
to the “individual mandate,” which requires Americans to carry a minimal level of health insurance. Starting in
2019, the tax penalty for not carrying such insurance is zero. Effective January 1, 2019, the point-of-sale
discount that pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in Medicare Part D must provide to Medicare Part
D beneficiaries in the coverage gap was increased from 50% to 70%.
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The Trump Administration has also taken executive actions to undermine or delay implementation of the ACA.
In January 2017, President Trump signed an Executive Order directing federal agencies with authorities and
responsibilities under the ACA to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any
provision of the ACA that would impose a fiscal or regulatory burden on states, individuals, healthcare providers,
health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices. In October 2017, the President signed
a second Executive Order allowing for the use of association health plans and short-term health insurance,
which may provide fewer health benefits than the plans sold through the ACA exchanges. At the same time, the
Administration announced the discontinuance of the payment of cost-sharing reduction, or CSR, payments to
insurance companies until Congress approves the appropriation of funds for such CSR payments. The loss of
the CSR payments is expected to increase premiums on certain policies issued by qualified health plans under
the ACA. There have also been judicial challenges of the ACA. In December 2018, a federal and district court
found the ACA unconstitutional in its entirety. In December 2019, a federal court of appeals held that only the
individual mandate was unconstitutional, but remanded the case back to the district court to determine whether
the remaining provisions of the ACA were nonetheless valid. Pending appeals, the ACA remains operational.
Future healthcare legislation could also have a significant impact on our business. There is uncertainty with
respect to the impact these changes, if any, may have, and any changes likely will take time to unfold. Any
additional federal healthcare reform measures adopted in the future could limit the amounts that federal and
state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, and, in turn, could significantly reduce the
projected value of certain development projects and reduce our profitability. Due to the uncertainties regarding
the outcome of future healthcare reform initiatives and their enactment and implementation, we cannot predict
which, if any, of the future reform proposals will be adopted or the effect such adoption may have on us.
In addition, other broader legislative changes have been adopted that could have an adverse effect upon, and
could prevent, our products’ commercial success. The Budget Control Act of 2011, as amended, or the Budget
Control Act includes provisions intended to reduce the federal deficit, including reductions in Medicare payments
to providers through 2027. Any significant spending reductions affecting Medicare, Medicaid or other publicly
funded or subsidized health programs, or any significant taxes or fees imposed as part of any broader deficit
reduction effort or legislative replacement to the Budget Control Act, or otherwise, could have an adverse impact
on our anticipated product revenues.
There has been heightened public pressure and government scrutiny over pharmaceutical pricing
practices, which may negatively impact our ability to generate revenues from our products, which could
result in material adverse effects to our business, financial position and results of operations.
There has been heightened governmental scrutiny recently over pharmaceutical pricing practices in light of the
rising cost of prescription drugs. Such scrutiny has resulted in several Congressional inquiries in recent years
and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more
transparency to product pricing; review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient assistance
programs, reduce the costs of drugs under Medicare, and reform government program reimbursement
methodologies for drug products. At the federal level, Congress and the Trump Administration have each
indicated an intent to continue to seek new legislative or administrative measures to control drug costs. In late
2019, there were various proposed bills in Congress that focused on drug pricing reform and federal agencies
have also proposed various reforms to address drug costs. At the state level, legislatures have become
increasingly active in passing, or seeking to pass, legislation and regulations designed to control pharmaceutical
and biological product pricing, including laws establishing maximum drug reimbursement rates for governmental
or other payors within a state, laws limiting consumer copayment obligations, transparency and disclosure
measures related to drug price increases and laws seeking to encourage drug importation from other countries
and bulk purchasing. Reductions in reimbursement levels may negatively impact the prices we receive or the
frequency with which our products are prescribed or administered. Any reduction in reimbursement from
Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. Any
downward pricing pressure on the price of certain of our products arising from social or political pressure to
lower the cost of pharmaceutical products could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
There has also been increasing U.S. federal and state enforcement interest with respect to drug pricing. For
instance, the DOJ issued subpoenas to pharmaceutical companies, seeking information about the sales,
marketing and pricing of certain generic drugs. In addition to the effects of any investigations or claims brought
against us, our business, results of operations and financial condition could also be adversely affected if any
such inquiries, of us or of other pharmaceutical companies or the industry more generally, were to result in
legislative or regulatory proposals that limit our ability to increase the prices of our products.
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Certain prescription product coding databases may choose to reclassify prescription dietary
supplements as non-prescription, or over-the-counter, which may result in limited or no insurance
coverage for these products and a decrease in utilization of such products
Many private and government insurance plans refer to product listing databases to determine whether or not a
product is a prescription product, a non-prescription, or over-the-counter product or a medical food product.
How a product is listed in these databases impacts whether or not a product is covered by insurance, or whether
it receives limited coverage, as many payors may choose not to cover over-the-counter products. For example,
on May 15, 2017, First Databank, a prescription coding database, announced that starting in June 2017 it would
classify all dietary supplements as non-prescription. Several companies have sued First Databank, in an effort
to prevent or delay the implementation of the reclassification. Subsequently, First Databank proceeded with
reclassifying prenatal and non-prenatal dietary supplements to non-prescription which affected some of our
products. Payors, however, are not bound by the listing databases and may still decide to cover prenatal
supplements. If other listing databases were to re-classify all dietary supplements, including prenatal dietary
supplements, as non-prescription or over-the-counter, this could prevent insurance coverage for our prescription
prenatal dietary supplements and negatively impact our future total revenues, profitability and cash flows.
We are subject to extensive governmental regulation and we face significant uncertainties and
potentially significant costs associated with our efforts to comply with applicable regulations. Any
non-compliance may result in fines or other sanctions, including debarment, product seizures, product
recalls, injunctive actions and criminal prosecutions, which could result in material adverse effects to
our business, financial position and results of operations.
The pharmaceutical industry operates in a highly regulated environment subject to the actions of courts and
governmental agencies that influence the ability of a company to successfully operate its business and is subject
to regulation by various governmental authorities at the federal, state and local levels with respect to the
development, manufacture, labeling, sale, distribution, marketing, advertising and promotion of pharmaceutical
products. As a pharmaceutical manufacturer and distributor, we are subject to extensive regulation by the
federal government, principally the FDA and the Drug Enforcement Administration, or DEA, as well as by state
governments.
The FDCA, the Controlled Substances Act, the Generic Drug Enforcement Act of 1992, or the Generic Drug
Act, and other federal, state and local statutes and regulations govern the testing, manufacture, safety, labeling,
storage, disposal, tracking, recordkeeping, approval, advertising and promotion (including to the healthcare
community) of our products. If we, our products, the manufacturing facilities for our products, our CROs, or other
persons or entities working on our behalf fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements either before or
after marketing approval, a regulatory agency, such as the FDA, may, depending on the stage of product
development and approval, revoke, withdraw, or suspend approvals of previously approved products for cause,
debar companies and individuals from participating in the drug-approval process, request or in certain
circumstances mandate recalls of allegedly violative products, seize allegedly violative products, issue Warning
Letters or Untitled Letters, mandate modifications to promotional materials or require the provision of corrective
information to healthcare practitioners, amend and update labels or package inserts, suspend or terminate any
ongoing clinical trials, refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications filed, refuse to
allow entry into government contracts, obtain injunctions to close manufacturing plants allegedly not operating
in conformity with FDA’s cGMP requirements, stop shipments of allegedly violative products, impose fines
perhaps significant in amount, require entry into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various fines,
reimbursements for inspection costs, required due dates for specific actions and penalties for noncompliance
and other sanctions imposed by courts or regulatory bodies, including criminal prosecutions. If we or a regulatory
agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated
severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may
impose restrictions relative to that product or the manufacturing facility, including requiring product recall, notice
to physicians, withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing. From time to time, we
have voluntarily recalled our products and may do so in the future. For example, we had three recalls of
methylphenidate ER to the wholesale level. These recalls were each based on a complaints received that
indicated that a bottle had contained one tablet with the incorrect dosage strength. Our investigation revealed
that the incorrect tablets were likely introduced at the first coating step of the manufacturing process and
determined that the issue posed no potential risk to patients. In addition, in August 2017, we initiated a recall to
the retail level of the prescription dietary supplement product, Zatean pN DHA because the product labeling
listed an incorrect food coloring as one of the excipient ingredients.
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Because of the chemical ingredients of pharmaceutical products and the nature of the manufacturing process,
the pharmaceutical industry is subject to extensive environmental laws and regulation and the risk of incurring
liability for damages and the costs of remedying environmental problems. These requirements include regulation
of the handling, manufacture, transportation, storage, use and disposal of materials, including the discharge of
hazardous materials and pollutants into the environment. In the normal course of our business, we are exposed
to risks relating to possible releases of hazardous substances into the environment, which could cause
environmental or property damage or personal injuries, and which could result in (i) our noncompliance with
such environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations and (ii) regulatory enforcement
actions or claims for personal injury and property damage against us. If an unapproved or illegal environmental
discharge or accident occurred or if we were to discover contamination caused by prior operations, including by
prior owners and operators of properties we acquire, then we could be liable for cleanup, damages or fines,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash
flow. In the future, we may be required to increase expenditures in order to remedy environmental problems or
comply with changes in applicable environmental laws and regulations. We could also become a party to
environmental remediation investigations and activities. These obligations may relate to sites that we currently
or in the future may own or lease, sites that we formerly owned or operated, or sites where waste from our
operations was disposed. Additionally, if we fail to comply with environmental regulations to use, discharge or
dispose of hazardous materials appropriately or otherwise to comply with the provisions of our operating
licenses, the licenses could be revoked, and we could be subject to criminal sanctions or substantial civil liability
or be required to suspend or modify our manufacturing operations. We currently operate in Florida, Georgia,
New Jersey and North Carolina, and in overseas jurisdictions including Argentina and Hungary, and we are
required to comply with the laws and regulations of those states or overseas jurisdictions in addition to any
federal laws and regulations. We may in the future establish or acquire operations in other jurisdictions subject
to equally or more stringent laws and regulations. Stricter environmental, safety and health laws and
enforcement policies could result in substantial costs and liabilities to us, and could subject our handling,
manufacture, use, reuse or disposal of substances or pollutants to more rigorous scrutiny than is currently the
case. Consequently, compliance with these laws could result in significant capital expenditures, as well as other
costs and liabilities, which could materially adversely affect us.
As part of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, companies are now
required to file with the FTC, and the DOJ certain types of agreements entered into between brand and generic
pharmaceutical companies related to the settlement of patent litigation or the manufacture, marketing and sale
of generic versions of branded drugs. This requirement could affect the manner in which generic drug
manufacturers resolve intellectual property litigation and other disputes with brand pharmaceutical companies
and could result generally in an increase in private-party litigation against pharmaceutical companies or
additional investigations or proceedings by the FTC or other governmental authorities. The potential for FTC
investigations and litigation and private-party lawsuits associated with arrangements between brand and generic
drug manufacturers could adversely affect our business. In recent years, the FTC has expressed its intention
to take aggressive action to challenge settlements that include an alleged payment from the brand company to
the generic company (so-called “pay for delay” patent litigation settlements) and to call on legislators to pass
stronger laws prohibiting such settlements. In 2013, the U.S. Supreme Court held that certain of such
settlements could violate anti-trust laws and must be evaluated under a “rule of reason” standard of review.
We are subject to the effects of changes in statutes, regulations and interpretative guidance that may adversely
affect our business and that could require us to devote increased time and resources to our compliance efforts,
which may not be successful. Any changes in statutes, regulations or interpretative guidance could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government regulation that may arise from
pending or future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. Namely, the Trump
Administration has taken several executive actions, including the issuance of a number of Executive Orders,
that could impose significant burdens on, or otherwise materially delay, the FDA’s ability to engage in routine
regulatory and oversight activities such as implementing statutes through rulemaking, issuance of guidance,
and review and approval of marketing applications. It is difficult to predict how these executive actions, including
the Executive Orders, will be implemented, and the extent to which they will affect the FDA’s ability to exercise
its regulatory authority. If these executive actions impose constraints on the FDA’s ability to engage in oversight
and implementation activities in the normal course, our business may be negatively impacted, and if we are not
able to achieve and maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our products or product
candidates, which would adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability.
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These risks, along with others, have the potential to materially and adversely affect our business, financial
position, results of operations and prospects. Although we have developed compliance programs to address
the regulatory environment, there is no guarantee that these programs will meet regulatory agency standards
now or in the future. Additionally, despite our efforts at compliance, there is no guarantee that we may not be
deemed to be deficient in some manner in the future. If we are deemed to be deficient in any significant way,
our business, financial position and results of operations could be materially affected.
The manufacture, packaging, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution and sale of our dietary supplements
are also subject to regulation by numerous national and local governmental agencies, including the FDA and
FTC. Failure to comply with regulatory requirements pertaining to any of our products, including prescription
drugs and dietary supplements, may result in various types of penalties or fines. These include injunctions,
product withdrawals, recalls, product seizures, fines and criminal prosecutions. Individual U.S. states also
regulate dietary supplements. A state may seek to interpret claims or products presumptively valid under federal
law as illegal under that state’s regulations. Any or all of these requirements could have a material adverse
effect on us. In addition, the FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations could impose
more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements. For example, the FDA has
stated that there is no specific upper limit on the amount of folic acid permitted in dietary supplements. If the
FDA were to regulate products with higher amounts of folic acid as drugs, it may require us to stop marketing
and selling certain dietary supplement products. There can be no assurance that the regulatory environment in
which we operate will not change or that such regulatory environment, or any specific action taken against us,
will not result in a material adverse effect on us.
The drug regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign authorities are lengthy,
time consuming and inherently unpredictable, and if we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory
approval for our product candidates, our business will be substantially harmed.
The time required to obtain approval by the FDA and comparable foreign authorities is unpredictable and
typically takes many years following the commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors,
including the substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities. In addition, approval policies, regulations or the
type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product
candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions.
Our product candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval for many reasons. For example:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree that our product candidates meet
the criteria for the NDA or ANDA regulatory pathway or foreign regulatory pathways;
we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities that a product candidate is safe and effective or chemically identical and bioequivalent to its
branded reference product for its proposed indication;
the results of any clinical trials we conduct may not meet the level of statistical significance required by
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for approval;
we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its
safety risks;
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes
or facilities of third party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and
the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may change
significantly in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.

This lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may result in our failing
to obtain regulatory approval to market certain of our product candidates, which would harm our business,
results of operations and prospects significantly. In addition, even if we obtain approval for our product
candidates, regulatory authorities may approve any of our product candidates for fewer or more limited
indications than we request or may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing
clinical trials or may approve a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary
or desirable for the successful commercialization of that product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could
harm the commercial prospects for our product candidates.
Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product
or product candidate and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing our products and product
candidates.
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If we are found to have improperly promoted our products, we may be subject to restrictions on the sale
or marketing of our products and significant fines, penalties and sanctions, and our image and
reputation within the industry and marketplace could be harmed.
The FDA and other regulatory agencies, including regulatory authorities outside the United States, strictly
regulate the marketing and promotional claims that are made about drug products. In particular, promotion for
a product must be balanced, truthful, non-misleading and consistent with its labeling approved by the FDA or
by regulatory agencies in other countries. We cannot prevent physicians from prescribing our products for
indications or uses that are inconsistent with the approved package insert. If, however, we are found to have
promoted such unapproved uses prior to the FDA’s approval for an additional indication, we may, among other
consequences, receive Untitled or Warning Letters and become subject to significant liability, which would
materially harm our business. Both the U.S. federal government and foreign regulatory authorities have levied
significant civil and criminal fines against companies and individuals for alleged improper promotion and have
entered into settlement agreements with pharmaceutical companies to limit inappropriate promotional activities.
If we become the target of such an investigation or prosecution based on our marketing and promotional
practices, we could face similar sanctions, which would materially harm our business. In addition, management’s
attention could be diverted from our business operations, significant legal expenses could be incurred and our
reputation could be damaged.
Our business operations and current and future relationships with investigators, healthcare
professionals, third-party payors, patient organizations and customers are subject to applicable
healthcare regulatory laws, which could expose us to penalties.
Our business operations and current and future arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals,
third-party payors, patient organizations and customers subject us and our customers to broadly applicable
fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations. These laws constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which we conduct our operations, including how we research, market,
sell and distribute our products and product candidates, if approved. Such laws include:
•

•

•

•

•

the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from
knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing any remuneration (including any
kickback, bribe, or certain rebates), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce
or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or
arrangement for, any good, facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part,
under U.S. federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have
committed a violation;
the U.S. federal anti-kickback prohibition known as Eliminating Kickbacks in Recovery Act or EKRA,
enacted in 2018, which prohibits certain payments related to referrals of patients to certain providers
(such as recovery homes, clinical treatment facilities and laboratories) and applies to services
reimbursed by private health plans as well as government health care programs;
the U.S. federal civil and criminal false claims, including the civil False Claims Act, which prohibit, among
other things, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, individuals or entities from
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the U.S. federal government, claims for payment
or approval that are false or fraudulent, knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or from knowingly making a false statement
to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the U.S. federal government. In addition,
the government may assert that a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the
U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False
Claims Act;
the U.S. federal law HIPAA, which created additional federal criminal statutes which prohibit, among
other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any
healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material
fact or making any materially false statement, in connection with the delivery of, or payment for,
healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or
entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to
have committed a violation;
HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of
2009, or HITECH and its implementing regulations, which imposes certain privacy, security and breach
reporting obligations, with respect to individually identifiable health information upon covered entities
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•

•
•

•
•

•

subject to the law, such as health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and certain healthcare providers as
well as the covered entities’ business associates, independent contractors of a covered entity that
perform certain services that involve creating, using, maintaining or transmitting individually identifiable
health information;
the U.S. federal civil monetary penalties statute, which prohibits, among other things, the offering or
giving of remuneration to a Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary that the person knows or should know is
likely to influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular supplier of items or services reimbursable
by a federal or state governmental program;
the U.S. FDCA, which prohibits, among other things, the adulteration or misbranding of drugs;
the U.S. “Federal Sunshine Law,” or Open Payments, and its implementing regulations, which require
certain manufacturers of drugs and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid,
or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to report annually to the
government information related to certain payments and other transfers of value to physicians, teaching
hospitals, and, beginning with transfers of value occurring in 2021, other healthcare practitioners as
well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members;
U.S. federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace
activities and activities that potentially harm consumers;
analogous U.S. state laws and regulations, including: state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which
may apply to our business practices, including but not limited to, research, distribution, sales and
marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by any
third-party payor, including private insurers; state laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply
with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance
guidance promulgated by the U.S. federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be
made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state laws and regulations that
require drug manufacturers to file reports relating to pricing sales, shipping and marketing information,
which includes tracking gifts and other remuneration and items of value provided to healthcare
professionals and entities; state and local laws that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales
representatives and reporting to certain states the shipment of opioid products into those states; and
state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of
which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus
complicating compliance efforts; and
similar healthcare laws and regulations in the European Union, or the EU, and other jurisdictions,
including reporting requirements detailing interactions with and payments to healthcare providers.

Ensuring that our internal operations and business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable
healthcare laws and regulations involves substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will
conclude that our business practices, including our arrangements with physicians and other healthcare
providers do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving
applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation
of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations that may apply to us, we
may be subject to significant penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines,
exclusion from government-funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid or similar programs
in other countries or jurisdictions, integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of
non-compliance, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished
profits and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities
with whom we do business are found to not be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to
criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs
and imprisonment, which could affect our ability to operate our business. Further, defending against any such
actions can be costly, time-consuming and may require significant personnel resources. Therefore, even if we
are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be
impaired. To the extent our patient assistance programs are found to be inconsistent with applicable laws, we
may be required to restructure or discontinue such programs, or be subject to other significant penalties.
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We are subject to various laws protecting the confidentiality of certain patient health information, and
other personal information, and our failure to comply could result in penalties and reputational damage.
Numerous U.S. states and countries in which we operate, manufacture and sell our products have, or are
developing, laws protecting data privacy and the confidentiality of certain personal data, including not only
patient health information but also data on employees, customers, contractors and other types of individuals
with whom we interact. The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and we expect that there will
continue to be new and proposed laws, regulations, and industry standards concerning privacy, data protection
and information security, and we cannot yet determine the impact that such future laws, regulations and
standards may have on our business. In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations,
including state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws and federal and state
consumer protection laws govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health-related and other
personal information. One example of such a law is the California Consumer Privacy Act, or the CCPA, which
took effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA gives California consumers (defined to include all California
residents) certain rights, including the right to receive certain details regarding the processing of their data by
covered companies, the right to request deletion of their data, and the right to opt out of sales of their data. The
CCPA additionally imposes several obligations on covered companies to provide notice to California consumers
regarding their data processing activities. The CCPA provides for imposition of substantial fines on companies
that violate the law and also confers a private right of action on data subjects to seek statutory or actual damages
for breaches of their personal information. In Europe, the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR,
which came into force on May 25, 2018, introduced new data protection requirements in the European Economic
Area (EEA) and substantial fines for breaches of the data protection rules. The GDPR expanded the territorial
scope of European data privacy legislation to include not only entities that are established in the EEA, but also
entities that are not established in the EEA but that offer goods or services to individuals located in the EEA or
monitor the behavior of individuals located in the EEA. The GDPR imposes strict obligations and restrictions on
controllers and processors of personal data including, for example, expanded disclosures about how personal
data is to be used, increased requirements pertaining to health data and pseudonymised (i.e., key-coded) data,
mandatory data breach notification requirements and expanded rights for individuals over their personal data.
This could affect our ability to collect, analyze and transfer personal data, including health data from clinical
trials and adverse event reporting, or could cause our costs to increase, and harm our business and financial
condition. The GDPR also provides for the assessment of fines on entities that violate the regulation of up to 20
million Euros or four percent of annual turnover and provides data subjects a private right of action to seek
compensation for damages suffered as a result of violations of the regulation.
While the GDPR, as a directly effective regulation, was designed to harmonize data protection law across the
EEA, it does permit member states to legislate in many areas (particularly with regard to the processing of
genetic, biometric or health data and the processing of personal data for research purposes), meaning that
inconsistencies between different member states will still arise. EEA member states have their own regimes on
medical confidentiality and national and EU-level guidance on implementation and compliance practices is often
updated or otherwise revised, which adds to the complexity of processing personal data in the EEA.
European data protection law generally prohibits the transfer of personal data to countries outside of the
EEA that are not considered by the European Commission to provide an adequate level of data protection,
unless there are specific frameworks or mechanisms in place, such as the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield (Privacy
Shield) or the European Commission approved standard contractual clauses, or if very narrow legal exceptions
(such as data subject consent) apply. The Privacy Shield framework (which permits transfers of personal data
from the EEA to the U.S.companies that have self-certified under the Privacy Shield framework) and another
mechanism for adequate data transfer (i.e. the standard contractual clauses) are currently subject to challenge
in the EU courts. It is uncertain whether the Privacy Shield framework or the standard contractual clauses will
be invalidated by the European courts. Our ability to receive data from the EEA could be affected by changes
in law as a result of a future review of these transfer mechanisms by European regulators under the GDPR, as
well as the current challenges to these mechanisms in the European courts.
In recent years, U.S. and European regulators have expressed concern over electronic marketing and the use
of third-party cookies, web beacons and similar technology for online behavioral advertising. In the EEA,
informed consent is required for the placement of many types of cookies on a user’s device, such as cookies
used for online behavioral advertising, as well as for the sending of many types of electronic marketing
communications. The current EU laws that cover the use of cookies and similar technology and marketing online
or by electronic means are under reform. A draft of the new ePrivacy Regulation is currently going through the
European legislative process.
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Unlike the current ePrivacy Directive, the draft ePrivacy Regulation will be directly implemented into the laws of
each of the EU member states, without the need for further enactment. When implemented, it is expected to
alter rules on third-party cookies, web beacons and similar technology for online behavioral advertising and to
impose stricter requirements on companies using these tools. The current provisions of the draft ePrivacy
Regulation also significantly increase penalties.
Failure to comply with data protection laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions,
which may involve civil and criminal penalties, private litigation and/or adverse publicity and could negatively
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Claims that we have violated individuals’
privacy rights or breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and
time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
We face potential liability related to the privacy of health information we obtain from clinical trials
sponsored by us.
Most healthcare providers, including research institutions from which we obtain patient health information, are
subject to privacy and security regulations promulgated under HIPAA, as amended by HITECH. We are not
currently classified as a covered entity or business associate under HIPAA and thus are not subject to its
requirements or penalties. However, any person may be prosecuted under HIPAA’s criminal provisions either
directly or under aiding-and-abetting or conspiracy principles. Consequently, depending on the facts and
circumstances, we could face substantial criminal penalties if we knowingly receive individually identifiable
health information from a HIPAA-covered healthcare provider or research institution that has not satisfied
HIPAA’s requirements for disclosure of individually identifiable health information. In addition, we may maintain
sensitive personally identifiable information, including health information, that we receive throughout the clinical
trial process or in the course of our research collaborations. As such, we may be subject to state laws requiring
notification of affected individuals and state regulators in the event of a breach of personal information, which is
a broader class of information than the health information protected by HIPAA. Our clinical trial programs
outside the United States may implicate international data protection laws, including the GDPR.
Our activities outside the United States impose additional compliance requirements and generate additional
risks of enforcement for noncompliance. Failure by our CROs and other third-party contractors to comply with
the strict rules on the transfer of personal data outside of the European Union into the United States may result
in the imposition of criminal and administrative sanctions on such collaborators, which could adversely affect
our business. Furthermore, certain health privacy laws, data breach notification laws and consumer protection
laws may apply directly to our operations and/or those of our collaborators and may impose restrictions on our
collection, use and dissemination of individuals’ health information. Moreover, patients about whom we or our
collaborators obtain health information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may have
statutory or contractual rights that limit our ability to use and disclose the information. We may be required to
expend significant capital and other resources to ensure ongoing compliance with applicable privacy and data
security laws. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights or breached our contractual obligations,
even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse
publicity that could harm our business. If we or third-party CROs or other contractors or consultants fail to comply
with applicable federal, state or local regulatory requirements, we could be subject to a range of regulatory
actions that could affect our or our contractors’ ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates and
could harm or prevent sales of any affected products that we are able to commercialize, or could substantially
increase the costs and expenses of developing, commercializing and marketing our products. Any threatened
or actual government enforcement action could also generate adverse publicity and require that we devote
substantial resources that could otherwise be used in other aspects of our business. Increasing use of social
media could give rise to liability, breaches of data security or reputational damage.
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Our reporting and payment obligations under the Medicaid drug rebate program and other
governmental purchasing and discount or rebate programs are complex and may involve subjective
decisions. Any determination that we have failed to comply with those obligations could subject us to
penalties and sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect.
The requirements regarding price reporting and discount or rebate obligations applicable to the various
government pricing and reimbursement programs, such as the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are complex.
Our calculations and methodologies related to government pricing reporting are subject to review and challenge
by the applicable governmental agencies, and it is possible that such reviews could result in material changes.
In addition, because our processes for these calculations and the judgments involved in making these
calculations involve, and will continue to involve, subjective decisions and complex methodologies, these
calculations are subject to the risk of errors. For example, we were subject to an audit by the Office of Inspector
General related to purported overcharges with respect to the prices of VERT that were purchased by the U.S.
Department of Veterans Affairs. Although we believe that the prices we charged in these transactions were
appropriate and have settled this matter, an adverse determination of other audits could result in the imposition
of significant financial penalties, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and
financial condition.
Any governmental agencies that have commenced (or that may commence) an investigation of our company
could impose, based on a claim of violation of fraud and false claims laws or otherwise, civil or criminal
sanctions, including fines, penalties and possible exclusion from federal health care programs (including
Medicaid and Medicare). Some of the applicable laws may impose liability even in the absence of specific intent
to defraud. Furthermore, because there may be ambiguity with regard to how to properly calculate and report
payments, and even in the absence of any such ambiguity, a governmental authority could take a position
contrary to a position that we have taken and may impose civil or criminal sanctions on us. Any such penalties,
sanctions, or exclusion from federal health care programs could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position and results of operations. From time to time we conduct routine reviews of our government
pricing calculations. These reviews may have an impact on government price reporting and rebate calculations
used to comply with various government regulations regarding reporting and payment obligations.
Many government and third-party payors, including Medicare, Medicaid, MCOs and others, reimburse doctors
and others for the purchase of certain prescription drugs based on a drug’s average wholesale price, or AWP.
In the past several years, state and federal government agencies have conducted ongoing investigations of
manufacturers’ reporting practices with respect to AWP, in which the agencies have suggested that reporting
of inflated AWPs by manufacturers have led to excessive payments for prescription drugs. We can give no
assurance that we will be able to resolve any future actions that may be brought against us on terms that we
deem reasonable, or that such settlements or adverse judgments, if entered, will not exceed the amount of any
reserve. Accordingly, such actions could adversely affect us and may have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Increased scrutiny around the abuse of opioids, including law enforcement concerns over diversion
and legislative and regulatory efforts to combat abuse, could impact some of our pharmaceutical
products, and could reduce the demand and increase the cost, burden and liability associated with the
commercialization of opioids.
Law enforcement and regulatory agencies may apply policies that seek to limit the availability of opioids. Such
efforts may affect our opioid products, such as tramadol extended-release capsules and hydromorphone ER
(hydromorphone hydrochloride extended-release tablets). For the year ended December 31, 2019, our opioid
products represented 10% of our total revenues. Aggressive enforcement, unfavorable publicity regarding, for
example, the use or misuse of opioid drugs or the limitations of abuse-deterrent formulations, litigation, public
inquiries or investigations related to the abuse, sales, marketing, distribution or storage of our products could
harm our reputation. Such negative publicity could reduce the potential size of the market for our drugs and
decrease the total revenues we are able to generate from sales. In addition, efforts by the FDA and other
regulatory bodies to combat the abuse of opioids may negatively impact the market for our products. The FDA
continues to evaluate extended-release and abuse-deterrent opioids in the post-market setting. We expect that
the FDA will continue to scrutinize the impact of abuse-deterrent opioids and in the future could impose further
restrictions to products currently on the market, which may include changing labeling, imposing additional
prescribing restrictions, or seeking a product’s removal from the market, which could have an adverse effect on
our financial performance.
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In addition, some states, including the Commonwealths of Massachusetts and Virginia and the States of New
York, Ohio, Arizona, Maine, New Hampshire, Vermont, Rhode Island, Colorado, Wisconsin, Alabama, South
Carolina, Washington and New Jersey, have recently enacted, intend to enact, or have considered legislation
or regulations designed to, among other things, limit the duration and quantity of initial prescriptions of
immediate-release forms of opiates, mandate the use by prescribers of prescription drug databases and
mandate prescriber education. The attorneys general from nearly every state have also either opened an
investigation into or filed a lawsuit against pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors of opioid products.
At the state and local level, a number of states, cities, counties, Native American tribes, third party payors,
hospitals and other health service providers, schools, individuals and guardians of children diagnosed with
neonatal abstinence syndrome have brought separate lawsuits against various pharmaceutical companies
marketing and selling opioid pain medications, alleging misleading or otherwise improper promotion of opioid
drugs to physicians and consumers. Over 2,400 of these lawsuits have been consolidated in multi-district
litigation in the Northern District of Ohio in In re: National Prescription Opiate Litigation, 1:17md2804, or Federal
Opioid MDL. The outcome of those bellwether cases will be used to evaluate the settlement and litigation value
of the remaining coordinated cases. We are not named in any of the cases pending in the multi-district litigation,
but cases continue to be filed in federal courts across the country and continue to be consolidated into the
Federal Opioid MDL. Cases against pharmaceutical companies marketing and selling opioid pain medications,
alleging misleading or otherwise improper promotion of opioids drugs, also continue to be separately litigated
in state courts across the country. For example, on August 26, 2019, an Oklahoma court ordered Johnson &
Johnson to pay $572 million, which was later reduced to $465 million, for its role in the state’s opioid crisis,
including for violating Oklahoma’s public nuisance law. On March 15, 2018, a coalition of local governments in
Arkansas, comprised of 75 counties and 15 cities, jointly filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Crittenden County,
Arkansas against more than 60 defendants, including us. The summons and complaint that we received on April
30, 2018 claimed that we and the other defendants, including prescription opioid manufacturers, distributors
and retailers, and several physicians, were negligent and violated public nuisance law as well as various
Arkansas controlled substance laws as a result of alleged opioid sales and marketing practices. The lawsuit
sought damages and restitution for past and prospective spending related to opioid use, as well as punitive and
treble damages. On July 17, 2018, the court entered an order in the Arkansas litigation voluntarily dismissing
us from the lawsuit without prejudice. If similar federal or state lawsuits are filed against us in the future, we may
be subject to excessive litigation or settlement costs, negative publicity, diversion of management time and
attention, decreased sales or removal of one or more of our opioid products from the market, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The risk of inclusion in
the Federal Opioid MDL may intensify the impact of negative publicity and could lead to a proliferation of lawsuits
naming us.
Additionally, in March 2017, President Trump announced the creation of a commission, through the Office of
National Drug Control Policy, to make recommendations to the President on how to best combat opioid addiction
and abuse. In August 2017, the commission issued a preliminary report calling on President Trump to officially
declare the crisis of opioid abuse a national emergency. On October 26, 2017, President Trump declared the
opioid crisis a ‘‘national public health emergency.’’ The commission’s final report was released in early
November 2017. In July 2017, the Pharmaceutical Care Management Association, a trade association
representing pharmacy benefit managers, wrote a letter to the commissioner of the FDA in which it expressed
support for, among other things, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or CDC, guidelines and a
seven-day limit on the supply of opioids for acute pain. In September 2017, CVS Pharmacy announced that it
would only fill first time opioid prescriptions for acute pain for a seven day supply. State legislative initiatives
may take various forms, including attempts to tax opioid products. For instance, in 2018, New York enacted a
state law (The Opioid Stewardship Act) which intended to raise $600 million from opioid manufacturers and
distributors by taxing morphine milligram equivalents. A federal district court subsequently determined that the
law was unconstitutional because the law violated the commerce clause. That ruling is currently on appeal.
These and other similar initiatives and actions, whether taken by governmental authorities or other industry
stakeholders, may result in the reduced prescribing and use of opioids, including our opioid products, which
could adversely affect our ability to commercialize our opioid products, and in turn adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

48

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to our industry – continued
Some of our products, including methylphenidate ER, are stimulant products and face intense
competition from existing or future stimulant products and also have the potential for misuse, which
could reduce the demand and increase the cost, burden and liability associated with the
commercialization of such products.
Some of our products and product candidates are stimulants, including methylphenidate ER. The markets for
methylphenidate ER and other stimulants to treat ADHD are well developed and populated with established
drugs marketed by large pharmaceutical, biotechnology and generic drug companies. There have also been
efforts to develop stimulant products that are less prone to abuse, and such products may compete with our
products. Our competitors may succeed in developing, acquiring or licensing, on an exclusive basis or
otherwise, drug products or drug delivery technologies that are more effective, less costly or less prone to abuse
than our stimulant products, or any product candidate that we may develop. In addition, because of the potential
for abuse of stimulant products, regulatory agencies may develop and apply policies that seek to limit the abuse
of such stimulant products. If our competitors develop and market stimulant products that are more effective,
safer or less expensive than our product or future product candidates, if any, or if abuse of our stimulant products
result in increased liability or reduced demand for such products, this could impact our ability to generate
revenues from such stimulant products and will adversely affect our business and financial condition.
In addition, for some methylphenidate ER products when a patient switches from one medication to another,
there may be an actual or perceived lack of efficacy or increase in side effects. For example, this could happen
if a patient starts taking our methylphenidate ER product instead of the branded product. These lack of efficacy
reports are submitted to the FDA and may result in the FDA reviewing previously submitted data, or generating
data on its own, to confirm whether or not our product is therapeutically equivalent to the reference listed drug.
If the FDA finds that our product is not therapeutically equivalent to the reference listed drug, FDA could change
the designation of the product from AB to BX rated and request that we remove the product from the market.
Either result would adversely affect our business and financial condition.
The DEA limits production of some of our products and limits the availability of certain of our products’
active ingredients. Procurement and production quotas set by the DEA may not be sufficient to allow
us to complete clinical trials or to meet commercial demand, and may result in clinical delays.
The DEA regulates controlled substances as Schedule I, II, III, IV or V substances, with Schedule I substances
considered to present the highest risk of substance abuse and Schedule V substances the lowest risk.
Methylphenidate included in our methylphenidate ER and M-72 products and hydromorphone included in our
hydromorphone ER product are listed as Schedule II drugs and tramadol hydrochloride included in our ConZip
product is listed as a Schedule IV drug by the DEA under the Controlled Substances Act. The manufacture,
shipment, storage, sale and use of Schedule II drugs are subject to a high degree of regulation. For example,
Schedule II drug prescriptions generally must be signed by a physician and may not be refilled without a new
prescription. Substances in Schedule IV are considered to have a lower potential for abuse relative to
substances in Schedule II. A prescription for controlled substances in Schedule IV may be issued by a
practitioner through oral communication, in writing, or by facsimile to the pharmacist, and may be refilled if so
authorized on the prescription or by call-in. In the future, our other potential products may also be listed by the
DEA as controlled substances.
Furthermore, the DEA limits the availability of the active ingredients in certain of our current drug products and
sets a quota on the production of these products. We, or our contract manufacturing organizations, must
annually apply to the DEA for procurement and production quotas in order to obtain these substances and
produce our products. As a result, our procurement and production quotas may not be sufficient to meet
commercial demand or to complete clinical trials, which may result in delays in clinical trials or inability to meet
commercial demand. Moreover, the DEA may adjust these quotas from time to time during the year. Any delay
or refusal by the DEA to establish or modify our quotas for controlled substances could delay or stop clinical
trials or product launches, or could cause trade inventory disruptions, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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Litigation is common in our industry, can be protracted and expensive, and could delay or prevent entry
of our products into the market, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Litigation concerning intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical industry can be protracted and expensive.
Pharmaceutical companies with patented branded products regularly sue companies that file applications to
produce generic equivalents of their patented branded products for alleged patent infringement or other
violations of intellectual property rights, which are expensive to defend and may delay or prevent the entry of
such generic products into the market. Generally, a generic drug may not be marketed until the applicable
patent(s) on the brand name drug expire or are held to be invalid, unenforceable or not infringed by the generic
product at issue. When we or our development partners submit an ANDA to the FDA for approval of a generic
drug, we or our development partners must certify either (i) that there is no patent listed with the FDA as covering
the relevant branded product, (ii) that any patent listed as covering the branded product has expired, (iii) that
the patent listed as covering the branded product will expire prior to the marketing of the generic product, in
which case the ANDA will not be finally approved by the FDA until the expiration of such patent or (iv) that any
patent listed as covering the branded drug is invalid or will not be infringed by the manufacture, sale or use of
the generic product for which the ANDA is submitted, which we refer to as a “Paragraph IV” certification.
Whenever we file an ANDA with a Paragraph IV certification, there is a high likelihood that a brand
pharmaceutical company will sue us for alleged patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property
rights. Also, competing pharmaceutical companies may file lawsuits against us alleging patent infringement or
other violations of intellectual property rights or may file declaratory judgment actions against us alleging
non-infringement, invalidity, or unenforceability of our own patents. Because substantially all of our current
business involves the development and marketing of products that are subject to potential claims of patent
infringement by third parties or, with respect to our own branded products, are subject to third-party challenges,
the threat of litigation, the outcome of which is inherently uncertain, is always present. Such litigation is often
costly and time consuming and could result in a substantial delay in, or prevent, the introduction or marketing
of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects and
results of operations.
We are susceptible to product liability claims that may not be covered by insurance, which, if
successful, could require us to pay substantial sums.
Like all pharmaceutical companies, we face the risk of loss resulting from, and the adverse publicity associated
with, product liability lawsuits, whether or not such claims are valid. We likely cannot avoid such claims.
Unanticipated side effects or unfavorable publicity concerning any of our products would likely have an adverse
effect on our ability to achieve acceptance by prescribing physicians, managed care providers, pharmacies and
other retailers, customers, patients and clinical trial participants. Even unsuccessful product liability claims could
require us to spend money on litigation, divert management’s time, damage our reputation and impair the
marketability of our products. In addition, although we believe that we have adequate product liability insurance
coverage, we cannot be certain that our insurance will, in fact, be sufficient to cover such claims or that we will
be able to obtain or maintain adequate insurance coverage in the future at acceptable prices. A successful
product liability claim that is excluded from coverage or exceeds our policy limits could require us to pay
substantial sums. In addition, insurance coverage for product liability may become prohibitively expensive in the
future or, with respect to certain high-risk products, may not be available at all. For example, some product
liability insurance carriers exclude from coverage claims related to abuse or misuse of our opioid products, such
as hydromorphone ER. As a result we may not be able to maintain adequate product liability insurance coverage
to mitigate the risk of large claims, or we may be required to maintain a larger self-insured retention than we
would otherwise choose.
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Manufacturing or quality control problems may damage our reputation for quality production, require
costly remedial activities and negatively impact our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
As a pharmaceutical company, we are subject to substantial regulation by various governmental authorities. For
instance, we must comply with requirements of the FDA and other healthcare regulators with respect to the
manufacture of pharmaceutical products. We must register our facilities, whether located in the United States
or elsewhere, with the FDA as well as regulators outside the United States. Also, our products, including our
investigational products, must be made in a manner consistent with applicable cGMP regulations, or similar
standards in each territory in which we manufacture. The failure of one of our facilities, or a facility of one of our
third-party suppliers, to comply with applicable laws and regulations may lead to breach of representations made
to our customers or to regulatory or government action against us related to products made in that facility.
In addition, the FDA and other agencies periodically inspect our manufacturing facilities. Following an
inspection, an agency may issue a notice listing conditions that are believed to violate cGMP or other
regulations, or a Warning Letter for violations of “regulatory significance” that may result in enforcement action
if not promptly and adequately corrected. We have in the past received Warning Letters from the FDA regarding
certain operations. For example, in May 2017, the FDA issued a Warning Letter to us for violation of
post-marketing adverse drug experience reporting requirements, specifically for (i) failing to develop written
procedures for the surveillance, receipt, evaluation, and reporting of post-marketing adverse drug experiences,
and (ii) failing to submit periodic adverse drug experience reports annually. This Warning Letter was based on
an October-November 2016 FDA inspection. We have been providing periodic updates to FDA outlining our
corrective steps taken in response to this Warning Letter. In July 2018, the FDA conducted an inspection of our
pharmacovigilance function as follow up to the May 10, 2017 Warning Letter. On October 25, 2018, the FDA
sent us a letter stating that it completed an evaluation of our corrective actions and confirming that we had
addressed the violations contained in the Warning Letter but we cannot be assured that the FDA will continue
to be satisfied with our quality control and manufacturing systems and standards with respect to this or other
matters. Failure to comply strictly with these regulations and requirements may damage our reputation and lead
to financial penalties, compliance expenditures, the recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of
production or distribution, withdrawal or suspension of the applicable regulator’s review of our submissions,
enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Further, other federal agencies, our customers and
partners in our development, manufacturing, collaboration and other partnership agreements with respect to
our products and services may take any such FDA observations or Warning Letters into account when
considering the award of contracts or the continuation or extension of such partnership agreements. The delay
and cost of remedial actions, or obtaining approval to manufacture at a different facility, could negatively impact
our business. Any failure by us to comply with applicable laws and regulations or any actions by the FDA and
other agencies as described above could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and
results of operations.
The illegal distribution and sale by third parties of counterfeit versions of our products or of stolen
products could have a negative impact on our reputation and a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.
Third parties could illegally distribute and sell counterfeit versions of our products, which do not meet the
rigorous manufacturing and testing standards that our products undergo. Counterfeit products are frequently
unsafe or ineffective, and can be life-threatening. Counterfeit medicines may contain harmful substances, the
wrong dose of the API or no API at all. However, to distributors and users, counterfeit products may be visually
indistinguishable from the authentic version.
Reports of adverse reactions to counterfeit drugs or increased levels of counterfeiting could materially affect
patient confidence in the authentic product. It is possible that adverse events caused by unsafe counterfeit
products will mistakenly be attributed to the authentic product. In addition, thefts of inventory at warehouses,
plants or while in-transit, which are not properly stored and which are sold through unauthorized channels could
adversely impact patient safety, our reputation and our business.
Public loss of confidence in the integrity of our pharmaceutical products as a result of counterfeiting or theft
could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our employees and independent contractors, including consultants, vendors and any third parties we
may engage in connection with development and commercialization may engage in misconduct or other
improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements, which could
harm our business.
Misconduct by our employees and independent contractors, including consultants, vendors and any third parties
we may engage in connection with development and commercialization, could include intentional, reckless or
negligent conduct or unauthorized activities that violate: (i) the laws and regulations of the FDA and other similar
regulatory authorities, including those laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate information
to such authorities; (ii) manufacturing standards; (iii) data privacy, security, fraud and abuse and other
healthcare laws and regulations; or (iv) laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate financial
information and data. Specifically, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are
subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and
other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting,
marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements.
Activities subject to these laws could also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information obtained
in the course of clinical trials, creation of fraudulent data in preclinical studies or clinical trials or illegal
misappropriation of drug product, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our
reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and
the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or
unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits
stemming from a failure to comply with such laws or regulations. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a
person or government could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions
are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions
could have a significant impact on our business and results of operations.
Risks related to our indebtedness
Our operating subsidiaries’ substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise
additional capital to fund our operations, limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our
industry and prevent us from meeting obligations on our indebtedness.
We currently have a substantial amount of indebtedness. As of December 31, 2019, our total indebtedness was
$268.0 million (net of deferred financing costs), with unused commitments of $50.0 million under the senior
secured credit facilities. We may also incur significant additional indebtedness in the future.
Subject to the limits contained in our senior secured credit facilities, we may be able to incur substantial
additional debt from time to time to finance working capital, capital expenditures, investments or acquisitions,
or for other purposes. If we do so, the risks related to this high level of debt could intensify. Specifically, the high
level of debt could have important consequences, including, but not limited to:
•

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our debt;

•

requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of
other purposes, thereby reducing the amount of cash flows available for working capital, capital
expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

•

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or other general corporate requirements;

•

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

•

exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of our borrowings, including borrowings
under the senior secured credit facilities, which are at variable rates of interest;

•

limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industry in which we compete;

•

placing us at a disadvantage compared to other, less leveraged competitors; and

•

increasing our cost of borrowing.
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The terms of the credit agreement governing our senior secured credit facilities, or the Credit
Agreement, restrict our current and future operations, particularly our ability to respond to changes or
to take certain actions.

The Credit Agreement contains a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating and financial
restrictions on our operating subsidiaries and may limit our ability to engage in acts that may be in our long-term
best interest, including restrictions on our ability to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

incur additional indebtedness;
pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our share capital;
prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt;
make loans and investments;
sell assets or enter into sale and lease-back transactions;
incur liens;
enter into transactions with affiliates;
alter the businesses we conduct;
enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends;
consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets;
amend or modify the organizational documents of our operating subsidiaries;
amend or modify certain indebtedness of our operating subsidiaries;
change our fiscal year; and
enter into certain derivative transactions.

In addition, the restrictive covenants in the Credit Agreement require us to comply with certain financial
covenants. As of the end of each fiscal quarter, our operating subsidiaries must (i) maintain a Total Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) no greater than 4.50:1.00 and each subsequent fiscal quarter and
(ii) maintain a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio not less than 1.25:1.00. Our ability to meet these
financial ratios can be affected by events beyond our control.
A breach of the covenants under the Credit Agreement could result in an event of default under the Credit
Agreement. Such an event of default may allow the creditors to accelerate the related debt and may result in
the acceleration of any other debt to which a cross-acceleration or cross-default provision applies which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and financial results. In addition, an event of default
under the Credit Agreement would permit the lenders under the senior secured credit facilities to terminate all
commitments to extend further credit under that facility. Furthermore, if we were unable to repay the amounts
due and payable under the senior secured credit facilities, those lenders could proceed against the collateral
granted to them to secure that indebtedness which could force us into bankruptcy or liquidation. In the event
our lenders accelerate the repayment of the borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may not have sufficient assets
to repay that indebtedness. Any acceleration of amounts due under the Credit Agreement or the exercise by
the applicable lenders of their rights under the related security documents would likely have a material adverse
effect on us. As a result of these restrictions, we may be:
•
•
•

limited in how we conduct our business;
unable to raise additional debt or equity financing to operate during general economic or business
downturns; or
unable to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. These restrictions
may affect our ability to grow in accordance with our strategy.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to
take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition
and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain
financial, business, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. We may be unable to maintain
a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and
interest on our indebtedness.
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If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we could face
substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or
to dispose of material assets or operations, seek additional debt or equity capital or restructure or refinance our
indebtedness. We may not be able to effect any such alternative measures on commercially reasonable terms
or at all and, even if successful, those alternative actions may not allow us to meet our scheduled debt service
obligations. The Credit Agreement restricts our ability to dispose of assets and use the proceeds from those
dispositions and also restricts our ability to raise debt or equity capital to be used to repay other indebtedness
when it becomes due. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain proceeds in an amount
sufficient to meet any debt service obligations when due.
Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness
on commercially reasonable terms or at all, would materially and adversely affect our financial position and
results of operations and our ability to satisfy our obligations, including our indebtedness.
If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in default and, as a result:
•

our debt holders could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable;

•

the lenders under the senior secured credit facilities could terminate their commitments to loan us
money and foreclose against the assets securing the borrowings; and

•

we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.

We will require a significant amount of cash to service our indebtedness. The ability to generate cash
or refinance our indebtedness as it becomes due depends on many factors, some of which are beyond
our control.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance our respective obligations under, our indebtedness
and to fund planned capital expenditures and other corporate expenses will depend on the ability of our
subsidiaries to make distributions, dividends or advances to us, which in turn will depend on our subsidiaries’
future operating performance and on economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors
and any legal and regulatory restrictions on the payment of distributions and dividends to which they may be
subject. Many of these factors are beyond our control. We cannot be certain that our business will generate
sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to
enable us to satisfy our respective obligations under our indebtedness or to fund our other needs. In order for
us to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness and fund planned capital expenditures, we must continue
to execute our business strategy. If we are unable to do so, we may need to reduce or delay our planned capital
expenditures, implement certain cost-saving initiatives, divest assets or refinance all or a portion of our
indebtedness on or before maturity. Significant delays in our planned capital expenditures, implementing cost
savings measures or divestiture of assets may materially and adversely affect our future revenue prospects. In
addition, we cannot assure our creditors that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on
commercially reasonable terms or at all.
We are a holding company with nominal net worth and will depend on dividends and distributions from
our subsidiaries, which are restricted from paying dividends and distributions to us pursuant to the
terms of our existing indebtedness and may be restricted pursuant to the terms of future indebtedness,
which as a result may restrict us from paying dividends to you.
We are a holding company with nominal net worth. We do not have any material assets or conduct any business
operations other than our investments in our subsidiaries. Our business operations are conducted primarily out
of our indirect operating subsidiaries, Vertical Pharmaceuticals, LLC, Trigen Laboratories, LLC and Osmotica
Pharmaceutical US LLC. As a result, notwithstanding any restrictions on payment of dividends under our
existing indebtedness or under Irish law, our ability to pay dividends, if any, will be dependent upon cash
dividends and distributions or other transfers from our subsidiaries. Payments to us by our subsidiaries will be
contingent upon their respective earnings and subject to any limitations on the ability of such entities to make
payments or other distributions to us. The Credit Agreement restricts our subsidiaries from paying dividends
and making distributions to its direct or indirect equity holders unless there are available exceptions thereunder.
If we are not able to meet such available exceptions that would allow our subsidiaries to pay a dividend or make
a distribution to us, and which would then allow us to pay a dividend to you, then we will need to obtain a waiver
from the lenders under the senior secured credit facilities.
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Despite our current level of indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur
substantially more debt. This could further exacerbate the risks to our financial condition described
above.
We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur significant additional indebtedness in the future. Although the
Credit Agreement contains restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are
subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions, and the additional indebtedness incurred in compliance
with these restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions also will not prevent us from incurring obligations
that do not constitute indebtedness. If new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we and
the guarantors now face could intensify.
Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service
obligations to increase significantly.
Borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities are at variable rates of interest and expose us to interest
rate risk. Historically, we have elected that Borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities bear interest
based upon the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or LIBOR. The senior secured credit facilities include a LIBOR
floor of 1.00%. The interest period can be set at one, two, three or six months (or, to the extent available to all
relevant lenders, twelve months or a shorter period) as selected by us in accordance with the terms of the senior
secured credit facilities. An increase of 1.00% in LIBOR would result in a $2.7 million increase in our annual
interest expense associated with the senior secured credit facilities.
Risks related to our ordinary shares
We are eligible to be treated as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we
cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will
make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging
growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable
to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, (i) not being
required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
(ii) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements and (iii) exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive
compensation.
We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years, although circumstances could cause us to lose
that status earlier, including if the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0
million as of any June 30 before that time or if we have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more
during any fiscal year before that time, in which cases, we would no longer be an emerging growth company as
of the following December 31 or, if we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during any three-year
period before that time, we would cease to be an emerging growth company immediately. In addition, we qualify
as a “smaller reporting company,” which allows us to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from
disclosure requirements, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations regarding financial statements,
executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find
our ordinary shares less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our ordinary
shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our ordinary shares and our
share price may be more volatile. When these exemptions cease to apply, we expect to incur additional
expenses and devote increased management effort toward ensuring compliance with them, and we cannot
predict or estimate the amount or timing of such additional costs.
Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards
until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail
ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, will be subject to the
same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
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Investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, or Avista, and affiliates of Altchem Limited, or
Altchem, have significant influence over us, including control over decisions that require the approval
of shareholders, which could limit your ability to influence the outcome of matters submitted to
shareholders for a vote.
We are currently controlled by Avista and Altchem, who we refer to as our Sponsors. As of February 29, 2020,
investment funds affiliated with the Sponsors beneficially owned approximately 77.03% of our outstanding
ordinary shares. For as long as the Sponsors own or control at least a majority of our outstanding voting power,
they will have the ability to exercise substantial control over all corporate actions requiring shareholder approval,
irrespective of how our other shareholders may vote, including the election and removal of directors, any
amendment to our Constitution, the approval of any merger or other significant corporate transaction, including
a sale of substantially all of our assets. Even if their ownership falls below 50%, they will continue to be able to
strongly influence or effectively control our decisions so long as they continue to hold a significant portion of our
ordinary shares. In addition, each of the Sponsors has a contractual right to nominate two directors for so long
as such Sponsor owns at least 20% of our outstanding ordinary shares, and one director for so long as such
Sponsor owns less than 20% but more than 10% of our outstanding ordinary shares.
Additionally, the Sponsors’ interests may not align with the interests of our other shareholders. Avista and
Altchem are in the business of making investments in companies and may acquire and hold interests in
businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. The Sponsors may also pursue acquisition opportunities
that may be complementary to our business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be
available to us.
We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market and, as a
result, qualify for, and rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements; you do not
have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to such
requirements.
Because the Sponsors control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding ordinary shares, we are a
“controlled company” within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market.
Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held
by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain
corporate governance requirements, including the requirements that, within one year of the date of the listing of
our ordinary shares:
•

we have a board of directors that is composed of a majority of “independent directors,” as defined under
the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market;

•

we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors; and

•

we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent
directors.

We intend to continue to utilize all of these exemptions. Accordingly, for so long as we are a “controlled
company,” you will not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all
of the corporate governance requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market. Our status as a controlled company
could make our ordinary shares less attractive to some investors or otherwise harm our share price.
Our directors who have relationships with Avista or Altchem may have conflicts of interest with respect
to matters involving our company.
Two of our seven directors are affiliated with Avista and two directors are affiliated with Altchem. In addition, our
Chief Executive Officer, Brian Markison, serves as an operating executive at Avista Capital Partners. Our
directors have fiduciary duties to us and, in addition, have duties to Avista or Altchem, as applicable. As a result,
these directors may face real or apparent conflicts of interest with respect to matters affecting both us and Avista
or Altchem, as applicable, whose interests, in some circumstances, may be adverse to ours.
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Your percentage ownership in us may be diluted in the future, which could reduce your influence over
matters on which shareholders vote.
In the future, your percentage ownership in us may be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions,
capital market transactions or otherwise, including equity awards that we have granted or may grant in the future
to directors, officers and employees. From time to time, we may issue additional options or other share based
awards to our directors, officers and employees under our benefits plans.
Pursuant to our Articles of Association, our board of directors has the authority, without action or vote of our
shareholders and on a non-pre-emptive basis, to issue all or any part of our authorized but unissued ordinary
shares, and one or more classes or series of preferred shares having such powers, preferences and relative,
participating, optional and other special rights, including preferences over our ordinary shares respecting
dividends and distributions, as our board of directors generally may determine. The terms of one or more classes
or series of preferred shares could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our ordinary shares. For
example, our board of directors could grant the holders of preferred shares the right to elect some number of
our directors in all events or on the happening of specified events or the right to veto specified transactions.
Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences our board of directors could assign to
holders of preferred shares could affect the residual value of our ordinary shares.
Issuances of ordinary shares or voting preferred shares in the manner outlined above may reduce your influence
over matters on which our shareholders vote.
Currently there is a limited public market for our securities, and an active, liquid trading market for our
ordinary shares may not develop, which may limit your ability to sell your shares.
Although our ordinary shares are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol ‘‘OSMT,’’ our
shares have been thinly traded, and there may not be an active trading market for our shares. A public trading
market having the desirable characteristics of depth, liquidity and orderliness depends upon the existence of
willing buyers and sellers at any given time, such existence being dependent upon the individual decisions of
buyers and sellers over which neither we nor any market maker has control. The failure of an active and liquid
trading market to develop or continue would likely have a material adverse effect on the value of our ordinary
shares. The market price of our ordinary shares may decline and you may not be able to sell our ordinary shares
at or above the price you paid for them, or at all. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital
to continue to fund operations by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other companies or
technologies by using our shares as consideration.
Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting have occurred in the past and could
occur in the future.
We are not currently required to comply with the rules of the SEC implementing Section 404 of the SarbanesOxley Act and therefore are not required to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting for that purpose. We are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections
302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which require management to certify financial and other information in
our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Although we are required to disclose changes that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting on a quarterly basis, we are
not required to make our first annual assessment of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404 until our second annual report required to be filed with the SEC.
In connection with the preparation of our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.
This material weakness related to lack of sufficient resources and our failure to maintain an effective control
environment around our period-end financial closing and reporting process. A material weakness is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis.
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During 2018, we implemented steps to remediate material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial
reporting. Management concluded that the previously reported material weakness in internal controls over
financial reporting related to our lack of sufficient available resources in our accounting and financial reporting
functions with sufficient experience and expertise with respect to the application of GAAP and related financial
reporting for our period-end financial closing process had been remediated as of December 31, 2018.
Maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to produce reliable financial
reports and is important to help prevent financial fraud. If we are unable to maintain adequate internal controls,
our business and operating results could be harmed. While we believe that we have remediated the material
weakness identified in connection with the preparation of our audited consolidated financial statements as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, if we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal control
over financial reporting or our disclosure controls and procedures, we could be subjected to regulatory scrutiny,
civil or criminal penalties or shareholder litigation, the defense of any of which could cause the diversion of
management’s attention and resources, we could incur significant legal and other expenses, and we could be
required to pay damages as a result of such actions if any such actions were not resolved in our favor. Moreover,
we may be the subject of negative publicity focusing on a material weakness and we may be subject to negative
reactions from shareholders and others with whom we do business. Further, we may not be able to remediate
a future material weakness in a timely manner and our management may be required to devote significant time
and expense to remediate any such material weakness. Failure to maintain adequate internal control over
financial reporting could also result in financial statements that do not accurately reflect our financial condition
or results of operations, which could result in the need to restate previously issued financial statements. There
can be no assurance that we will not identify any significant deficiencies or other material weaknesses in the
future that will impair our ability to report our financial condition and results of operations accurately or on a
timely basis. In addition, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or
assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public
accounting firm is unable to express an unqualified opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting in future periods, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports. In the event that any of the foregoing occurs, the market price of our ordinary shares could be
negatively affected.
We identified errors in our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2017 related to our accounting for certain aspects of the Business Combination, which
required us to restate those financial statements. If we identify errors in our financial reporting in the
future, we may be required to restate previously issued financial statements and any such restatement
may subject us to regulatory penalties and could cause investors to lose confidence in the accuracy
and completeness of our financial statements, which could cause the price of our ordinary shares to
decline.
In connection with the preparation of the prospectus for our initial public offering, we identified errors in our
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 related to our accounting
for certain aspects of the Business Combination. The required adjustments to address these errors led to
restatements of those financial statements. In addition, we had to correct certain misstatements in our annual
and interim financial statements for 2018 and 2019 related to misstatements associated with the tax treatment
of certain intercompany transactions at the time of the Business Combination. Additionally, for the period ended
September 30, 2019, revisions were necessary to correct misstatements related to uncertain tax positions and
prepaid taxes and certain other previously identified immaterial misstatements. If we are required to restate any
of our financial statements in the future due to our inability to adequately remedy the issues that gave rise to
these restatements or for any other reason, we may be subject to regulatory penalties and investors could lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial statements, which could cause our share price to
decline.
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Registration of the beneficial interests in our shares subjects us and the holders of such beneficial
interests to certain risks.
We entered into a Depository Agreement, or DTC Agreement, with the Depository Trust Company, or DTC, in
connection with the listing and trading of our shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. In accordance with
the DTC Agreement, following completion of the initial public offering of our shares, DTC’s nominee, Cede &
Co., was registered as the legal owner of certain of our ordinary shares in the Irish shareholder register that we
are required to maintain pursuant to the Companies Act 2014 of Ireland, or the Irish Companies Act. Under the
DTC Agreement, DTC credited the beneficial interests in those ordinary shares in book entry form to its
participants. Accordingly, while the ordinary shares issued in accordance with Irish law are listed and traded on
the Nasdaq Global Select Market, it is the beneficial interests in such ordinary shares that are settled and held
in DTC. In accordance with market practice and system requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the
ordinary shares are listed and traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the category of “Common
Share.” In respect of beneficial interests in ordinary shares held in DTC, such beneficial ownership would not
necessarily be recognized by an Irish court. As such, investors holding beneficial interests in our ordinary shares
within DTC may have no direct rights against us and our officers and directors and may be required to obtain
the cooperation of DTC in order to assert claims against us and our officers and directors, and to look solely to
DTC for the payment of any dividends, for exercise of voting rights attaching to the underlying ordinary shares
and for all other rights arising in respect of the underlying ordinary shares. We cannot guarantee that DTC will
be able to continue to execute its obligations under the DTC Agreement, including that the beneficial owners of
the ordinary shares within DTC will receive notice of general meetings in time to instruct DTC to either effect
registration of their ordinary shares or otherwise vote their ordinary shares in the manner desired by such
beneficial owners. Any such failure may, inter alia, limit the access for, delay or prevent, such beneficial
shareholders from being able to exercise the rights attaching to the underlying ordinary shares.
DTC has certain termination rights under the DTC Agreement. In the event that the DTC Agreement is
terminated, we will use our reasonable best efforts to enter into a replacement agreement for purposes of
permitting the uninterrupted listing of our ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. There can be
no assurance, however, that it would be possible to enter into such a new agreement on substantially the same
terms as the DTC Agreement or at all. A termination of the DTC Agreement could, therefore, have a material
and adverse effect on us and the beneficial shareholders holding their ordinary shares within DTC. The DTC
Agreement limits DTC’s liability for any loss suffered by us. DTC disclaims any liability for any loss attributable
to circumstances beyond DTC’s control, including, but not limited to, errors committed by others. DTC is only
liable for direct losses incurred as a result of events within DTC’s control. Thus, we may not be able to recover
our entire loss if DTC does not perform its obligations under the DTC Agreement.
Our share price may be volatile, and the market price of our ordinary shares may drop below the price
you pay.
Our share price has been and may continue to be volatile. Since our initial public offering in October 2018, the
closing price of our ordinary shares as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market has ranged from a low of
$2.34 on June 10, 2019 to a high of $9.20 on October 22, 2018. In addition, securities markets worldwide have
experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, significant price and volume fluctuations. This market
volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could subject the market price of our shares
to wide price fluctuations regardless of our operating performance. The trading price of our shares may fluctuate
in response to various factors, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

market conditions in the broader stock market;
actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial and operating results;
introduction of new products or services by us or our competitors;
issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;
results of operations that vary from expectations of securities analysts and investors;
results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;
guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or our failure to meet this
guidance;
strategic actions by us or our competitors;
announcement by us, our competitors or our vendors of significant contracts or acquisitions;
sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our shares;
additions or departures of key personnel;
regulatory, legal or political developments;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

public response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our
filings with the SEC;
litigation and governmental investigations;
changing economic conditions;
changes in accounting principles;
default under agreements governing our indebtedness;
exchange rate fluctuations; and
other events or factors, including those from natural disasters, war, acts of terrorism or responses to
these events.

These and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, may cause our market price and demand for
our shares to fluctuate substantially. Fluctuations in our share price could limit or prevent investors from readily
selling their shares and may otherwise negatively affect the market price and liquidity of our shares. In addition,
in the past, when the market price of shares have been volatile, holders of those shares have sometimes
instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the shares. For example, on April 30,
2019 we were was served with a complaint in an action entitled Leo Shumacher, et al., v. Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Superior Court of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L-000540-19, and on
May 10, 2019, a complaint entitled Jeffrey Tello, et al., v. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Superior Court
of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L-000617-19 was filed in the same court as the Shumacher action.
The complaints name us, certain of our directors and officers and the underwriters of our initial public offering
as defendants in putative class actions alleging violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933
related to the disclosures contained in the registration statement and prospectus used for our initial public
offering of ordinary shares. On July 22, 2019, the plaintiffs filed an Amended Complaint consolidating the two
actions, reiterating the previously pled allegations and adding an additional individual defendant. We expect to
incur substantial costs defending these and any other lawsuits our shareholders bring against us. This and other
lawsuits could also divert the time and attention of our management from our business, which could significantly
harm our profitability and reputation.
A significant portion of our total outstanding ordinary shares are restricted from immediate resale but
may be sold into the market in the near future. This could cause the market price of our ordinary shares
to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our ordinary shares in the public market could occur at any time.
These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares,
could reduce the market price of our ordinary shares. As of February 29, 2020 we had 58,896,534 ordinary
shares outstanding. This includes shares that we sold in our January 2020 public offering, the majority of which
may be freely sold in the public market. A substantial majority of the shares that were not sold in our January
2020 public offering, consisting of shares held by our directors, executive officers and Avista and Altchem, are
subject to a 90-day lock-up period provided under agreements executed in connection with the public offering.
These shares will, however, be able to be resold after the expiration of these lock-up agreements on April 7,
2020. As restrictions on resale end, the market price of our shares could decline if the holders of currently
restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them. We also filed a registration
statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register all of our ordinary shares that we may issue under
our equity compensation plans. In addition, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 to register shares held
by Avista and Altchem for future resale. Such sales could be significant. Once these shares are sold pursuant
to this registration statement, they can be freely sold in the public market.
Since we have no current plans to pay regular cash dividends on our ordinary shares, you may not
receive any return on investment unless you sell your ordinary shares for a price greater than that which
you paid for it.
We do not anticipate paying any regular cash dividends on our ordinary shares for the foreseeable future. Any
decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and
will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual
restrictions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Our ability to pay dividends is, and
may be, limited by covenants of existing and any future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur.
In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends may be limited by Irish law, as discussed under the risk factor titled
“The rights of our shareholders may differ from the rights typically offered to shareholders of a U.S. corporation
and these differences may make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors.” Therefore, any return on
investment in our ordinary shares is solely dependent upon the appreciation of the price of our ordinary shares
on the open market, which may not occur.
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Risks related to our ordinary shares – continued
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, if they adversely
change their recommendations regarding our shares or if our results of operations do not meet their
expectations, our share price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our shares is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts
publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of these
analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in
the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one
or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our ordinary shares, or if our results of operations do not
meet their expectations, our share price could decline.
Risks related to being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares
Provisions contained in our Articles of Association, as well as provisions of Irish law, could impair a
takeover attempt, limit attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our current directors and
management team, and limit the market price of our ordinary shares.
Our Articles of Association, together with certain provisions of the Irish Companies Act could have the effect of
delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of
directors.
There are a number of approaches for acquiring an Irish public limited company, including a court-approved
scheme of arrangement under the Irish Companies Act, through a tender offer by a third party, by way of a
merger with a company incorporated in the European Economic Area, or EEA, under the European
Communities (Cross-Border Mergers) Regulations 2008 (as amended) and by way of a merger with a company
incorporated in Ireland under the Irish Companies Act. Each method requires shareholder approval or
acceptance and different thresholds apply.
The Irish Takeover Panel Act 1997 and the Irish Takeover Rules 2013 made thereunder, or the Irish Takeover
Rules, govern a takeover or attempted takeover of our company by means of a court-approved scheme of
arrangement or a tender offer. The Irish Takeover Rules contain detailed provisions for takeovers, including as
to disclosure, process, dealing and timetable. The Irish Takeover Rules could discourage an investor from
acquiring 30% or more of our outstanding ordinary shares unless such investor was prepared to make a bid to
acquire all outstanding ordinary shares.
Our Articles of Association contain provisions that may delay or prevent a change of control, discourage bids at
a premium over the market price of our ordinary shares and adversely affect the market price of our ordinary
shares and the voting and other rights of the holders of our ordinary shares. These provisions include:
•
•
•
•
•

permitting our board of directors to issue preference shares without shareholder approval, with such
rights, preferences and privileges as they may designate;
provisions that allow our board of directors to adopt a shareholder rights plan upon such terms and
conditions as it deems expedient and in our best interests;
establishing an advance notice procedure for shareholder proposals to be brought before shareholder
meetings, including proposed nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;
the ability of our board of directors to fill vacancies on our board in certain circumstances; and
imposing particular approval and other requirements in relation to certain business combinations.

These provisions do not make us immune from takeovers. However, these provisions may frustrate or prevent
any attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our current management team by making it more difficult
for shareholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members
of our management.
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Risks related to being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares - continued
Our board of directors may be limited by the Irish Takeover Rules in its ability to defend an unsolicited
takeover attempt.
We are subject to the Irish Takeover Panel Act 1997 and the Irish Takeover Rules. Under the Irish Takeover
Rules, our board of directors is not permitted to take any action that might frustrate an offer for our ordinary
shares once our board of directors has received an approach that may lead to an offer or has reason to believe
that such an offer is or may be imminent, subject to certain exceptions. Potentially frustrating actions, such as
(i) the issue of shares, options, restricted share units or convertible securities, (ii) material acquisitions or
disposals, (iii) entering into contracts other than in the ordinary course of business or (iv) any action, other than
seeking alternative offers, which may result in frustration of an offer, are prohibited during the course of an offer
or at any earlier time during which our board of directors has reason to believe an offer is or may be imminent.
These provisions may give our board of directors less ability to control negotiations with hostile officers than
would be the case for a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction of the United States.
The operation of the Irish Takeover Rules may affect the ability of certain parties to acquire our ordinary
shares.
Under the Irish Takeover Rules, if an acquisition of ordinary shares were to increase the aggregate holding of
the acquirer and its concert parties to ordinary shares that represent 30% or more of the voting rights of a
company, the acquirer and, in certain circumstances, its concert parties would be required (except with the
consent of the Irish Takeover Panel) to make an offer for the outstanding ordinary shares at a price not less
than the highest price paid for the ordinary shares by the acquirer or its concert parties during the previous 12
months. This requirement would also be triggered by an acquisition of ordinary shares by a person holding
(together with its concert parties) ordinary shares that represent between 30% and 50% of the voting rights in
the company if the effect of such acquisition were to increase that person’s percentage of the voting rights by
0.05% within a 12-month period. Under the Irish Takeover Rules, certain separate concert parties are presumed
to be acting in concert. Our board of directors and their relevant family members, related trusts and “controlled
companies” are presumed to be acting in concert with any corporate shareholder who holds 20% or more of the
company. The application of these presumptions resulted may continue to result in restrictions upon the ability
certain concert parties and members of our board of directors to acquire more of our securities, including under
the terms of any executive incentive arrangements. We have consulted and may consult again in future with the
Irish Takeover Panel with respect to the application of this presumption and the restrictions on the ability to
acquire further securities, although we are unable to provide any assurance as to whether the Irish Takeover
Panel will overrule this presumption in the future.
Our Articles of Association designate the courts of Ireland for all actions and proceedings, other than
those relating to U.S. securities law, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable
judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees and require shareholders to
pursue certain claims outside the United States.
Our Articles of Association provide that, unless our board of directors or one of its duly authorized committees
approves the selection of an alternate forum and to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the courts of
Ireland shall be the exclusive forum for all actions or proceedings, other than those related to U.S. securities
law, but including (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim
of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or employees to us or our shareholders,
(iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of Irish law or our Articles of
Association and (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our Articles of Association.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in our shares shall be deemed to have notice
of and to have consented to the provisions of our Articles of Association and waived any argument relating to
the inconvenience of the forums described above. As a result, certain shareholder actions and proceedings may
only be brought in Ireland and our shareholders would not have access to any U.S. courts with respect to such
actions. This choice of forum provision may limit a shareholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that
it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such
lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find these
provisions of our Articles of Association inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the
specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters
in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

62

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares – continued
Irish law differs from the laws in effect in the United States and U.S. shareholders may have difficulty
enforcing civil liabilities against us, our directors or members of senior management.
A number of our directors are non-residents of the United States, and all or a substantial portion of their assets
are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible to serve process on these directors,
or us, in the United States or to enforce court judgments obtained in the United States against these individuals
or us in Ireland based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws. In addition, there
is some uncertainty as to whether the courts of Ireland would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts
obtained against us or our directors based on the civil liabilities provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities
laws or hear actions against us or those persons based on those laws. The United States currently does not
have a treaty with Ireland providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and
commercial matters. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any U.S. federal or state
court based on civil liability, whether or not based solely on U.S. federal or state securities laws, would not
automatically be enforceable in Ireland. A judgment obtained against us will be enforced by the courts of Ireland
if the following general requirements are met:
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

U.S. courts must have had jurisdiction in relation to the particular defendant according to Irish conflict
of law rules (the submission to jurisdiction by the defendant would satisfy this rule); and
the judgment must be final and conclusive and the decree must be final and unalterable in the court
which pronounces it.
A judgment can be final and conclusive even if it is subject to appeal or even if an appeal is pending.
But where the effect of lodging an appeal under the applicable law is to stay execution of the judgment,
it is possible that in the meantime the judgment may not be actionable in Ireland. It remains to be
determined whether a final judgment given in default of appearance is final and conclusive. Irish courts
may also refuse to enforce a judgment of the U.S. courts that meets the above requirements for one of
the following reasons:
the judgment is not for a definite sum of money;
the judgment was obtained by fraud;
the enforcement of the judgment in Ireland would be contrary to natural or constitutional justice;
the judgment is contrary to Irish public policy or involves certain U.S. laws that will not be enforced in
Ireland; or
jurisdiction cannot be obtained by the Irish courts over the judgment debtors in the enforcement
proceedings by personal service in Ireland or outside Ireland under Order 11 of the Irish Superior Courts
Rules.

As an Irish company, we are principally governed by Irish law, which differs in some material respects from laws
generally applicable to U.S. corporations and shareholders, including, among others, differences relating to
interested director and officer transactions and shareholder lawsuits. Likewise, the duties of directors and
officers of an Irish company generally are owed to the company only. Shareholders of Irish companies generally
do not have a personal right of action against directors or other officers of the company and may exercise such
rights of action on behalf of the company only in limited circumstances. Accordingly, holders of our ordinary
shares may have more difficulty protecting their interests than would holders of shares of a corporation
incorporated in a jurisdiction of the United States.

63

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares - continued
The rights of our shareholders may differ from the rights typically offered to shareholders of a U.S.
corporation and these differences may make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors.
We are incorporated under Irish law and, therefore, certain of the rights of holders of our shares are governed
by Irish law, including the provisions of the Irish Companies Act, and by our Articles of Association. These rights
differ in certain respects from the rights of shareholders in typical U.S. corporations and these differences may
make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors. The principal differences include the following:
•

•

•
•

•

under Irish law, dividends may only be declared if we have, on an individual entity basis, profits available
for distribution, within the meaning of the Irish Companies Act. In addition, no distribution or dividend
may be paid or made by us unless our net assets are equal to, or exceed, the aggregate of our called
up share capital plus non-distributable reserves and the distribution does not reduce our net assets
below such aggregate;
under Irish law, each shareholder generally has preemptive rights to subscribe on a proportionate basis
to any issuance of shares. Preemption rights may be disapplied under Irish law for renewable five-year
periods by Irish companies by way of a provision in such companies’ articles of association or a special
resolution of their shareholders. We have opted out of these preemption rights in our Articles of
Association as permitted under Irish law for the maximum period permitted of five years from the date
of adoption of the Articles of Association;
under Irish law, certain matters require the approval of holders of 75% of the votes cast at a general
meeting of our shareholders, including amendments to our Articles of Association, which may limit our
flexibility to manage our capital structure;
under Irish law, a bidder seeking to acquire us would need, on a tender offer, to receive shareholder
acceptance in respect of 80% of our outstanding shares. If this 80% threshold is not achieved in the
offer, under Irish law, the bidder cannot complete a “second step merger” to obtain 100% control of us.
Accordingly, tender of 80% of our outstanding shares will likely be a condition in a tender offer to acquire
us, not 50% as is more common in tender offers for corporations organized under U.S. law; and
under Irish law, shareholders may be required to disclose information regarding their equity interests
upon our request, and the failure to provide the required information could result in the loss or restriction
of rights attaching to the shares, including prohibitions on the transfer of the shares, as well as
restrictions on voting, dividends and other payments.

Risks related to taxation
Changes in our effective tax rate may reduce our net income in future periods.
We cannot give any assurance as to what our effective tax rate will be because of, among other things,
uncertainty regarding the tax policies of the jurisdictions in which we operate and the varying applications of
statutes, regulations and related interpretations.
A number of factors may increase our future effective tax rates, including: the jurisdictions in which profits are
determined to be earned and taxed (which may vary depending on our taxable presence in such jurisdictions
as may be determined by tax authorities in such jurisdictions); the resolution of issues arising from tax audits
that may be undertaken by various tax authorities; changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and
liabilities due to changes in applicable tax legislation; increases in expenses that are not deductible for tax
purposes, including transaction costs and impairments of goodwill in connection with acquisitions; changes in
available tax credits; changes in share-based compensation; changes in tax laws or the interpretation of such
tax laws changes to currently applicable tax treaties, including those resulting in a loss of treaty benefits;
changes in GAAP; and challenges to the transfer pricing policies related to our structure undertaken by various
tax authorities. Currently, jurisdictions within the Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development, or
the OECD, are reviewing OECD proposals relating to base erosion and profit shifting. Our effective tax rate
could be adversely affected to the extent that countries adopt such OECD proposals.
U.S. tax legislation enacted in 2017 has significantly changed the U.S. federal income taxation of corporations
and multinational consolidated groups, including by reducing the U.S. corporate income tax rate, limiting interest
deduction, adopting elements of a territorial international tax system and introducing new anti-base erosion
provisions. This legislation is unclear in many respects and could be subject to potential amendments and
technical corrections and subject to differing interpretations and implementing regulations by the U.S.
Department of Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service, any of which could lessen or increase certain
adverse impacts of the legislation or affect our actual effective tax rate.
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Risks related to taxation - continued
It is possible that in the future, whether as a result of a change in law or the practice of any relevant tax authority
or as a result of any change in the conduct of our affairs, we could become, or be regarded as having become
tax resident in a jurisdiction other than Ireland. Should we cease to be an Irish tax resident, we may be subject
to a charge of Irish capital gains tax as a result of a deemed disposal of our assets. Our actual effective tax rate
may vary from our expectation and that variance may be material. Additionally, the tax laws of Ireland and other
jurisdictions in which we operate could change in the future, and such changes could cause a material adverse
change in our effective tax rate.
If our tax rates or tax expenses were to increase as described above, such increases could cause a material
and adverse change in our worldwide effective tax rate and we may have to take action, at potentially significant
expense, to seek to mitigate the effect of such changes. In addition, any amendments to the current double
taxation treaties between Ireland and other jurisdictions could subject us to increased taxation. Any such
amendments to double taxation treaties or increases in taxation based on examinations by taxing authorities, if
such increases are ultimately sustained, could result in increased charges, financial loss, including penalties,
and reputational damage and materially and adversely affect our results, financial condition and prospects.
If we are a passive foreign investment company, U.S. investors in our ordinary shares could be subject
to adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences.
The rules governing passive foreign investment companies, or PFICs, can have adverse effects for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We would be classified as a PFIC for any taxable year in which either: (i) at least 75% of
our gross income is classified as ‘‘passive income’’ for purposes of the PFIC rules, or (ii) at least 50% of the fair
market value of our assets (determined on the basis of a quarterly average) is attributable to assets that produce
or are held for the production of ‘‘passive income.’’ For this purpose, we will be treated as owning our
proportionate share of the assets and earning our proportionate share of the income of any other corporation
we own, directly or indirectly, 25% or more (by value) of its stock.
We do not believe that we are currently a PFIC, and we do not anticipate becoming a PFIC for the 2020 taxable
year; however, such a determination cannot be made until following the end of such taxable year. Additionally,
recently proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations addressing, among other things, the determination of certain types
of ‘‘passive income’’ for certain types of entities for purposes of the PFIC test described above and the
clarification of certain PFIC attribution rules and ‘‘look-through’’ rules to certain types of entities could affect our
status as a PFIC. These proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations have not been finalized and their application and
interpretation are unclear and could be subject to potential amendments and technical corrections once
finalized, any of which could affect whether we are a PFIC.
The determination of whether we are a PFIC must be made annually after the close of each taxable year,
depends on the particular facts and circumstances (such as the valuation of our assets, including goodwill and
other intangible assets) and may also be affected by the interpretation and application of the PFIC rules,
including the proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations described above. The fair market value of our assets is
expected to depend, in part, upon (a) the market price of our ordinary shares and (b) the composition of our
income and assets, which will be affected by how, and how quickly, we spend any cash that is raised in any
financing transaction. In light of the foregoing, no assurance can be provided that we are not a PFIC for the
current taxable year or that we will not become a PFIC for any future taxable year.
If we are a PFIC, U.S. holders of our ordinary shares would be subject to adverse U.S. federal income tax
consequences, such as ineligibility for any preferred tax rates on capital gains or on actual or deemed dividends,
interest charges on certain taxes treated as deferred, and additional reporting requirements under U.S. federal
income tax laws and regulations. If we are classified as a PFIC in any taxable year with respect to which a U.S.
holder owns ordinary shares, we generally will continue to be treated as a PFIC with respect to such U.S. holder
in all succeeding taxable years, regardless of whether we continue to meet the tests described above, unless
the U.S. holder makes a ‘‘deemed sale election.’’ Furthermore, whether or not U.S. holders of our ordinary
shares make timely qualified electing fund, or QEF, elections, if we provide the necessary information to U.S.
holders to make such elections, or mark-to-market elections may affect the U.S. federal income tax
consequences to U.S. holders with respect to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares
and any distributions such U.S. holders may receive. Investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding
all aspects of the application of the PFIC rules to our ordinary shares.

65

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to taxation – continued
U.S. holders of 10% or more of the voting power or value of our ordinary shares may be subject to U.S.
federal income taxation at ordinary income tax rates on undistributed earnings and profits.
There is a risk that we will be classified as a ‘‘controlled foreign corporation,’’ or CFC, for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. We will generally be classified as a CFC if more than 50% of our outstanding shares, measured
by reference to voting power or value, are owned (directly, indirectly or by attribution) by ‘‘U.S. Shareholders.’’
For this purpose, a ‘‘U.S. Shareholder’’ is any U.S. person that owns directly, indirectly or by attribution, 10% or
more of the total voting power or total value of our outstanding shares. If we are classified as a CFC, a U.S.
Shareholder may be subject to U.S. income taxation at ordinary income tax rates on its proportionate share of
our undistributed earnings and profits attributable to ‘‘subpart F income’’ or undistributed earnings and profits
invested in certain U.S. property and may also be subject to tax at ordinary income tax rates on any gain realized
on a sale of ordinary shares, to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits attributable to
such shares. A U.S. Shareholder of a CFC is also required to include in gross income for a taxable year, at a
reduced effective tax rate, its proportionate share of certain non-U.S. active business income of a CFC not
included in a CFC’s ‘‘subpart F income,’’ or ‘‘global intangible low-taxed income,’’ to the extent such CFC’s
‘‘tested income’’ is in excess of 10% of the adjusted U.S. federal income tax basis of depreciable tangible assets
used in the CFC’s trade or business (reduced by a U.S. Shareholder’s allocable net interest expense) and is
not otherwise offset by any ‘‘tested loss’’ attributable to other CFCs owned by such U.S. Shareholder. Foreign
taxes paid by a CFC attributable to the CFC’s ‘‘subpart F income’’ and ‘‘global intangible low-taxed income’’ and
any corresponding foreign tax credits may affect the amount of income includible in a U.S. Shareholder’s gross
income for U.S. tax purposes. Even if we are not classified as a CFC, certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries could
be treated as CFCs due to the application of certain attribution rules that currently apply in determining CFC
status. If certain non-U.S. subsidiaries are classified as CFCs, any U.S. Shareholder may be required to report
annually and include in its U.S. taxable income its pro rata share of ‘‘subpart F income,’’ ‘‘global intangible lowtaxed income’’ and investments in U.S. property attributable to those non-U.S. subsidiaries. The CFC rules are
complex and U.S. Shareholders and U.S. holders of our ordinary shares are urged to consult their own tax
advisors regarding the possible application of the CFC, ‘‘subpart F income,’’ and ‘‘global intangible low-taxed
income’’ rules (including applicable direct and indirect attribution rules) to them based on their particular
circumstances.
A future transfer of your ordinary shares, other than one effected by means of the transfer of book entry
interests in DTC, may be subject to Irish stamp duty.
Transfers of ordinary shares effected by means of the transfer of book entry interests in the DTC should not be
subject to Irish stamp duty where ordinary shares are traded through DTC, either directly or through brokers
that hold such shares on behalf of customers through DTC. However, if you hold your ordinary shares as of
record rather than beneficially through DTC, any transfer of your ordinary shares could be subject to Irish stamp
duty (currently at the rate of 1% of the higher of the price paid or the market value of the shares acquired).
Payment of Irish stamp duty is generally a legal obligation of the transferee. The potential for stamp duty to arise
could adversely affect the price of our ordinary shares.

Financial risk management
We are exposed to various market risks, which may result in potential losses arising from adverse changes in
market rates, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates. We do not enter into derivatives or other
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes and do not believe we are exposed to material market
risk with respect to our cash and cash equivalents.
Through the operation of our subsidiaries based in Argentina and Hungary, we are exposed to foreign exchange
rate risks. In addition to the operations of our foreign subsidiaries, we also contract with vendors that are located
outside the United States, and in some cases make payments denominated in foreign currencies. We are
subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates in connection with these arrangements. We do not currently
hedge our foreign currency exchange rate risk. As of December 31, 2019, our liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies were not material.
We are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on our senior secured credit facilities. An increase in interest
rates could have a material impact on our cash flow. As of December 31, 2019, a 100 basis point increase in
assumed interest rates for our variable interest credit facilities would have an annual impact of approximately
$2.7 million on interest expense.
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Financial risk management – continued
As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $95.9 million. We do not engage in any hedging
activities against changes in interest rates. Because of the short-term maturities of our cash and cash
equivalents, we do not believe that an immediate 10% increase in interest rates would have a significant impact
on the realized value of our investments.
Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor, API costs and costs of clinical trials. We do not
believe that inflation had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations during the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Acquisition of own shares
During the year the Company redeemed 673,182 ordinary shares for $2.8 million. These shares were
subsequently cancelled. At the balance sheet date no shares were held in treasury.
Directors
The names of the persons who served as directors during the financial year are listed below:
Fred Weiss
Sriram Venkataraman
Brian Markison
Juan Vergez
Carlos Sielecki
David Burgstahler
Gregory Cowan
Michael Debiasi

(Appointed January 2, 2019)
(Appointed October 1, 2019)

Directors’ and secretary’s interests in shares and debentures
The interests of the directors and the secretary in office as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 in shares of the
Company were:

Ordinary
shares
Directors:
Fred Weiss
Sriram Venkataraman
Brian Markison
Juan Vergez
Carlos Sielecki
David Burgstahler
Gregory Cowan
Michael DeBiasi

December 31,2019
Share
Restricted
options
stock units

December 31, 2018
Ordinary
Share
shares
options

20,450,785
1,488,242
20,450,785
-

1,285,052
-

71,440
387,991
57,551
-

20,450,785
1,488,242
20,450,785
**-

1,285,052
**-

60,183

171,340

104,849

60,183

171,340

Secretary
Christopher Klein

The directors and secretary had no other interests in the shares or debentures of the company or any other
group company at December 31, 2019 or on their date of appointment.
*held at date of appointment
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Disclosure of information to auditors
For the purposes of section 330 of the Companies Act, each of the persons who are directors at the date of
approval of this report individually confirm that:



In so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s statutory auditors
are unaware; and
That they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s statutory auditors are aware of
that information.

Auditors
In accordance with Section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014, the auditor, Ernst & Young, Chartered
Accountants; who were appointed during the year, will continue in office.

On behalf of the board

/s/ Brian Markison
Brian Markison

/s/ Gregory L. Cowan
Gregory L. Cowan

Director

Director

Date: April 17, 2020
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries
(‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2019, which comprise the Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Loss, Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Stockholders’ Equity/Partners’ Capital, the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, the Company Balance
Sheet, the Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the related notes 1 to 24 in respect of the consolidated
financial statements and the related notes 1 to 12 in respect to the Company financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies as set out therein. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is Irish law and U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (U.S. GAAP), as defined in section 279 of Part 6 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use
of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements does not contravene any provision of that Part of
the Companies Act 2014. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the
Company financial statements is applicable Irish law and accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting
Council, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland
(Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland).
In our opinion:


the Group financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its loss for the year then ended, and have been properly
prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP), as defined in
section 279 of Part 6 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the
preparation of the financial statements does not contravene any provision of that Part of the Companies
Act 2014;



the Company financial statements gives a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and has been properly prepared in accordance with
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland; and



the Group financial statements and Company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (‘ISAs (Ireland)’) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and the Company in
accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the
Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (‘IAASA’), as applied to listed
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISA 570 (Ireland) ‘Going
concern’ requires us to report to you where:


The directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or



The directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the Group and Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of
the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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(continued)
GROUP AUDIT MATTERS
Risk

Revenue recognition –
Management and sales
representatives may ship greater
inventory than demand is
required to the Company’s three
largest wholesalers close to yearend in order to meet revenue
targets and potentially
manipulate earnings (also known
as ‘channel stuffing’).
Revenue and EBITDA targets form
part of the metrics used to evaluate
senior management’s performance
bonuses. Therefore, ‘channel
stuffing’ was deemed to represent
the most susceptible element of
revenue to a risk of material
misstatement.
If ’channel stuffing’ were to occur,
and the Company did not record
appropriate gross-to-net accruals
against the excess inventory sold
into distributor channels, the
Company could overstate net
revenue.
The risk of ‘channel stuffing’ to
increase revenues at year end was
a matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance
in our audit of the financial
statements and was the most
significant assessed risk of material
misstatement.

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

We obtained an understanding and
evaluated the design of controls
over the Group's process to avoid
‘channel stuffing’.

Our observations included a
summary of our audit procedures
over revenue recognition including
the procedures to address the risk
of ‘channel stuffing’ to increase
revenue at year end, our
consideration of the Group’s
revenue recognition policies and the
related disclosures in the financial
statements.

Our audit procedures included
performing a disaggregated net
revenue analytic period over period
at a product level. Such procedures
included evaluating the quantity of
sales relative to historical trends and
demand, gross revenue trend
analysis, inventory on hand trend
analysis, performing detailed testing
of credit memos issued subsequent
to year end, and performing a
search for unrecorded liabilities. We
reviewed the days of channel
inventory on hand by quarter to
determine if an unusal spike
occurred at any point, which may be
as a result of improper sales being
recognised.

We also evaluated the
completeness and accuracy of the
Group’s revenue recognition
disclosures included in Notes 2, 3
and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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GROUP AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Risk

Income Tax - The Company’s
financial statements may be
misstated for amounts and
disclosures related to income tax
accounting as a result of
inappropriately accounting for
the income tax impact of
historical transactions.

Our response to the risk

We obtained an understanding and
evaluated the design of controls
that address the risks of material
misstatement relating to historical
tax positions.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, evaluating the
historical transactions such that no
Refer to the Accounting policies
uncertain tax position is required.
(Note 2); and Note 4 of the
We obtained and reviewed the legal
Consolidated Financial Statements agreements and documents related
to the historical transactions and
evaluated the tax implications of the
The Group operates in a complex
historical transactions, including key
multinational tax environment and is
assumptions used in the analyses
subject to on-going changes in tax
and discussed with the Company.
laws.
As part of this, we considered
whether an uncertain tax position is
Auditing the measurement of tax
required for transactions that
positions related to intercompany
occurred in the period where the
transactions is challenging because
statute of limitations remains open,
the measurement of the tax positions
and the appropriateness of the
involves unique facts and
period of the statute of limitations.
circumstances that must be
evaluated and such measurement is
We reviewed the tax reserve
complex, judgmental and based on
balance sheet classifications of the
interpretations of tax laws and court
Company between deferred taxes,
rulings.
current taxes payable and long-term
taxes payable.
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Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Our observations included a
summary of our audit procedures
over income tax related accounts.
We also communicated our
consideration of the Group’s related
accounting policies and disclosures
in the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OSMOTICA PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
(continued)
GROUP AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Risk

Our response to the risk

Management may use
inappropriate assumptions in the
Projected Financial Information
(‘PFI’) used to estimate the fair
value of the Company's
intangible assets in connection
with its impairment assessment.

We obtained an understanding of
the valuation approaches and
evaluated the design of controls
over the preparation of PFI and the
overall impairment assessment.

Refer to the accounting policies
(Note 2); and Note 10 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
The assumptions used by
management to project its financial
information are highly subjective in
nature and are based on
management’s expectations for the
business given the Company’s own
performance and plans and
conditions for the industry and
market as a whole.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, evaluating the
revenue growth rates, gross margin
percentage and operating expenses.
We tested the impairment model for
clerical accuarcy and reconciled the
calculations to the charge recorded.
We also validated the asset value
prior to impairment and further
validated that the impairment was
appropriately recorded. We involved
our specialist to assist in performing
review procedures over the valuation
model and the discount rate used.

As such, we identified significant
assumptions that are more likely to
affect the estimated fair value.
Management could exercise bias to
avoid any significant impairments
which may negatively affect investor
confidence.
Auditing the assumptions used in
preparing the PFI was challenging
because they are complex and
subjective in nature.
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Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Our observations included a
summary of our audit procedures
over impairment assessment
performed by management. We
also communicated our
consideration of the Group’s related
accounting policies and disclosures
in the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OSMOTICA PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
(continued)
Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified
misstatements on the audit and in forming our audit opinion.
Materiality
Materiality is the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality
provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.
We determined materiality for the Group to be $1.2 million, which is approximately 2% of the Group Earnings
Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) adjusted for non-recurring items (’adjusted
EBITDA’). Adjusted EBITDA is a key performance indicator for the Group. We therefore considered adjusted
EBITDA to be the most appropriate performance metric on which to base our materiality calculation as we
consider it to be the most relevant performance measure to the main stakeholders of the Group.
Starting
basis

• Starting basis - $(298.0) million
• Starting basis represents actual loss before income tax

• Add back impairment charges - $283.7 million
• Add back depreciation and amortization - $57.0 million
Adjustments • Add back interest expense and amortization of debt discount - $18.2 million

Materiality

• Totals $61.0 million adjusted EBITDA
• Materiality of $1.2 million (2% of adjusted EBITDA, as rounded)

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and the only change in final materiality was to
reflect the actual reported performance of the Group for the year.
Performance materiality
Performance materiality is the application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an
amount to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds materiality.
On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment,
our judgement was that performance materiality should be set at 50% of our planning materiality, namely $0.6
million. We have set performance materiality at this percentage due to the past history of a low number of
misstatements, our ability to assess the likelihood of misstatements, both corrected and uncorrected, the
effectiveness of the control environment and other factors affecting the entity and its financial reporting.
Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement
accounts is undertaken based on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materiality set
for each component is based on the relative scale and risk of the component to the Group as a whole and our
assessment of the risk of misstatement at that component. In the current year, the range of performance
materiality allocated to components was $0.04 million to $0.08 million.
Reporting threshold
Reporting Threshold is the amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of
$0.06 million, which is set at approximately 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold
that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed
above and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.
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An overview of the scope of our audit report
Audit scope
We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 1 full scope component and performed audit
procedures on specific balances for a further 2 components.
The 3 components where we performed either full or specific audit procedures accounted for 100% of the Group’s
EBITDA adjusted for non-recurring items, 100% of the Group’s Revenue and 100% of the Group’s Total Assets.
‘Components’ represent business units across the Group considered for audit scoping purposes.
Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine
our audit scope for each entity within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the
Consolidated Financial Statements. We take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the Group and
effectiveness of group-wide controls, changes in business environment and other factors when assessing the level
of work to be performed at each entity.
In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate
quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 3 reporting components of the
Group, we selected 3 components covering entities across the United States of America, Hungary and Argentina,
which represent the principal business units within the Group.
Of the 3 components selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 1 component (“full
scope component”) which was selected based on its size or risk characteristics. For the remaining 2 components
(“specific scope components”), we performed audit procedures on specific accounts within those components that
we considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the significant accounts in the financial statements either
because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.
The reporting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 100% of the Group’s EBITDA
adjusted for non-recurring items, 100% of the Group’s revenue and 100% of the Group’s total assets.
For the current year, the full scope components contributed 99% of the Group’s EBITDA adjusted for non-recurring
items, 99% of the Group’s revenue and 99% of the Group’s total assets. The audit scope of this component may
not have included testing of all significant accounts of the component but will have contributed to the coverage of
significant accounts tested for the Group.
The remaining components together represent 1% of the Group’s EBITDA adjusted for non-recurring items,
revenue and total assets. For any remaining components, we evaluated the existence and effectiveness of group
wide controls at a consolidated level over the preparation of the component financial information, including a
number of monitoring and review controls which assess the overall performance of the group. Further to this we
performed other procedures at a consolidated level, including gross margin analytical review, testing of
consolidation journals, intercompany elimination and foreign currency translation recalculations to respond to
potential risks of material misstatement to the group financial statements.
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The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our component audit teams.

Profit before tax adjusted for nonrecurring items

Total assets

Revenue

99% Full scope

99% Full scope

1% Specific scope

1% Specific scope

0% Other
procedures

0% Other procedures

99% Full scope
1% Specific scope
0% Other
procedures

Involvement with component teams
In establishing our overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be
undertaken at each of the components by us, as the primary audit engagement team, or by component auditors
from other EY global network firms operating under our instruction. For all components we determined the
appropriate level of involvement to enable us to determine that sufficient audit evidence had been obtained as a
basis for our opinion on the group as a whole. The primary team interacted with component teams where
appropriate during various stages of the audit, reviewed key working papers and were responsible for the scope
and direction of the audit process. This, together with the additional procedures performed at a group level, gave
us appropriate evidence for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Directors’ Report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act 2014
In our opinion, based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:


the information given in the directors’ report, for the financial year for which the statutory financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the statutory financial statements in respect of the financial
year concerned; and



the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our
audit.
In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be
readily and properly audited and the Company Balance Sheet is in agreement with the accounting records.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report.
We have nothing to report in respect of Sections 305 to 312 of the Companies Act 2014 which require us to
report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by the Act are
not made.
Respective responsibilities
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set on pages 3 and 4, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group and Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA's
website at: http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b9b8fa98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Brian Lenihan
for and on behalf of
Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin
17 April 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Financial Year Ended December 31, 2019 (in thousands, except share and per share data)

2019
$

2018
Restated
$

235,472
3,641
918

261,398
1,959
344

240,031

263,701

(111,630)

(140,082)

128,401

123,619

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Impairment of intangibles and fixed assets
Impairment of goodwill
Total operating expenses

(93,030)
(32,319)
(283,747)
-

(74,243)
(43,693)
(17,903)
(86,318)

(409,096)

(222,157)

Operating loss

(280,695)

(98,538)

(18,211)
884
(17,327)

(20,790)
664
(20,126)

(298,022)
27,121

(118,664)
8,983

(270,901)

(109,681)

(383)

(1,213)

(271,284)

(110,894)

(5.17)
(5.17)

(2.42)
(2.42)

Notes

Revenues:
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
Licensing and contract revenue
Total revenue

3
3
3

Cost of goods sold (inclusive of amortization of intangibles)
Gross profit

Other income (expense):
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount
Other non-operating income/(loss), net
Total other non-operating expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit

4

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive loss
Loss per share attributable to shareholders
Basic
Diluted

5

Weighted average number of shares:
Basic and diluted

5
52,367,444

45,276,278

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at December 31, 2019 (in thousands, except share data)

2019
Notes
$
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

95,865
43,914
21,305
11,546
172,630

70,834
56,424
24,383
20,723
172,364

30,238
4,983
153,986
100,855
563
463,255

31,263
490,390
100,855
752
795,624

8,495
26,929
38,324
127
2,062
75,937

24,871
28,792
58,445
1,774
119
114,001

12
13
13
4
4

267,950
44
3,116
1,500
272,610
348,547

266,803
138
2,541
28,294
297,776
411,777

19

518
10,000
479,440
(373,021)
(2,229)
114,708
463,255

525
362,542
124,746
(102,120)
(1,846)
383,847
795,624

6
7

Property, plant and equipment
Operating lease assets
Intangibles
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Total assets

8
9
10
10

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt, net of deferred financing costs
Current portion of obligation under finance leases
Lease liability – current portion
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of non-current deferred financing costs
Long-term portion of obligation under finance leases
Lease liability – long term portion
Income taxes payable – long-term portion
Deferred taxes – long-term portion
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserve
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

2018
Restated
$

11
6
12
12
13

On behalf of the board
/s/ Brian Markison
Brian Markison
Director

/s/ Gregory L. Cowan
Gregory L. Cowan
Director

Date: April 17, 2020
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY/PARTNERS' CAPITAL
Financial Year Ended As at December 31, 2019 (in thousands, except share data)
Number of
shares

Balance at January 1, 2018
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting standard (see note 2)
Net loss
Change in foreign currency
translation
Share compensation
Partners’ distributions
Balance at October 17, 2018
Effect of reorganization
Issuance of ordinary shares in
initial public offering and private
placement, net of offering costs
Share compensation
Net loss
Change in foreign currency
translation
Balance at 31 December, 2018
(Restated)
Repurchase and cancellation of
ordinary shares

Amount

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Accumulated
deficit

Partners'
capital

$

$

$

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,047
(7,561)

42,857,139

429

299,571

129,012

-

1,248
(2)
429,012
(429,012)

9,661,785
-

96
-

62,971
-

52,518,924

525

362,542

(673,182)

(7)

-

-

-

(4,983)
717
124,746
(2,780)

Transfer of reserves approved
by the High Court
Share compensation
Net loss
Change in foreign currency
translation

-

-

-

4,932
-

-

-

-

-

Balance at December 31, 2019

51,845,742

518

10,000

479,440

(352,542)

-

Total
shareholders'
equity

$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss
$

434,280

(633)

433,647

(102,120)

-

(102,120)

-

-

-

352,542

(270,901)
(373,021)

(1,169)
(1,802)
-

(1,169)
1,248
(2)
427,210
-

58,084
717
(102,120)

(44)
(1,846)
-

-

1,047
(7,561)

-

-

-

$

(44)
383,847
(2,787)

-

-

(383)

-

(2,229)

4,932
(270,901)
(383)
114,708

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Financial Year Ended December 31, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by/(used in)
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Share compensation
Impairment of intangibles and fixed assets
Impairment of goodwill
Deferred income tax benefit
Loss on sale of fixed assets
Bad debt provision
Non-cash interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees and
loan organization fees
Write off of deferred financing fees in connection with prepayment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Trade accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities

2019

2018

$

$

(270,901)

(109,681)

57,015
4,932
283,747
(26,794)
173
(164)

81,573
1,965
17,903
86,318
(15,513)
93
(1,771)

1,337
-

1,652
876

12,674
3,078
9,177
(16,375)
(24,332)

(17,041)
(7,436)
4,549
(11,326)
5,397

Net cash provided by operating activities

33,567

37,558

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Payments on disposals of leased assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

17
(74)
(3,963)

10
(4,144)

Net cash used in investing activities

(4,020)

(4,134)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Financial Year Ended December 31, 2019

2019
$

2018
$

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments to affiliates
Payments on finance lease obligations
Proceeds from initial public offering and private placement, net of issuance
costs
Debt repayment
Repurchase of ordinary shares
Proceeds from insurance financing loan
Repayment of insurance financing loan

(130)

(2)
(112)

(2,787)
1,314
(3,088)

58,084
(56,140)
2,745
(971)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

(4,691)

3,604

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Effect on cash of changes in exchange rate
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

24,856
175
70,834

37,028
(938)
34,744

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

95,865

70,834

Supplemental disclosures of cash and non-cash transactions:
Cash paid for interest
Income taxes paid

15,181
1,290

19,619
2,638

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1

Organization and nature of operations
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Limited)
is an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc was incorporated in Ireland on July 13,
2017 with registration number 607944 and has its registered office at 25 – 28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1,
D01 H104.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on April 30, 2018 for the purpose of
facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On October 22, 2018, Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which it issued and allotted 7,647,500
ordinary shares at a public offering price of $7.00 per share. The number of shares issued in the IPO
reflected the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 997,500 additional ordinary shares. In
addition, the Company issued and allotted 2,014,285 ordinary shares at the public offering price in a private
placement to investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, Altchem Limited and an entity
controlled by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The aggregate net proceeds from the IPO and the
private placement were approximately $58.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses.
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc becoming the direct parent of
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp with each holder of common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. receiving
approximately 42.84 ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc in exchange for each such common
unit. In addition, each holder of an option to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. received
an option to purchase the number of ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc determined by
multiplying the number of units underlying such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded down to the nearest
whole share) and dividing the exercise price per unit for such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded up to
the nearest whole cent). These transactions are referred to as the “Reorganization”. Accordingly, all share
and share amounts for all periods presented in the accompanying financial statements have been adjusted
retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the Reorganization.
Until the Reorganization on October 17, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc did not conduct any
operations (other than activities incidental to its formation, the Reorganization and the pursuit of an initial
public offering). Upon the completion of the Reorganization, the historical consolidated financial statements
of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. became the historical financial statements of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc.
Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein reflect the financial
information of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.is a Luxembourg special limited partnership, formed on January 28, 2016.
Osmotica Holdings US LLC, a subsidiary of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. entered into a fifty-fifty partnership
(the “Merger”), effective February 3, 2016, pursuant to a definitive agreement between Vertical/Trigen
Holdings, LLC (“Vertical/Trigen”) and members, and Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited and Subsidiaries.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and several other holding companies and partnerships were formed as a result
of the Merger. Pursuant to the Merger, Vertical/Trigen was deemed to be the accounting acquirer. Osmotica
is a fully integrated biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of
specialty products that target markets with underserved patient populations.
Unless otherwise indicated or required by the context, references throughout to “Osmotica,” or the
“Company,” refer to (i) prior to the completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and its
consolidated subsidiaries, including, from and after April 30, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, and (ii)
following the completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc and its consolidated
subsidiaries, including Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation— The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the
state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), as defined in
Section 279(1) of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements does not contravene any provision of Part 6 of the Irish Companies
Act 2014.
Consolidated financial statements and notes prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP were included in the
Group’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, filed with the United States
(U.S.) Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Irish Company Law, to present
to the shareholders of the Group and to file with the Companies Registration Office in Ireland. Accordingly,
these consolidated financial statements include presentation and additional disclosures required by the
Companies Act 2014, in addition to those disclosures required under U.S. GAAP.
Principles of Consolidation—The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc and its wholly-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries. All inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company is not involved with variable
interest entities.
Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosures in the condensed consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Management bases it estimates on historical experience and on assumptions
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates.
Foreign Currency Translation—The financial position and results of operations of the Company’s non-U.S.
subsidiaries are generally determined using U.S. Dollars as the functional currency. Our subsidiary in
Argentina is currently operating in a highly inflationary environment, as a result, we account for translation
in accordance with US GAAP. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in foreign
exchange (loss) gain in the Company’s statements of operations.
Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity
date of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The Company applies Accounting Standards Committee or ASC 820,
Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”), which establishes a framework for measuring fair value and clarifies
the definition of fair value within that framework. ASC 820 defines fair value as an exit price, which is the
price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the Company’s principal or most
advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The
fair value hierarchy established in ASC 820 generally requires an entity to maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Observable inputs reflect
the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are developed based
on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs reflect the
entity’s own assumptions based on market data and the entity’s judgments about the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are to be developed based on the best
information available in the circumstances.
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and short and long-term debt. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate book value
because of the short maturity of these instruments.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
The valuation hierarchy is composed of three levels. The classification within the valuation hierarchy is
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The levels within the
valuation hierarchy are described below:
Level 1 — Assets and liabilities with unadjusted, quoted prices listed on active market exchanges. Inputs to
the fair value measurement are observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Inputs to the fair value measurement are determined using prices for recently traded assets and
liabilities with similar underlying terms, as well as direct or indirect observable inputs, such as interest rates
and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.
Level 3 — Inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable inputs, such as estimates, assumptions,
and valuation techniques when little or no market data exists for the assets or liabilities.
Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value at approximate costs
determined on the first-in first-out basis. The Company maintains an allowance for excess and obsolete
inventory as well as inventory where the cost is in excess of its net realizable value (“NRV”) based on
management’s assessments. The Company capitalizes inventory costs associated with its products prior to
regulatory approval when, based on management judgement, future commercialization is considered
probable and future economic benefit is expected to be realized. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there
were no capitalized inventory costs associated with products that had not yet achieved regulatory approval.
The Company assesses the regulatory approval process and where the product stands in relation to that
approval process including any known constraints or impediments to approval. The Company also
considers the shelf life of the product in relation to the product timeline for approval. Sample inventory
utilized for promoting the Company’s products are expensed and included in cost of goods sold when the
sample units are purchased or manufactured.
Property, Plant and Equipment—Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Additions and improvements
that extend the economic useful life of the asset are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful
lives of the assets. The cost and accumulated depreciation of assets sold or retired are removed from the
respective accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in current earnings. Depreciation is provided
using the straight-line method in amounts considered to be sufficient to amortize the cost of the assets to
operations over their estimated useful lives or lease terms, as follows:
Asset category
Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Computer hardware and software

Depreciable life
20 - 30 years
Lesser of the useful
life of the
improvement or the
terms of the
underlying lease
3 - 15 years
3 - 10 years
3 - 12 years
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Long-Lived Assets, Including Definite-Lived Intangible Assets—Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization is generally recorded on a straight-line basis or based on the
expected pattern of cash flows over estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 20 years. The Company
periodically reviews the estimated useful lives of intangible assets and makes adjustments when events
indicate that a shorter life is appropriate.
Long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibles, are evaluated for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows derived from such assets.
Factors that the Company considers in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant
changes in the Company’s forecasted projections for the asset or asset group for reasons including, but not
limited to, significant under-performance of a product in relation to expectations, significant changes, or
planned changes in the Company’s use of the assets, significant negative industry or economic trends, and
new or competing products that enter the marketplace. The impairment test is based on a comparison of
the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the asset group. If impairment is
indicated, the asset is written down by the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the
related fair value of the asset with the related impairment charge recognized within the statements of
operations.
The Company recorded impairment charges of $283.7 million and $10.3 million, in regard to definite-lived
intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 10).
Goodwill and Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets—Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price
over the fair value of net assets acquired, is carried at cost. Irish Company Law requires goodwill and
indefinite lived intangible assets to be amortized. However, the Company does not believe this gives a true
and fair view, as not all goodwill and intangible assets decline in value. In addition, as goodwill that does
decline in value rarely does so on a straight-line basis, straight-line amortization of goodwill and indefinite
lived intangible assets over an arbitrary period does not reflect the economic reality. Therefore Goodwill
and indefinite lived assets are not amortized; rather, they are subject to a periodic assessment for
impairment by applying a fair value-based test, which represents the excess of purchase price over the fair
value of net assets acquired, is carried at cost.
The Company is organized in one reporting unit and evaluates the goodwill for the Company as a whole.
Goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis as of October 1st of each year or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Under the authoritative
guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”), the Company has the option
to first assess the qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform
a quantitative goodwill impairment test. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the goodwill impairment test is performed.
The goodwill impairment test requires the Company to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit and to
compare the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the fair value exceeds the carrying
value, then no impairment is recognized. If the carrying value recorded exceeds the fair value calculated,
then an impairment charge is recognized for the difference. The judgments made in determining the
projected cash flows used to estimate the fair value can materially impact the Company’s financial condition
and results of operations. There was no impairment of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2019. For
the year ended December 31, 2018 it was determined that the carrying value of goodwill exceeded its fair
value. Accordingly, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $86.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018 (see Note 10).
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
In-Process Research and Development (“IPR&D”) intangible assets represent the value assigned to
acquired Research & Development (“R&D”) projects that principally represent rights to develop and sell a
product that the Company has acquired which have not yet been completed or approved. These assets are
subject to impairment testing until completion or abandonment of each project. Impairment testing requires
the development of significant estimates and assumptions involving the determination of estimated net cash
flows for each year for each project or product (including net revenues, cost of sales, R&D costs, selling
and marketing costs and other costs which may be allocated), the appropriate discount rate to select in
order to measure the risk inherent in each future cash flow stream, the assessment of each asset’s life
cycle, the potential regulatory and commercial success risks, and competitive trends impacting each asset
and related cash flow stream as well as other factors. The major risks and uncertainties associated with the
timely and successful completion of the IPR&D projects include legal risk, market risk and regulatory risk.
If applicable, upon abandonment of the IPR&D product, the assets are reduced to zero. IPR&D is assessed
for impairment on an annual basis as of October 1st of each year or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. If the fair value of the IPR&D is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment is recognized for the difference. The Company did not recognize an impairment
charge to IPR&D for the year ended December 31, 2019 and recognized impairment charges to IPR&D of
$7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 (see Note 10).
Product Sales—Revenue is recognized at the point in time when the Company’s performance obligations
with the applicable customers have been satisfied. At contract inception, the Company determines if the
contract is within the scope of ASC Topic 606 and then evaluates the contract using the following five steps:
(1) identify the contract with the customer; (2) identify the performance obligations; (3) determine the
transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (5) recognize
revenue at the point in time when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
Revenue is recorded at the transaction price, which is the amount of consideration the Company expects
to receive in exchange for transferring products to a customer. The Company considered the unit of account
for each purchase order that contains more than one product. Because all products in a given purchase
order are generally delivered at the same time and the method of revenue recognition is the same for each,
there is no need to separate an individual order into separate performance obligations. The Company
determines the transaction price based on fixed consideration in its contractual agreements, which includes
estimates of variable consideration, and the transaction price is allocated entirely to the performance
obligation to provide pharmaceutical products. In determining the transaction price, a significant financing
component does not exist since the timing from when the Company delivers product to when the customers
pay for the product is less than one year and the customers do not pay for product in advance of the transfer
of the product.
The Company records product sales net of any variable consideration, which includes estimated
chargebacks, certain commercial rebates, and discounts and allowances. The Company utilizes the
expected value method to estimate all elements of variable consideration included in the transaction price.
The variable consideration is recorded as a reduction of revenue at the time revenues are recognized. The
Company will only recognize revenue to the extent that it is probable that a significant revenue reversal will
not occur in a future period. These estimates may differ from actual consideration amount received and the
Company will re-assess these estimates each reporting period to reflect known changes in factors.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Royalty Revenue—For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments
based on the level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties
relate, the Company recognizes revenue at the later of (a) when the related sales occur, or (b) when the
performance obligation to which some or all the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied).
Licensing and Contract Revenue—The Company has arrangements with commercial partners that allow
for the purchase of product from the Company by the commercial partners for purposes of sub-distribution.
The Company recognizes revenue from an arrangement when control of such product is transferred to the
commercial partner, which is typically upon delivery. In these situations, the performance obligation is
satisfied when product is delivered to the Company’s commercial partner. Licensing revenue is recognized
in the period in which the product subject to the sublicensing arrangement is sold by the Company to its
commercial partner. Sales deductions, such as returns on product sales, government program rebates,
price adjustments, and prompt pay discounts in regard to licensing revenue is generally the responsibility
of the Company’s commercial partners and not recorded by the Company.
Freight—The Company records amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling as revenue, and
records shipping and handling expenses related to product sales as cost of goods sold. The Company
accounts for shipping and handling activities related to contracts with customers as costs to fulfill the
promise to transfer the associated products. When shipping and handling costs are incurred after a
customer obtains control of the products, the Company also has elected to account for these as costs to
fulfill the promise and not as a separate performance obligation.
Chargebacks—The Company enters into contractual agreements with certain third parties such as retailers,
hospitals, and group-purchasing organizations (“GPOs”) to sell certain products at predetermined prices.
Similarly, the Company maintains an allowance for rebates and discounts related to chargebacks,
wholesaler fees for service contracts, GPO administrative fees, government programs, prompt payment and
other adjustments with certain customers. Most of the parties have elected to have these contracts
administered through wholesalers that buy the product from the Company and subsequently sell it to these
third parties. As noted elsewhere, these wholesalers represent a significant percentage of the Company’s
gross sales. When a wholesaler sells products to one of these third parties that are subject to a contractual
price agreement, the difference between the price paid to the Company by the wholesaler and the price
under the specific contract is charged back to the Company by the wholesaler. Utilizing this information, the
Company estimates a chargeback percentage for each product and records an allowance as a reduction to
gross sales when the Company records its sale of the products. The Company reduces the chargeback
allowance when a chargeback request from a wholesaler is processed. The Company’s provision for
chargebacks is fully reserved for at the time when sales revenues are recognized.
The Company obtains product inventory reports from major wholesalers to aid in analyzing the
reasonableness of the chargeback allowance and to monitor whether wholesaler inventory levels do not
significantly exceed customer demand. The Company assesses the reasonableness of its chargeback
allowance by applying a product chargeback percentage that is based on a combination of historical activity
and current price and mix expectations to the quantities of inventory on hand at the wholesalers according
to wholesaler inventory reports. In addition, the Company estimates the percentage of gross sales that were
generated through direct and indirect sales channels and the percentage of contract vs. non-contract
revenue in the period, as these each affect the estimated reserve calculation. In accordance with its
accounting policy, the Company estimates the percentage amount of wholesaler inventory that will
ultimately be sold to third parties that are subject to contractual price agreements based on a trend of such
sales through wholesalers. The Company uses this percentage estimate until historical trends indicate that
a revision should be made. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its actual chargeback rate
experience, and new trends are factored into its estimates each quarter as market conditions change.
The Company ensures that chargebacks are reasonable through review of contractual obligations, historical
trends and evaluation of recent activity. Furthermore, other events that could materially alter chargebacks
include: changes in product pricing as a result of competitive market dynamics or negotiations with
customers, changes in demand for specific products due to external factors such as competitor supply
position or consumer preferences, customer shifts in buying patterns from direct to indirect through
wholesalers, which could either individually or in aggregate increase or decrease the chargebacks
depending on the direction and trend of the change(s).
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Commercial Rebates—The Company maintains an allowance for commercial rebates that it has in place
with certain customers. Commercial rebates vary by product and by volume purchased by each eligible
customer. The Company tracks sales by product number for each eligible customer and then applies the
applicable commercial rebate percentage, using both historical trends and actual experience to estimate its
commercial rebates. The Company reduces gross sales and increases the commercial rebates allowance
by the estimated commercial rebates when the Company sells its products to eligible customers. The
Company reduces the commercial rebate allowance when it processes a customer request for a rebate. At
each month end, the Company analyzes the allowance for commercial rebates against actual rebates
processed and makes necessary adjustments as appropriate. The Company’s provision for commercial
rebates is fully reserved for at the time when sales revenues are recognized.
The allowance for commercial rebates takes into consideration price adjustments which are credits issued
to reflect increases or decreases in the invoice or contract prices of the Company’s products. In the case of
a price decrease, a credit is given for products remaining in customer’s inventories at the time of the price
reduction. Contractual price protection results in a similar credit when the invoice or contract prices of the
Company’s products increase, effectively allowing customers to purchase products at previous prices for a
specified period of time. Amounts recorded for estimated shelf-stock adjustments and price protections are
based upon specified terms with direct customers, estimated changes in market prices, and estimates of
inventory held by customers. The Company regularly monitors these and other factors and evaluates the
reserve as additional information becomes available. The Company ensures that commercial rebates are
reasonable through review of contractual obligations, review of historical trends and evaluation of recent
activity. Furthermore, other events that could materially alter commercial rebates include: changes in
product pricing as a result of competitive market dynamics or negotiations with customers, changes in
demand for specific products due to external factors such as competitor supply position or consumer
preferences, customer shifts in buying patterns from direct to indirect through wholesalers, which could
either individually or in aggregate increase or decrease the commercial rebates depending on the direction
and velocity of the change(s).
Product Returns—Certain of the Company’s products are sold with the customer having the right to return
the product within specified periods. Estimated return accruals are made at the time of sale based upon
historical experience. Historical factors such as one-time recall events as well as pending new
developments like comparable product approvals or significant pricing movement that may impact the
expected level of returns are taken into account monthly to determine the appropriate accrued expense. As
part of the evaluation of the liability required, the Company considers actual returns to date that are in
process, the expected impact of any product recalls and the amount of wholesaler’s inventory to assess the
magnitude of unconsumed product that may result in product returns to the Company in the future. The
product returns level can be impacted by factors such as overall market demand and market competition
and availability for substitute products which can increase or decrease the pull through for sales of the
Company’s products and ultimately impact the level of product returns. Product returns are fully reserved
for at the time when sales revenues are recognized.
The Company ensures that product returns are reasonable through review of historical trends and
evaluation of recent activity. Furthermore, other events that could materially alter product returns include:
acquisitions and integration activities that consolidate dissimilar contract terms and could impact the return
rate as typically the Company purchases smaller entities with less contracting power and integrates those
product sales to Company contracts; and consumer demand shifts by products, which could either increase
or decrease the product returns depending on the product or products specifically demanded and ultimately
returned.
Accrual for Promotions and Co-Pay Discount Cards—From time to time the Company authorizes various
retailers to run in-store promotional sales of its products. The Company accrues an estimate of the dollar
amount expected to be owed back to the retailer. Additionally, the Company provides consumer co-pay
discount cards, administered through outside agents to provide discounted products when redeemed. Upon
release of the cards into the market, the Company records an estimate of the dollar value of co-pay
discounts expected to be utilized taking into consideration historical experience.
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Government Program Rebates—Federal law requires that a pharmaceutical distributor, as a condition of
having federal funds being made available to the States for the manufacturer’s drugs under Medicaid and
Medicare Part B, must enter into a rebate agreement to pay rebates to state Medicaid programs for the
distributor’s covered outpatient drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries and paid for by a state
Medicaid program under a fee-for-service arrangement. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
(“CMS”) are responsible for administering the Medicaid rebate agreements between the federal government
and pharmaceutical manufacturers. Rebates are also due on the utilization of Medicaid managed care
organizations (“MMCOs”). The Company also pays rebates to managed care organizations (“MCOs”) for
the reimbursement of a portion of the sales price of prescriptions filled that are covered by the respective
plans. The liability for Medicaid, Medicare, and other government program rebates is settled in cash and is
estimated at the time when sales revenues are recognized based on historical and current rebate
redemption and utilization rates contractually submitted by each state’s program administrator and
assumptions regarding future government program utilization for each product sold; and accordingly
recorded as a reduction of product sales.
Business Combinations—The Company accounts for its business combinations under the provisions of
ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”), which requires that the purchase method of
accounting be used for all business combinations. Assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, are recorded
at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. Amounts allocated to acquire IPR&D are capitalized
at the date of an acquisition and are not amortized. As products in development are approved for sale,
amounts are allocated to product rights and licenses and amortized over their estimated useful lives.
Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the expected life of the asset. Any excess of the purchase
price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of the tangible net assets and intangible
assets acquired in a business combination. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately from
business combinations and are expensed as incurred. If the business combination provides for contingent
consideration, the Company records the contingent consideration at fair value at the acquisition date.
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration resulting from events after the acquisition date, such as
earn-outs, are recognized as follows: 1) if the contingent consideration is classified as equity, the contingent
consideration is not re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity, or 2) if the
contingent consideration is classified as a liability, the changes in fair value are recognized in earnings.
Purchases of developed products and licenses that are accounted for as an asset acquisition are capitalized
as intangible assets and amortized over an estimated useful life. IPR&D assets acquired as part of an asset
acquisition are expensed immediately if they have no alternative future uses.
In-Process Research and Development—In-process research and development represent the fair value
assigned to incomplete research projects that the Company acquires through business combinations or
developed internally which, at that time, have not reached technological feasibility. Intangible assets
associated with IPR&D projects are not amortized until regulatory approval is obtained and product is
launched, subject to certain specified conditions and management judgment. The useful life of an amortizing
asset generally is determined by identifying the period in which substantially all of the cash flows are
expected to be generated. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, $19.7 million and $7.6
million, respectively, of IPR&D was transferred to Product Rights as the products in development are
approved for sale and placed into service (see Note 10). Such amounts will be amortized over their
respectful estimated useful lives of 7 and 10 years. At that time an evaluation of fair value was performed
immediately prior to such transfer and no impairments were recognized at that time.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Research and Development Costs—Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. These
expenses include the costs of proprietary efforts, as well as costs incurred in connection with certain
licensing arrangements. Upfront payments are recorded when incurred, and milestone payments are
recorded when the specific milestone has been achieved.
Advertising—Advertising expense consists primarily of print media promotional materials. Advertising costs
are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
amounted to $8.5 million and $6.2 million, respectively.
Share-based Compensation—The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for all options
and other arrangements within the scope of ASC 718, Stock Compensation. Share-based compensation
expense is measured at the date of grant, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized using the
straight-line method over the employee’s requisite service period. Compensation for share-based awards
with vesting conditions other than service are recognized at the time that those conditions will be achieved.
Forfeitures are recognized as they are incurred.
Income Taxes—Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Where applicable, the Company records a
valuation allowance to reduce any deferred tax assets that it determines will not be realizable in the future.
The Company recognizes the benefit of an uncertain tax position that it has taken or expects to take on
income tax returns it files if such tax position is more likely than not to be sustained on examination by the
taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. These tax benefits are measured based on
the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution.
Comprehensive income (loss)—Comprehensive income (loss) refers to revenues, expenses, gains and
losses that under U.S. GAAP are included in comprehensive loss but are excluded from net loss as these
amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The
Company’s other comprehensive loss is comprised of foreign currency translation adjustments.
Basic and Diluted Loss per Share—Basic and diluted net loss per share is determined by dividing net loss
by the weighted average ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For all periods presented with a net
loss, the shares underlying the common share options have been excluded from the calculation because
their effect would have been anti-dilutive. Therefore, the weighted average shares outstanding used to
calculate both basic and diluted loss per share are the same for periods with a net loss.
Segment Reporting—The Company operates in one business segment which focuses on developing and
commercializing pharmaceutical products that target markets with underserved patient populations. The
chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) reviews profit and loss information on a consolidated basis to
assess performance and make overall operating decisions. The consolidated financial statements reflect
the financial results of the Company’s one reportable operating segment. The Company has no significant
revenues or tangible assets outside of the United States.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASC Topic 606, which, along with amendments issued in 2015, 2016 and
2017, supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition (ASC
Topic 605), including most industry-specific revenue recognition guidance throughout the Industry Topics
of the Accounting Standards Codification. ASC Topic 606 provides a comprehensive new revenue
recognition model that requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services
to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods
or services. On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the new revenue recognition standard for all
contracts not completed as of the adoption date using the modified retrospective method. The
implementation of the new revenue recognition standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10):
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. The accounting standard
primarily affects the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and
the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial instruments. In addition, it includes a clarification
related to the valuation allowance assessment when recognizing deferred tax assets resulting from
unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities. The accounting guidance is effective for annual
reporting periods (including interim periods within those periods) beginning after December 15, 2017. The
Company adopted ASU 2016-01 as of January 1, 2018, and there was no material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements resulting from the adoption of this guidance.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. ASU 2016-15 eliminates the diversity in practice related to the
classification of certain cash receipts and payments for debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, the
maturing of a zero-coupon bond, the settlement of contingent liabilities arising from a business combination,
proceeds from insurance settlements, distributions from certain equity method investees and beneficial
interests obtained in a financial asset securitization. ASU 2016-15 designates the appropriate cash flow
classification, including requirements to allocate certain components of these cash receipts and payments
among operating, investing and financing activities. The Company adopted this standard on January 1,
2018 and adoption did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets
Other Than Inventory, ASU 2016-16 requires recognition of the current and deferred income tax effects of
an intra-entity asset transfer, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs, which requires companies to
defer the income tax effects of intra-entity asset transfers until the asset has been sold to an outside party.
The income tax effects of intra-entity inventory transfers will continue to be deferred until the inventory is
sold. The standard was required to be adopted on a modified retrospective basis with a cumulative-effect
adjustment recorded to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. The Company
adopted this standard on January 1, 2018. As a result, there was an increase to Partner’s capital and a
decrease to Other long-term liabilities in the amount of $1.0 million.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718). This
standard requires that an entity must apply modification accounting to changes in the terms or conditions
of a share-based payment award unless all of the following criteria are met: (1) the fair value of the modified
award is the same as the fair value of the original award immediately before the modification provided that
if the modification does not affect any of the inputs to the valuation technique used to value the award, the
entity is not required to estimate the value immediately before and after the modification; (2) the vesting
conditions of the modified award are the same as the vesting conditions of the original award immediately
before the modification; and (3) the classification of the modified award as an equity instrument or a liability
instrument is the same as the classification of the original award immediately before the modification. The
Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2018 and there was no impact to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-05, Income Taxes (Topic 740) — Amendments to SEC
Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“ASU 2018-05”). This standard amends
Accounting Standards Codification 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) to provide guidance on accounting for
the tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax Act) pursuant to Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118,
which allows companies to complete the accounting under ASC 740 within a one-year measurement period
from the Tax Act enactment date. The amendments are effective upon addition to the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification. This standard was effective upon issuance. The Company has evaluated the impact
from the Tax Cut and Jobs Act pursuant to SAB 118.
The FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” in February 2016 and subsequent ASUs in 2018 and
2019 (collectively referred to as “Topic 842”) on the treatment of leases, which guidance is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and early adoption is permitted. Under Topic
842, lessees will be required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of short-term
leases) at the commencement date: 1) a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease
payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis, and 2) a right-of-use asset, which is an
asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term.
Entities are allowed to apply Topic 842 using a modified retrospective transition either 1) retrospectively to
each reporting period presented in the financial statements with the cumulative effect adjustment
recognized at the beginning of the earliest comparative period; or 2) retrospectively at the beginning of the
period of adoption through a cumulative-effective adjustment. The modified retrospective approach includes
a number of optional practical expedients that entities may elect to apply.
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Topic 842 using the modified retrospective basis with a
cumulative-effect adjustment at the beginning of the period of adoption and therefore did not revise prior
period information or disclosure. Further, the Company elected the package of practical expedients upon
transition that allows the Company not to reassess the lease classification for expired and existing leases,
whether initial direct costs qualify for capitalization for any expired or existing leases or whether any expired
contracts are or contain leases. The adoption of Topic 842 resulted in the recognition of operating leases
and lease liabilities of approximately $6.2 million on the consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2019.
The operating leases and lease liabilities primarily related to real estate leases.
The impact of the adoption of Topic 842 on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as
of January 1, 2019 was as follows (in thousands):

Operating lease assets
Deferred rent liability
Current portion of lease liability
Long-term portion of lease liability

December 31,
2018
$
—
201
—
—

Adoption
adjustment
$
6,245
(201)
1,709
4,536

January 1, 2019
$
6,044
—
1,709
4,536

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income
(Topic 220) — Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.
This standard allows a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings
for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and requires certain disclosures about
stranded tax effects. This standard was effective for the Company for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2018 and was required to be applied either in the period of adoption or retrospectively. This
standard was adopted as of January 1, 2019 and there was no material impact to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which introduces a new methodology for
accounting for credit losses on financial instruments, including available-for-sale debt securities. The
guidance establishes a new “expected loss model” that requires entities to estimate current expected credit
losses on financial instruments by using all practical and relevant information. Any expected credit losses
are to be reflected as allowances rather than reductions in the amortized cost of available-for-sale debt
securities. Early adoption is permitted for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim
periods therein. The Company has evaluated this new accounting standard and determined there was no
material impact upon adoption on January 1, 2020.

3

Revenues
The Company’s performance obligations are to provide its pharmaceutical products based upon purchase
orders from distributors. The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time, typically upon delivery,
when the customer obtains control of the pharmaceutical product. The Company invoices its customers
after the products have been delivered and invoice payments are generally due within 30 to 60 days of
invoice date.
The following table disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by pharmaceutical products (in
thousands):

Pharmaceutical Product
Venlafaxine ER
Methylphenidate ER
Lorzone
Divigel
OB Complete
Other
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
License and contract revenue
Total revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
75,601
66,039
73,205
129,469
15,004
17,172
26,794
23,314
9,851
10,510
35,017
14,894
235,472
261,398
3,641
1,959
918
344
240,031
263,701

When the Company receives consideration from a customer, or such consideration is unconditionally due
from a customer prior to the transfer of products to the customer under the terms of a contract, the Company
records a contract liability. The Company classifies contract liabilities as deferred revenue. The Company
had no deferred revenue as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. Upon adoption of ASC Topic 606, the
Company did not have any contract assets or liabilities. The Company has elected to apply the exemption
under paragraph 606-10-50-14(a) related to remaining performance obligations as all open purchase orders
are expected to be satisfied with a period of one year from the date of the purchase order.
Contract assets primarily relate to rights to consideration for goods or services transferred to the customer
when the right is conditional on something other than the passage of time. Contract assets are transferred
to accounts receivable when the rights become unconditional. The Company had no contract assets as of
December 31, 2019. The Company has no costs to obtain or fulfill contracts meeting the capitalization
criteria under ASC Topic 340, Other Assets and Deferred Costs.
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Income Taxes
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Limited)
is an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on
April 30, 2018 for the purpose of facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On
October 22, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”).
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc being the direct parent of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. is a Luxembourg special limited partnership, formed on
January 28, 2016. Osmotica Holdings US LLC, a subsidiary of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. entered into a
fifty‑fifty partnership (the “Merger”), effective February 3, 2016, pursuant to a definitive agreement between
Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC (“Vertical/Trigen”) and members, and Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited and
Subsidiaries. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and several other holding companies and partnerships were
formed as a result of the Merger. Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC became a wholly-owned subsidiary of certain
U.S. corporations that are directly or indirectly owned by Osmotica Holdings U.S. LLC. These subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements and are designated as C Corp filers for U.S. tax
purposes. As such, the activity of Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC is subject to federal income tax at the level
of its U.S. corporate parents beginning in 2016. In addition, the Company’s foreign entities are subject to
income tax in various foreign jurisdictions.
The Company follows the Income Taxes topic of ASC 740, which prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute criteria for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, as well as guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The loss before income taxes and
the related tax benefit are as follows (in thousands):
December 31, December 31,
2019
2018
Restated
$
$
Loss before income taxes
U.S. operations
140,664
52,759
Non-U.S. operations
157,358
65,905
Total loss before income taxes
298,022
118,664
Current provision
Federal
(1,387)
(2,903)
State
292
(1,538)
Foreign
(791)
(2,089)
Total current tax expenses
(1,886)
(6,530)
Deferred benefit
Federal
15,396
7,828
State
712
4,005
Foreign
12,899
3,680
Total deferred tax benefit
29,007
15,513
Total benefit for income taxes
27,121
8,983
A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively are as follows:
December 31,
2019
Federal tax at 21% statutory rate
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit
Differences in tax effects on foreign income
Federal tax credits
Uncertain tax positions — interest & penalties
Change in valuation allowance
Permanent adjustments
Other
Effective tax rate

21.00 %
0.91 %
(6.43)%
0.59 %
0.04 %
(7.02)%
0.00 %
0.01 %
9.10 %

December 31,
2018
Restated
21.00 %
1.68 %
(10.08)%
4.54 %
0.13 %
0.00 %
(8.46)%
(1.24)%
7.57 %
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Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of the differences between the amounts recorded as assets and
liabilities for financial statement purposes and the comparable amounts recorded for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively
are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2019
$
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable
Accrued expenses
Inventory
Investment in partnership
Net operating losses
Operating lease liabilities
Tax credits
Share compensation
Other
Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses
Property plant & equipment
Operating lease assets
Intangible assets
Total deferred income taxes

December 31,
2018
Restated
$

31
9,535
243
8,696
2,627
1,121
3,249
1,399
1,685
(21,216)

44
12,640
491
9,537
2,820
—
4,617
439
1,229
(298)

(689)
(3,252)
(1,115)
(3,814)
(1,500)

(828)
(3,002)
—
(55,983)
(28,294)

Included in the deferred tax balances above is a net deferred tax asset of $4.6 million and deferred tax
liability of $30.3 million, respectively for 2019 and 2018 related to the assets and liabilities in Vertical/Trigen
Holdings, LLC, which is a partnership for Federal income tax purposes. The Company owns in aggregate
100% of Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC and the assets and liabilities of this entity are included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a federal net operating loss carryover of $2.2 million
and $3.3 million, respectively and net operating loss carryovers in certain foreign tax jurisdictions of
approximately $9.9 million and $22.4 million, respectively which will begin to expire in 2022. At
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had total tax credit carryovers of approximately $4.5 million
and $4.6 million primarily consisting of Federal Orphan Drug Tax Credit carryovers. These credit carryovers
begin to expire in 2037. The Company assesses the realizability of the deferred tax assets at each balance
sheet date based on actual and forecasted operating results in order to determine the proper amount, if
any, required for a valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company maintains
valuation allowances on deferred tax assets applicable to entities in the United States and foreign
jurisdictions for which separate income tax returns are filed, where realization of the related deferred tax
assets from future profitable operations is not reasonably assured. In 2019, the valuation allowance
increased by $21.0 million.
The Company files income tax returns in U.S. federal, state and certain international jurisdictions. For
federal and certain state income tax purposes, the Company's 2014 through 2018 tax years remain open
for examination by the tax authorities under the normal statute of limitations. For certain international income
tax purposes, the Company's 2010 through 2018 tax years remain open for examination by the tax
authorities under the normal statute of limitations.
No provision is made for foreign withholding or income taxes associated with the cumulative undistributed
earnings of the foreign subsidiaries. The cumulative undistributed earnings, if any, are expected to be
reinvested in working capital and other business needs indefinitely. Any future foreign withholding or income
taxes associated with the undistributed earnings are not anticipated to be material.

95

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4

Income Taxes - continued
A reconciliation was completed of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits,
excluding accrued interest, for December 31, 2019 and 2018. It is not anticipated that the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will materially change in the next 12 months. If recognized, the total amount of
unrecognized benefits of $2.7 million would have no impact on the effective tax rate. (The following amounts
are presented in thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits beginning balance
Additions related to current period tax positions
Unrecognized tax benefits ending balance

December 31,
2019
$
2,218
459
2,677

December 31,
2018
$
1,647
571
2,218

The Company classifies interest expense related to unrecognized tax benefits as components of the tax
provision for income taxes. Interest and penalties recognized in the consolidated income statement as of
December 31, 2019 resulted in a decrease of $0.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and in an increase of
$0.1 million as of December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Company has recorded
accrued interest of $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

5

Loss per Ordinary Share
Basic net loss per ordinary share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of
shares of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per ordinary shares is computed
by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of ordinary shares and potentially dilutive
outstanding shares of ordinary shares during the period to reflect the potential dilution that could occur from
ordinary shares issuable through contingent share arrangements, share options and warrants.
The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted
average shares and units outstanding as they would have been anti-dilutive at December 31, 2019 and
2018:

Restricted stock units
Options to purchase ordinary shares
Shares to be purchased through employee stock purchase plan

6

Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
—
—
3,093,786
3,193,072
29,550
—

Accounts Receivable, Sales and Allowances
The nature of the Company’s business inherently involves, in the ordinary course, significant amounts and
substantial volumes of transactions and estimates relating to allowances for product returns, chargebacks,
rebates, doubtful accounts and discounts given to customers. This is typical of the pharmaceutical industry
and not necessarily specific to the Company. Depending on the product, the end-user customer, the specific
terms of national supply contracts and the particular arrangements with the Company’s wholesale
customers, certain rebates, chargebacks and other credits are deducted from the Company’s accounts
receivable. The process of claiming these deductions depends on wholesalers reporting to the Company
the amount of deductions that were earned under the terms of the respective agreement with the end-user
customer (which in turn depends on the specific end-user customer, each having its own pricing
arrangement, which entitles it to a particular deduction). This process can lead to partial payments against
outstanding invoices as the wholesalers take the claimed deductions at the time of payment.
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Accounts Receivable, Sales and Allowances - continued
Accounts receivable result primarily from sales of pharmaceutical products, amounts due under revenue
sharing, license and royalty arrangements, which inherently involves, in the ordinary course of business,
estimates relating to allowances for product returns, chargebacks, rebates, doubtful accounts and discounts
given to customers. Credit is extended based on the customer’s financial condition, and, generally, collateral
is not required. The Company ages its accounts receivable using the corresponding sale date of the
transaction and considers accounts past due based on terms agreed upon in the transaction, which is
generally 30 to 60 days for branded and generic sales, depending on the customer and the products
purchased.
With the exception of the provision for doubtful accounts, which is reflected as part of selling, general and
administrative expense, the provisions for the following customer reserves are reflected as a reduction of
revenues in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Trade accounts receivable, net consists of the following (in thousands):

Gross trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable
Royalty accounts receivable
Other receivable
Less reserves for:
Chargebacks
Commercial rebates
Discounts and allowances
Doubtful accounts
Total trade accounts receivable, net

December 31,
2019
$

December 31,
2018
$

70,958
702
2,186

146,420
239
1,562

(14,624)
(13,579)
(1,591)
(138)
43,914

(38,861)
(49,232)
(3,510)
(194)
56,424

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded the following adjustments to
gross product sales (in thousands):

Gross product sales
Less provisions for:
Chargebacks
Government and managed care rebates
Commercial rebates
Product returns
Discounts and allowances
Advertising and promotions
Net product sales

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
764,267
948,561
(345,366)
(20,092)
(147,173)
3,932
(15,719)
(4,377)
235,472

(365,043)
(18,582)
(257,917)
(20,492)
(20,246)
(4,883)
261,398
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For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the activity in the Company’s allowance for customer
deductions against trade accounts receivable is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2017
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2018
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2019

Chargebacks
$
32,342
365,043
(358,524)
38,861
345,366
(369,603)
14,624

Commercial
Rebates
$
39,233
257,917
(247,918)
49,232
147,173
(182,826)
13,579

Discounts
and
Allowances
$
3,485
20,246
(20,221)
3,510
15,719
(17,638)
1,591

Doubtful
Accounts
$
2,081
(1,771)
(116)
194
(190)
134
138

Total
$
77,141
641,435
(626,779)
91,797
508,068
(569,933)
29,932

The annual activity in the Company’s accrued liabilities for customer deductions by account for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2017
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2018
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2019

Product
Returns
$
43,299
20,492
(15,327)
48,464
(3,932)
(11,075)
33,457

Government and
Managed Care
Rebates
$
14,152
18,582
(22,753)
9,981
20,092
(25,206)
4,867

Total
$
57,451
39,074
(38,080)
58,445
16,160
(36,281)
38,324

Provisions and utilizations of provisions activity in the current period which relate to the prior period revenues
are not provided because to do so would be impracticable. The Company's current systems and processes
do not capture the chargeback and rebate settlements by the period in which the original sales transaction
was recorded. The Company uses a combination of factors and applications to estimate the dollar amount
of reserves for chargebacks and rebates at each month end. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized is
not probable of occurring when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Company regularly monitors the reserves based on an analysis of the Company’s product
sales and most recent claims, wholesaler inventory, current pricing, and anticipated future pricing changes.
If amounts are different from the estimate due to changes from estimated rates, accrual rate adjustments
are considered prospectively when determining provisions in accordance with authoritative U.S. GAAP.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, adjustments due to changes in estimates were necessary based
on actual product returns experience, resulting in a decrease of $25.3 million, to the product returns reserve
and a corresponding benefit to the net product sales recognized.
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7

Inventories
The components of inventories, net of allowances, are as follows (in thousands):

Finished goods
Work in process
Raw materials and supplies

December 31,
2019
$
15,319
778
5,208
21,305

December 31,
2018
$
15,577
1,139
7,667
24,383

The Company maintains an allowance for excess and obsolete inventory, as well as inventory where its
cost is in excess of its net realizable value. The activity in the allowance for excess and obsolete inventory
account for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, was as follows (in thousands):

Balance at beginning of period
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at end of period

December 31,
2019
$
1,561
2,322
(2,814)
1,069

December 31,
2018
$
3,067
2,926
(4,432)
1,561
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8

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

Cost
At December 31, 2018
Disposals
Transfers
Additions
At December 31, 2019
Accumulated depreciation
At December 31, 2018
Disposals
Charge for financial year
At December 31, 2019

Land

Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Machinery

Furniture
and fixtures

Computer
hardware

$

$

$

$

$

$

2,120
2,120

11,568
75
11,643

2,109
(50)
1,364
3,423

13,852
(263)
2,445
16,034

1,447
(65)
6
1,388

6,984
(63)
1,543
44
8,508

(1,520)
(645)
(2,165)

(1,097)
8
(368)
(1,457)

(4,752)
255
(1,829)
(6,326)

(298)
10
(143)
(431)

(2,569)
30
(1,374)
(3,913)

-

Construction
work-inprogress
$

3,419
(535)
(5,433)
3,963
1,414

-

Total

$

41,499
(976)
4,007
44,530

(10,236)
303
(4,359)
(14,292)

Net book values
At December 31, 2018

2,120

10,048

1,012

9,100

1,149

4,415

3,419

31,263

At December 31, 2019

2,120

9,478

1,966

9,708

957

4,595

1,414

30,238

Depreciation expense was $4.4 million and $4.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. There is approximately $1.9 million of remaining construction
in progress expenditures to substantially complete the projects.
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9

Operating lease assets
Operating lease assets consist of the following (in thousands):
Operating
lease
assets
$

Total

6,044
(423)
1,432
7,053

6,044
(423)
1,432
7,053

(2,070)
(2,070)

(2,070)
(2,070)

Net book values
At December 31, 2018

-

-

At December 31, 2019

4,983

4,983

Cost
At January 1, 2019 (transition adjustment)
Disposals
Additions
At December 31, 2019
Accumulated Amortisation
At January 1, 2019
Charge for financial year
At December 31, 2019

$

10 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company tests goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually as of October 1st,
or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.
As further described below, in December 2018, changes in events and circumstances made it more likely
than not goodwill had been impaired. As a result we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $86.3
million. The following table sets forth the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31, 2017, 2018 and
2019, respectively (in thousands).

December 31, 2017
Impairments
December 31, 2018
Impairments
December 31, 2019

Goodwill
$
187,173
(86,318)
100,855
—
100,855
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10 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets - continued
The following tables sets forth the major categories of the Company’s intangible assets and the
weighted-average remaining amortization period as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, for those assets that
are not already fully amortized (in thousands):
December 31, 2019

Distribution Rights
Product Rights
Tradenames
Developed Technology
IPR&D

Gross
Carrying
Amount
$
98,433
348,600
13,485
125,461
64,000
649,979

Accumulated
Amortization
$
(22,291)
(152,348)
(3,035)
(34,572)
—
(212,246)

Impairment
$
(64,719)
(146,033)
—
(72,995)
—
(283,747)

Net
Carrying
Amount
$
11,423
50,219
10,450
17,894
64,000
153,986

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Amortization
Period
(Years)
$
10.1
3.1
15.0
10.9
Indefinite Lived

The gross carrying amount of $28.3 million and $10.4 million of accumulated amortization for assets that
have been fully impaired in the table above is inclusive as of December 31, 2019.
December 31, 2018

Distribution Rights
Product Rights
Tradenames
Developed Technology
IPR&D

Gross
Carrying
Amount
$
98,433
326,530
13,485
138,134
91,300
667,882

Accumulated
Amortization
$
(17,229)
(109,057)
(2,329)
(30,974)
—
(159,589)

Impairment
$
—
—
—
(10,303)
(7,600)
(17,903)

Net
Carrying
Amount
$
81,204
217,473
11,156
96,857
83,700
490,390

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Amortization
Period (Years)
12.0
4.0
16.0
12.6
Indefinite Lived

The gross carrying amount of $17.9 million and $6.2 million of accumulated amortization for assets that
have been fully impaired in the table above is inclusive as of December 31, 2018.
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10 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets - continued
Changes in intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019, were as
follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2017
Amortization
Impairments
December 31, 2018
Amortization
Impairments
Reclassifications(A)
December 31, 2019
(A)

Distribution
Rights
$
88,543
(7,339)
—
81,204
(5,062)
(64,719)
—
11,423

Product
Rights
$
276,628
(59,155)
—
217,473
(40,921)
(146,033)
19,700
50,219

Tradenames
$
11,862
(706)
—
11,156
(706)
—
—
10,450

Developed
Technology
$
117,056
(9,896)
(10,303)
96,857
(5,968)
(72,995)
—
17,894

IPR&D
$
91,300
—
(7,600)
83,700
—
—
(19,700)
64,000

Total
$
585,389
(77,096)
(17,903)
490,390
(52,657)
(283,747)
—
153,986

IPR&D in the amount of $19.7 million related to Osmolex ER was reclassified to Product Rights in the
first quarter of 2019 when the product was launched. Osmolex ER was fully impaired during the
second quarter of 2019.

As part of the Company’s goodwill and intangible asset impairment assessments and when IPR&D assets
are put into service, the Company estimates the fair values of the intangible assets using an income
approach that utilizes a discounted cash flow model, or, where appropriate, a market approach. The
discounted cash flow models are dependent upon our estimates of future cash flows and other factors.
These estimates of future cash flows involve assumptions concerning (i) future operating performance,
including future sales, long-term growth rates, operating margins, variations in the amounts, allocation and
timing of cash flows and the probability of achieving the estimated cash flows and (ii) future economic
conditions. These assumptions are based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus
represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. The discount rates applied to the estimated
cash flows for the Company’s October 1, 2019 and 2018 annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets impairment test ranged from 16.5% to 14.0%, respectively, depending on the overall risk associated
with the particular assets and other market factors. The Company believes the discount rates and other
inputs and assumptions are consistent with those that a market participant would use. Impairment charges
resulting from annual or interim goodwill and intangible asset impairment assessments, if any, are recorded
to Impairment of intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
In December 2018, we determined that, subsequent to our annual impairment testing, circumstances and
events related to pricing on certain of our generic assets together with our decision to discontinue
commercialization of a developed technology asset, and discontinue development of an IPR&D asset, made
it more likely than not that goodwill had become impaired. As a result, we performed an assessment of
goodwill as of December 31, 2018. Based on the results of this assessment, it was determined that the
carrying value of goodwill exceeded its fair value by approximately $86.3 million and an impairment charge
was recognized for the year end December 31, 2018. There was no impairment charge recognized for the
year end December 31, 2019.
During 2019, we recognized impairments of finite-lived intangible assets of $283.7 million, consisting
primarily of write-downs to fair value of methylphenidate ER, VERT, Osmolex ER, and Corvite of $128.1
million, $137.7 million, $17.7 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. Methylphenidate ER tablets and VERT
were impaired due to lower revenues reflecting an increasingly competitive environment which deteriorated
pricing and volumes; Osmolex ER was impaired due to underperforming revenue expectations subsequent
to the launch of the product; and Corvite due to the discontinuation of the product. In the third and fourth
quarter of 2019 we recognized an impairment of finite-lived development technology and distribution rights
for VERT of $73.0 million and $64.7 million, respectively, due to approvals of competing products which
deteriorated pricing and volumes.
Amortization expense was $52.7 million and $77.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively.
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10 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets - continued
The amortization expense of acquired intangible assets for each of the following five years are expected
to be as follows (in thousands):
Amortization
Expense
$
17,450
17,161
12,685
11,805
10,682
20,203
89,986

Years ending December 31
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

11 Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

Accrued product returns
Accrued royalties
Accrued compensation
Accrued government and managed care rebates
Accrued research and development
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Customer coupons
Deferred revenue
Less amounts classified as provision for liabilities
Total

December 31,
2019
$
33,457
3,649
10,998
4,867
3,028
8,477
777
—
65,253
(38,324)
26,929

December 31,
2018
$
48,464
3,598
8,673
9,981
8,338
7,363
719
101
87,237
(58,445)
28,792

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contractual agreements with wholesalers
pursuant to which the wholesalers distribute sales of Company products to customers and provide sales
data to the Company. In return the wholesalers charge the Company a fee for services and other customary
rebates and chargebacks based on distribution sales of Company products through the wholesalers and
downstream customers.
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12 Financing Arrangements
The composition of the Company’s debt and financing obligations are as follows (in thousands):

CIT Bank, N.A. Term Loan, net of deferred financing costs of $3.4
million and $4.6 million
as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Note payable — insurance financing
Total debt and financing obligations
Less: current portion
Long-term debt

December 31,
2019
$

December 31,
2018
$

267,950
—
267,950
—
267,950

266,803
1,774
268,577
(1,774)
266,803

Term Loan
Concurrent with the closing of the Company's acquisition of Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited, the Company
entered into a $160.0 million Term Loan (the "Term Loan") pursuant to a Credit Agreement dated
February 3, 2016 (the "Term Loan Agreement") between the Company as borrower, certain other lenders
and CIT Bank, N.A. ("CIT Bank") acting as administrative agent. The Term Loan is secured by certain assets
of the Company, excluding certain intangibles and foreign property.
The Term Loan Agreement required quarterly principal repayments equal to 0.625% of the initial aggregate
Term Loan amount beginning on the last day of the first full fiscal quarter following the closing of the Term
Loan Agreement, with final payment of the remaining principal balance due at maturity six years from the
date of closing of the Term Loan Agreement. At the Company's election, interest accrues on a Prime
Rate/Federal Funds Effective Rate ("ABR Loan") or a LIBOR ("LIBOR Loan") rate, plus a margin of 4.00%
for ABR Loan, and 5.00% for LIBOR Loan. As of December 31, 2016, this rate was 6.00%.
The Third Amended Term Loan Agreement requires quarterly principal repayments to 0.6925% of the
original principal amount of the Term A Loan and in the case of the Term B Loan 0.25% of the original
principal amount of the Term B Loan, with final payment of the remaining principal balance due at maturity
five years from the date of closing of the Third Amended Term Loan Agreement.
At the Company's election, for the Term A Loan, interest accrues on a Prime Rate/Federal Funds Effective
Rate ("ABR Loan") or a LIBOR ("LIBOR Loan") rate in which the applicable rate per annum set forth below
under the caption "ABR Spread" or "LIBOR Rate Spread," based upon the Total Leverage Ratio (as defined
in the Third Amended Term Loan Agreement) as of last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter is as
follows:
Total Leverage Ratio
Category 1
Greater than 2.00 to 1.00
Category 2
Equal to or less than 2.00 to 1.00

LIBOR Rate Margin ABR Margin
3.75 %
2.75 %
3.25 %

2.25 %

For Term B Loan, interest accrues with respect to any ABR Loan, 3.25% per annum, and with respect to
any LIBOR Rate Loan, 4.25% per annum. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the interest rates were
5.79% and 6.09% for Term A Loan and 6.29% and 6.59% for Term B Loan, respectively.
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The Third Amended Term Loan Agreement contains covenants that require the Company to deliver
quarterly and annual financial statements along with certain supplementary financial information and
schedules and ratios. The Third Amended Term Loan Agreement also contains covenants that limit the
ability of the Company to, among other things: incur additional indebtedness; incur liens; make investments;
make payments on indebtedness; dispose of assets; enter into merger transactions; and make distributions.
In addition, the Company shall not permit the total leverage ratio to be greater than 4.75:1.00 until March
31, 2020 at which time the total leverage ratio remains constant at a required 4.50:1.00. The total leverage
ratio is the ratio, as of any date of determination, of (a) consolidated total debt, net of unrestricted cash and
cash equivalents as of such date to (b) consolidated adjusted earnings before income taxes, depreciation
and amortization ("Consolidated EBITDA") for the test period then most recently ended for which financial
statements have been delivered. Also, the Company will not permit the fixed charge coverage ratio to fall
below 1.25:1.0 beginning on March 31, 2018 through the final maturity date. The fixed charge coverage
ratio, as of the date of determination, is the ratio of (x) Consolidated EBITDA net of capital expenditures
and cash taxes paid to (y) interest payments, scheduled principal payments, restricted payments and
management fees paid to related parties. The Company obtained a waiver from CIT Bank in regard to its
non-compliance of its covenant to deliver annual financial statements by April 2, 2018. The Company did
not incur a waiver fee as a condition to the waiver. The Company was in compliance with all covenants of
the Third Amended Term Loan Agreement as of December 31, 2019.
On October 31, 2018, the Company used a portion of the proceeds resulting from the IPO on October 22,
2018 to repay $50.0 million in aggregate of the outstanding principal amount and $1.8 million of accrued
interest of indebtedness under the Company’s senior secured credit facilities.
The prepayments made on October 31, 2018 were as follows: (1) $42.3 million and $1.5 million on Term
Loan A outstanding principal and accrued interest, respectively, and (2) $7.7 million and $0.3 million on
Term Loan B outstanding principal and accrued interest respectively. The prepayments were made on a
pro rata basis which is consistent with the requirements of the Third Amendment. The prepayments were
applied to the remaining scheduled installments of principal due in respect of the Term Loans of such class
in direct order of maturity. As a result, there are no remaining scheduled installments of principal due in
respect of the Term Loans until the final maturity date. The Company will continue to make interest
payments accrued on the outstanding remaining balance through the date of maturity.
In accordance with ASC 470, when debt is prepaid within its contractual terms and the terms of the
remaining debt are not modified, the prepayment should be treated as a partial extinguishment rather than
a modification. This conclusion is reached without regard to consideration of the 10% cash flow test since
no change to terms of the original debt instrument was modified in connection with the prepayment. The
Third Agreement allows for partial prepayments without creating changes to the terms of Term Loan A or
Term Loan B.
The Company incurred debt issuance costs associated with the Third Amendment. Pursuant to ASC 83530-35-2, with respect to a note for which the imputation of interest is required, the difference between the
present value and the face amount shall be treated as a discount or premium and amortized as interest
expense or income over the life of the note in such a way as to result in a constant rate of interest when
applied to the amount outstanding at the beginning of any given period. As such, in accordance with ASC
835-30-35-2, the Company deferred and amortized the debt issuance costs amortized over the length of
the Term Loan using the effective interest method. The balance of the debt issuance costs as of the date
of the partial prepayment made on October 31, 2018 was $5.6.million.
As a result of the partial extinguishment, the Company has elected, as an accounting policy in accordance
with ASC 470-50-40-2, to write off a proportionate amount of the unamortized fees at the time that the
financing was partially settled in accordance with the terms of the Third Amendment. The unamortized debt
issuance costs are allocated between the remaining original loan balance and the portion of the loan paid
down on a pro-rata basis. At the time of repayment, the Company wrote off $0.9 million in debt issuance
costs and recorded the expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss.
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Revolving Facility
Concurrent with the closing of the Company's acquisition of Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited, the Company
entered into a Revolving Facility in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million (the "Revolving Facility") pursuant
to a Credit Agreement dated February 3, 2016 between the Company as borrower, certain other lenders
and CIT Bank, N.A. ("CIT Bank") acting as administrative agent, as discussed above. The Company
incurred closing costs associated with the Revolving Facility in the amount of $1.1 million, which were
deferred and amortized over the length of the Revolving Facility on a straight-line basis.
On December 21, 2017, the Company amended the Revolving Facility (the "Amended Revolving Facility").
Pursuant to the Amended Revolving Facility, CIT Bank and certain other lenders agreed to increase the
revolving credit commitments up to $50.0 million. The Company accounted for the Amended Revolving
Facility as a modification of debt in accordance with ASC 470-50, Debt — Modifications and
Extinguishments and ASU 2015-15, Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs
Associated with Line of Credit Arrangements. Lender fees incurred in the amount of $0.4 million were
deferred and are amortized over the length of the Amended Revolving Facility on a straight-line basis.
The total amount available under the Revolving Facility includes a Swingline Loan and Letter of Credit
subfacility, respectively, in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the lesser
of (x) in the case of each of the Swingline Loan and Letter of Credit, $5.0 million and (y) the total revolving
commitment, based on certain terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement.
The Company will be required to repay the Revolving Facility upon its expiration five years from issuance,
subject to permitted extension, and will pay interest on the outstanding balance monthly based, at the
Company's election, on an adjusted prime/federal funds rate ("ABR") or an adjusted LIBOR ("LIBOR"), in
which the applicable rate per annum set forth below under the caption "ABR Spread" or "LIBOR Rate
Spread," based upon the Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) as of last day of the
most recently ended fiscal quarter. Additionally, the Company will pay a Commitment Fee based on the
average daily unused revolving credit commitment. The LIBOR Rate Margin, the ABR Margin and
Commitment Fee are as follows:
Total Leverage Ratio
Category 1
Greater than 2.00 to 1.00
Category 2
Equal to or less than 2.00 to 1.00

LIBOR Rate Margin ABR Margin Commitment Fee
3.75 %
2.75 %
0.50 %
3.25 %

2.25 %

0.38 %

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no outstanding borrowings or outstanding letters of credit.
Availability under the Revolving Facility as of December 31, 2019, was $50.0 million.
Aggregated cumulative maturities of long-term obligations (including the incremental and existing Term
Loan and the Revolving Facility), excluding deferred financing costs of $3.4 million, as of December 31,
2019 were (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,
2020
2021
2022
Total

Maturities of Long-term
Obligations
$
—
—
271,360
271,360
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13 Leases
The Company leases office space in Bridgewater, New Jersey for its principal offices under two
non-cancelable leases that expire in July 2022 and November 2023, in addition to office and warehouse
space in various domestic and international locations. The Company also leases certain vehicles and
equipment under operating leases. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s operating leases had
remaining lease terms ranging from 0.6 years to 4.0 years and certain leases include renewal options to
extend the lease for up to 5 years.
We assess whether an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease at inception. For arrangements
considered leases or that contain a lease that is accounted for separately, we determine the classification
and initial measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease liability at the lease commencement date, which
is the date that the underlying asset becomes available for use. The Company has elected to account for
non-lease components associated with our leases and lease components as a single lease component.
The Company recognizes a right-of use asset, which represents the Company’s right to use the underlying
asset for the lease term, and a lease liability, which represents the present value of the Company’s
obligation to make payments arising over the lease term. The present value of the lease payments are
calculated using either the implicit interest rate in the lease or an incremental borrowing rate.
Our lease assets and liabilities were classified as follows on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December
31, 2019 (in thousands):

Leases
Assets
Operating
Finance
Total leased assets
Liabilities
Current
Operating
Finance
Non-current
Operating
Finance
Total lease liabilities

Balance at
December
31, 2019
$

Classification
Operating Lease Assets
Property, plant and equipment, net

4,983
188
5,171

Current portion of lease liability
Current portion of obligations under finance leases

2,062
127

Long-term portion of lease liability
Long-term portion of obligations under finance leases

3,116
44
5,349

The Company recognizes lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The components of
lease cost are as follows (in thousands):

Lease Cost
Operating lease cost

Finance lease cost
Amortization of leased assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Total lease cost

Classification
SG&A expenses
R&D expenses
Cost of goods sold

Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense

Year ended
December 31,
2019
$
1,926
139
366

130
4
2,565
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13 Leases - continued
Total rent expense charged to selling, general and administrative expenses was $1.9 million and $1.0 million
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Total rent expense charged to research
and development was $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The rent expense charged to cost of goods sold was $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The table below shows the future minimum rental payments, exclusive of taxes, insurance and other costs,
under the leases as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31
2020
2021
2022
2023
Total lease payments
Less: interest
Present value of lease payments

Operating Leases
$
2,285
1,892
929
490
5,596
418
5,178

The Company has future minimum lease payments required under the finance leases of $0.2 million less
interest expense of less than $0.1 million for total present value lease payments of $0.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2020 through December 31, 2022.
The weighted-average remaining lease term and the weighted-average discount rate of our leases were as
follows (in thousands):

Lease Term and Discount Rate
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Operating leases
Finance leases
Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases
Finance leases

Other Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

December 31,
2019
2.86
1.33

5.26 %
1.81 %

December 31,
2019
$
(2,431)
(4)
(130)

At December 31, 2018, the Company had $0.3 million of assets held under finance leases (net of
accumulated amortization of $0.1 million) included in property, plant and equipment.
Amortization of assets held under the finance lease is included in depreciation expense as a component of
selling, general and administrative expenses.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded $1.4 million of leased assets obtained in
exchange for new operating lease liabilities and less than $0.1 million, respectively, of leased assets
obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the
Company disposed of $0.4 million of leased assets.
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14 Concentrations and Credit Risk
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, a significant portion of the Company’s gross product
sales reported were through three customers, and a significant portion of the Company’s accounts
receivable as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were due from these customers as well. The following table
sets forth the percentage of the Company’s gross sales and accounts receivable attributable to these
customers for the periods indicated:

Amerisource Bergen
Cardinal Health
McKesson
Combined Total

Amerisource Bergen
Cardinal Health
McKesson
Combined Total

Gross Product
Sales
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
12 %
7
47 %
55
38 %
34
97 %
96

%
%
%
%

Gross Account
Receivables
December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
21 %
6%
22 %
61 %
51 %
29 %
94 %
96 %

Purchasing
For the year ended December 31, 2019, three suppliers accounted for more than 92% of the Company’s
purchases of raw materials for products that are manufactured by the Company.
Four suppliers accounted for more than 96% of the Company’s purchases of raw materials manufactured
by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The Company purchases various API of finished products at contractual minimum levels through
agreements with third parties. Individually, none of these agreements are material to the Company,
therefore, the Company does not believe at this time that any of the purchase obligations represent levels
above the normal course of business.
Sales by Product
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, one product accounted for 57% and 66%, respectively,
of the Company's total gross product sales.
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Royalty Sales
The following tables set forth the percentage of the revenues and accounts receivable recognized in
connection with Company's royalty contracts for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively:

Customer 4
Customer 5
Combined Total
NM-Not Meaningful

Customer 4
Customer 5
Combined Total

Year Ended
December 31, 2019
Gross
Gross Royalty
Royalty Revenue Accounts Receivable
75 %
93 %
3%
NM %
78 %
93 %

Year ended
December 31, 2018
Gross
Gross Royalty
Royalty Revenue Accounts Receivable
36 %
43 %
31 %
30 %
67 %
73 %

15 Incentive plans
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Prior to the IPO, the Company adopted the 2018 Incentive Plan (the "2018 Plan") which became effective
upon our IPO and allows for the issuance of up to 4,100,000 ordinary shares of the Company ("Shares") in
satisfaction of awards under the 2018 Plan. The 2018 Plan provides for the grant of share options, SARs,
restricted and unrestricted share and share units, performance awards, and other awards that are
convertible into or otherwise based on the Company’s shares to employees and non-employee directors,
consultants and advisors to the Company. The Company's compensation committee shall determine the
time at which an award vests or becomes exercisable. In connection with the IPO, the Company granted
share options under the 2018 Plan that will vest on the fourth anniversary of the grant date, subject to the
employee’s continued employment through such vesting date.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan
Effective February 3, 2016, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. adopted the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2016
Plan") which allows for the issuance of up to 75,000 Units in Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. Options to purchase
common units granted under the 2016 Plan vest and become exercisable in whole or in part, in accordance
with vesting conditions set by the Company's board of directors. Each option award had a maximum term
of ten years from the date of grant. The option awards granted under the 2016 Plan were made up of two
components: Time Awards and Performance Awards. The Time Awards vested 25% annually from original
grant date, subject to continuous employment on each vesting date. The vesting of the Performance awards
was subject to performance criteria, requiring the majority investors in the Company to receive (on a
cumulative basis) aggregate net proceeds exceeding certain return on investment targets. The Time Awards
and Performance Awards contained a sales restriction in the form of a liquidity event and subsequent
disposal of common units by the Major Limited Partners (as defined in the 2016 Plan) before the employee
was able to sell vested and exercised common units and were required to remain employed to avoid
Company’s call option on such common units at a lower of cost or fair market value.
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15 Incentive plans – continued
Amended and Restated Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan
On August 14, 2018, the board of directors amended and restated the 2016 Plan in connection with the
Reorganization. The Amended and Restated 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Amended 2016 Plan”)
became effective upon our IPO which closed on October 22, 2018. In connection with the Reorganization,
options to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. were converted into options to purchase
shares of the Company and existing sales restriction was removed. In connection with the IPO, the number
of shares issuable pursuant to the Amended 2016 Plan and the corresponding exercise prices of options
were adjusted to reflect a stock split initiated prior to the IPO. Additionally, effective upon the IPO, the
Amended 2016 Plan modified the terms of Performance Awards previously issued under the 2016 Plan by
converting these awards to time based awards vesting in equal annual installments on the first four
anniversaries of the IPO, subject to continuous employment. There were 3,015,572 ordinary shares
issuable upon exercise of options issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 under the Amended
2016 Plan. Prior to the modification date, there was no share based compensation recognized for the
Performance Awards due to a performance condition based upon the majority investors in the Company
receiving aggregate net proceeds exceeding certain return on investment targets.
Ordinary Share Repurchase Program
In September 2019, the Company’s board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5,251,892 ordinary
shares pursuant to a share repurchase program. Purchases under the ordinary share repurchase program
can be made on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, with the size and timing of these
purchases based on a number of factors, including the price of our ordinary shares, our business and market
conditions. The Company expects to retire ordinary shares acquired under the repurchase program. For
the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repurchased 673,182 ordinary shares for an aggregate
of $2.8 million.
2019 Employee Share Purchase Plan
In September 2019, the Company’s board of directors adopted and approved, the Employee Share
Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The ESPP allows each eligible employee who is participating in the plan to
purchase shares by authorizing payroll deductions of up to $2,000 per payroll period. Unless the
participating employee has previously withdrawn from the offering, accumulated payroll deductions will be
used to purchase shares on the last business day of the offering period at a price equal to 85 percent of the
fair market value of the shares on the first business day or the last business day of the offering period,
whichever is lower. Under applicable tax rules, an employee may purchase no more than $25,000 worth of
ordinary shares, valued at the start of the purchase period, under the ESPP in any calendar year. There is
no minimum holding period associated with shares purchased pursuant to this plan. An employee’s
purchase rights terminate immediately upon termination of employment.
The Company accounts for employee stock purchases made under its ESPP using the estimate grant date
fair value of accounting in accordance with ASC 718, Stock Compensation. The purchase price discount
and the look-back feature cause the ESPP to be compensatory and the Company to recognize
compensation expense. The compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period. The Company recognized $31,619 of compensation expense for the year ended December
31, 2019. The Company values ESPP shares using the Black-Scholes model.
As of December 31, 2019, there were no unrecognized ordinary share compensation expense related to
the ESPP. There were no ordinary shares issued under the ESPP during the year ended December 31,
2019. On January 2, 2020, the Company issued 29,351 ordinary shares to the employees who participated
in the ESPP during the offering period ended December 31, 2019.
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15 Incentive plans - continued
Share-based Compensation
The estimated fair value of the options is expensed over the requisite service period, which is generally the
vesting period on a graded vesting basis. The compensation cost that has been charged against income
for those incentive plans was $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and $2.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018, $1.2 million of which related to share based compensation incurred prior
to the IPO related to the fiscal year 2018. The total income tax benefit recognized in the statement of
operations and comprehensive loss for share-based compensation arrangements was $1.4 million and $0.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The conversion of the Performance
Awards issued under the 2016 Plan to Time Awards upon IPO under the Amended 2016 Plan was
accounted for as a modification where the fair value of such awards determined on a modification date, or
the IPO date is being recognized over their remaining vesting period.
Share-Based Award Activity
A summary of option activity granted under the 2016 Plan and the Amended 2016 Plan as of December 31,
2019, and changes during the year then ended is presented below:
2016 Equity Incentive Plan

Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at date of conversion
Unit options converted to share options
Performance options modified to time
options
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Vested Options at December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Vested Options at December 31, 2019

Time
36,100
—
—
(900)
35,200
1,507,786
1,507,786
—
—
—
3,015,572
720,131
—
—
(55,686)
2,959,886
1,459,005

Number of Units
Performance
Total
36,100
72,200
—
—
—
—
(900)
(1,800)
35,200
70,400
1,507,786
3,015,572
(1,507,786)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
3,015,572
720,131
—
—
(55,686)
2,959,886
1,459,005

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Contractual
Price $
Term
— 8.3 years
—
—
640
641
14.96
14.96
—
—
—
—
14.96
—
—
—
—
14.96

7.5 years
7.4 years

6.4 years
6.4 years

There were no options granted during 2019 under the 2016 Plan. The weighted-average grant-date fair
value of options granted during 2018 under the 2016 Plan was $184.69. The intrinsic value of options under
the 2016 Plan outstanding at December 31, 2019 was $0. The fair value of options vested under the 2016
Plan during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $6,431 and $3,698, respectively.
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15 Incentive plans - continued
A summary of option activity granted under the 2018 Plan as of December 31, 2019, and changes during
the year then ended is presented below:

Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Vested Options at December 31, 2019

Number of Shares
Time
Performance
Total
—
—
—
179,700
—
179,700
—
—
—
(1,100)
—
(1,100)
178,600
—
178,600
—
—
—
—
—
—
(44,400)
—
(44,400)
134,200
—
134,200
—
—
—

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price $
—
7.00
—
7.00
—
—
—
7.00
—

Weighted
Average
Contractual
Term

9.8 years

8.7 years

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during 2018 under the 2018 Plan was $3.82.
There were no options granted during 2019.
As of December 31, 2019, there was $2.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
nonvested options granted under the Incentive Plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 8.7 years.
The fair value of option awards is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Exercise price
of each award is generally not less than the per share fair value in effect as of that award date. The
determination of fair value using the Black-Scholes model is affected by the Company’s share fair value as
well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables, including expected price
volatility, risk-free interest rate and projected employee share option exercise behaviors. There were no
options granted during 2019. Options granted or modified under the 2016 Plan and 2018 Plan during the
years ended December 2018 were valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following
assumptions:
December 31,
2018
Expected volatility
50% - 63.1 %
Risk-free interest rate
3.03% - 3.11 %
Expected dividend yield
—%
Expected life of options in years
5.02 - 7.00
The Company estimates its expected volatility by using a combination of historical share price volatilities of
similar companies within our industry. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest
rates for the appropriate term of the Company’s options on a grant date. The expected option term
assumption is estimated using the simplified method and is based on the mid-point between vest date and
the remaining contractual term of the option, since the Company does not have sufficient exercise history
to estimate expected term of its historical option awards.
For all periods prior to the IPO, our Board of Directors has determined the fair value of the common unit
underlying our option with assistance from management and based upon information available at the time
of grant. Prior to our IPO, given the absence of a public trading market for our common units, estimating
the fair value of our common units was based on the actual operational and financial performance, current
business conditions and discounted cash flow projections. The estimated fair value of our common units,
prior to our IPO was adjusted for lack of marketability and control existing at the grant date.
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15 Incentive plans - continued
Restricted Stock Units
During 2019 we granted restricted stock units, or RSUs, covering an equal number of our ordinary shares
to employees and certain directors with a weighted average grant date fair value of $7.19. The fair value of
RSUs is determined on the date of grant based on the market price of our ordinary shares as of that date.
The fair value of the RSUs is recognized ratably over the vesting period of four years for employees and
one to three years for directors. As of December 31, 2019 total compensation cost not yet recognized related
to unvested RSUs was $8.0 million which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
3.2 years.
The following table summarizes the information as of December 31, 2019 and activity during 2019 related
to our RSUs:

Outstanding at January 1, 2019
RSUs granted
RSUs released
RSUs forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019

Number of
RSUs
—
1,486,020
—
(51,787)
1,434,233

WeightedWeightedAverage Remaining
Average Grant
Contractual Term
Date Fair Value $
(Years)
—
—
7.19
—
—
—
7.18
—
7.19
3.2

16 Commitments and Contingencies
Contingent Milestone Payments
The Company has entered into strategic business agreements for the development and marketing of
finished dosage form pharmaceutical products with various pharmaceutical development companies. Each
strategic business agreement includes a future payment schedule for contingent milestone payments and
in certain strategic business agreements, minimum royalty payments. The Company will be responsible for
contingent milestone payments and minimum royalty payments to these strategic business partners based
upon the occurrence of future events. Each strategic business agreement defines the triggering event of its
future payment schedule, such as meeting product development progress timelines, successful product
testing and validation, successful clinical studies, and various U.S. Food and Drug Administration and other
regulatory approvals.
Royalty Obligations
The Company has agreements with third parties that require the Company to make minimum royalty
payments on a calendar year basis.
The following table lists the Company’s enforceable and legally binding royalty obligations as of
December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Less than 1 year
1 to 3 years
3 to 5 years
More than 5 years
Total

Royalty Obligations
$
1,188
3,000
2,000
1,083
7,271
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16 Commitments and Contingencies - continued
Supply Agreement Obligations
The Company is engaged in various supply agreements with third parties which obligate the Company to
purchase various API or finished products at contractual minimum levels. None of these agreements are
individually the purchase obligations represent levels above that of normal business demands.
The Company has no enforceable and legally binding purchase obligations as of December 31, 2019.
Defined Contribution Plan
Vertical/Trigen and Legacy Osmotica both had a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") as of December 31, 2016 pursuant to the Merger (the "Contribution Plans").
The employees of the respective companies are eligible to participate in the Contribution Plans. Participants
may contribute amounts through payroll deductions not to exceed IRC limitations. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, the Vertical/Trigen Plan provided for nonelective employer contributions equal to 3%
of basic compensation. The separate Contribution Plans were merged into one plan effective January 1,
2017. Effective January 1, 2017, the plan provides for employer matching contributions equal to 100% of
each employee’s elective deferrals up to 3% of base salary, plus 50% of each employee’s elective deferrals
between 3% and 5% of base salary. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company
recognized expenses related to its contributions under the Plan of $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively.
Legal Proceedings
The Company is a party in legal proceedings and potential claims arising from time to time in the ordinary
course of its business. The amount, if any, of ultimate liability with respect to such matters cannot be
determined. Despite the inherent uncertainties of litigation, management of the Company believes that the
ultimate disposition of such proceedings and exposures will not have a material adverse impact on the
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.
On February 16, 2018, the Company received FDA approval for its amantadine extended release tablets
under the trade name Osmolex ER. On that same date the Company filed in the Federal District Court for
the District of Delaware a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment of Noninfringement of certain patents owned
by Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Osmotica Pharmaceutical US LLC and Vertical Pharmaceuticals, LLC
vs. Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Adamas Pharma, LLC). Adamas was served with the Complaint on
February 21, 2018. Adamas filed an answer on April 13, 2018 denying the allegations in the Complaint and
reserving the ability to raise counterclaims as the litigation progresses. On September 20, 2018, Adamas
filed an amended answer to the Company’s Complaint for Declaratory Judgment of Noninfringement, with
counterclaims alleging infringement of certain patents included in the Company’s Complaint and requesting
that the court grant Adamas damages, injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees. The action is ongoing but was
stayed on May 23, 2019 at the parties’ joint request.
On April 30, 2019, the Company was served with a complaint in an action entitled Leo Shumacher, et al.,
v. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Superior Court of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L000540-19. On May 10, 2019, a Complaint entitled Jeffrey Tello, et al., v. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, et
al., Superior Court of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L-000617-19 was filed in the same court as
the Shumacher action. The complaints names the Company, certain of the Company’s directors and officers
and the underwriters of the Company’s initial public offering as defendants in putative class actions alleging
violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 related to the disclosures contained in the
registration statement and prospectus used for the Company’s initial public offering of ordinary shares. On
July 22, 2019, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint consolidating the two actions, reiterating the
previously pled allegations and adding an additional individual defendant. The Company disputes the
allegations in the complaint and intends to vigorously defend against the action. However, this litigation
matter is still in an early stage and there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in its defense
or that insurance will be available or adequate to fund any settlement or judgment or the litigation costs of
the action, which could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.
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17 Related Parties
Prior to the Company’s initial public offering, it paid quarterly advisory, monitoring fees and any other related
expenses to certain shareholders. The Company had accrued less than $0.1 million and $0.1 million as
liabilities, as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, and had recognized $0.1 million
and $1.1 million of related expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related
to these expenses. Further, the Company leases its Argentina office and warehouse space facilities through
a related party lease. The term of the operating lease is through December 31, 2020. For the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred rent expense of $0.2 million and $0.2 million,
respectively.
On August 22, 2018, the Company entered into a Master Service Agreement with United Biosource, LLC
or UBC, an Avista portfolio company, for prescription processing and patient access services. In November
2018, the Company and UBC entered into a Statement of Work for services valued at approximately $2.4
million. The Company had accrued less than $0.1 million of liabilities related to this agreement as of
December 31, 2019 and had recognized $1.9 million of related expense for the year ended December 31,
2019.
There were no accruals or expenses recognized for the year ended December 31, 2018 related to these
expenses. In 2016 the Company entered into a two-year consulting agreement with two Vertical/Trigen
shareholders. The term of the agreement requires a compensation rate of $20,833 per month and is a
component of the selling, general and administrative expenses. This agreement terminated in
January 2018.

18 Subsequent events
The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2019 through
the date of the approval of the directors’ report.
On January 13, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 6,900,000 ordinary shares at a
public offering price of $5.00 per share. The number of shares issued in this offering reflected the exercise
in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 900,000 ordinary shares. The aggregate net proceeds from
the follow-on offering were approximately $31.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses.
On March 17, 2020, Carlos Sielecki informed the board of directors (the “Board”) of Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc (the “Company”) that he would resign as a director, with such resignation effective
immediately prior to the appointment of his successor to the Board. On March 22, 2020, the Board
appointed Joachim Benes to fill the vacancy on the Board resulting from the resignation of Mr. Sielecki, with
such appointment effective on March 23, 2020.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, referred to as 2019-ncov, COVID-19 coronavirus
epidemic, or COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. COVID-19 has since spread to
other regions in China and other countries, including the United States, where we have our executive offices
and principal operations. For additional information please refer to Risks related to our business described
in the Directors Report.

19 Share capital

Authorised
400,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.01 each
40,000,000 preferred shares of $0.01each

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

4,000
400
4,400

4,000
400
4,400
117

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

19 Share capital - continued

25,000 Euro deferred shares of €1 each

Allotted and fully paid
51,845,742 (2018: 52,518,924) ordinary shares of $0.01 each

20

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
€’000
€’000
25

25

$’000

$’000

518

525

Employee cost
The average number of employees for the year ended December 31, 2019 was 430 (2018: 421) analyzed
as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
Number
Number
Management
Other staff

6
424

6
415

The following table represents compensation costs, including restructuring, for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
Wages and salaries
Stock-based compensation
Other retirement benefit costs
Social welfare
Other benefits
Total

53,845
4,932
1,362
4,076
4,137
68,352

49,591
1,965
1,077
4,137
3,790
60,560

The total amount of employee costs capitalized in the year was $8,897,013 (2018: $9,174,545). All other
employee costs were charged to profit and loss.

21 Directors’ remuneration
The table below shows the remuneration of the directors of the Company for the financial year (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
Emoluments
Long term incentive plans

1,095
893
1,988

685
476
1,161
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21 Directors’ remuneration - continued
(1) Emoluments include salaries, fees and percentages, bonuses, any sums paid by way of expense allowance
in so far as those sums are chargeable to income tax, and the estimated money value of any other benefits
received otherwise than in cash.
(2) Retirement benefits were not accruing to any of the directors as at the balance sheet date.

22 Auditors' remuneration
The table below shows the auditors’ remuneration paid by the Company
for the financial year (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
Auditors' remuneration paid to EY Ireland and its affiliates (2018: BDO
Ireland and its affiliates) was as follows:
Statutory audit of financial statements *
Tax advisory services

*

996
321
1,317

1,989
5
1,994

Audit fees for the year ended December 31, 2018 also included fees of approximately $1.1 million for
services rendered in connection with the Company's initial public offering of ordinary shares completed
in October 2018.

The table below shows remuneration for all work carried out for the Company and its subsidiaries by EY
Ireland (2018: BDO Ireland), the Company’s statutory auditor in each of the following categories of work (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
$
Auditors’ remuneration - Group:
Statutory audit of group financial statements
Other assurance services
Tax advisory services
Other non-audit services

57
57

80
80

All fees paid to the Company’s auditors are approved by the Company’s audit committee.
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23 Subsidiary undertakings
As of December 31, 2019 the Company had the following subsidiaries, all wholly owned:
Company Name

Principal activity

Registered address

Osmotica Holdings SCSp

Holding company

19, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273
Luxembourg

Osmotica Holdings US LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited

Holding company

Osmotica Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató
Korlátolt Felelõsségû Társaság
Osmotica Pharmaceutical Corp

Holding company

6, Karaiskaki Street, CITY HOUSE
3rd Floor, 3032 Limassol, Cyprus
Berlini u. 47-49 Budapest 1045Hungary
895 Sawyer Road Marietta, GA
30062 USA
400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Biopharmaceuticals

Orbit Blocker I LLC

Holding company

Orbit Blocker II LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Valkyrie Group Holdings, Inc.

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Vertical/Trigen Midco, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Vertical/Trigen Opco, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Vertical Pharmaceuticals, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Trigen Laboratories, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Osmotica Pharmaceutical US LLC

RevitaLid, Inc.

Osmotica Argentina, S.A.

Biopharmaceuticals

Holding company

Biopharmaceuticals

895 Sawyer Road, Marietta, GA
30062
400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Francisco Aacuna de Figueroa 821
(C1180AA0), Buenos Aires,
Argentina
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24 Restatement
The Company has determined that a revision is required to correct misstatements associated with the tax
treatment of certain intercompany transactions at the time of the business combination between Osmotica
Holdings Limited and subsidiaries and Vertical/Trigen Holdings LLC which occurred on February 3, 2016.
Additionally, revisions were necessary to correct misstatements related to uncertain tax provisions and
prepaid taxes and certain other previously identified immaterial misstatements. The Company assessed the
materiality of the misstatements both quantitatively and qualitatively and the Company has reflected the
corrections in the results for prior period as described below.
The impacts of the corrections have been reflected throughout the consolidated financial statements,
including the applicable notes, as appropriate. The correction had no impact on the previously reported
amounts of consolidated cash flows from operating, investing or financing activities. The errors were
identified as a result of improved processes, controls and personnel that were put in place during 2018 and
continuing through 2019.
The following table presents the amounts as reported, net correction adjustments, and corrected amounts
for items affected by the corrections for the year ended December 31, 2018: (in thousands, except share
and per share data)

Prepaid expense and other current assets
Total assets
Income taxes payable-current portion
Income taxes payable-long term portion
Deferred taxes
Total liabilities
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit
Shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
Income tax benefit
Net loss
Comprehensive loss
Loss per share
Weighted average shares basic and diluted

Year ended December 31, 2018
As
Net
As
reported
adjustments
Corrected
$
20,744
$
(21) $
20,723
795,645
(21)
795,624
394
(394)
—
1,804
737
2,541
26,238
2,057
28,295
409,376
2,400
411,776
489,950
(2,662)
487,288
(102,360)
240
(102,120)
386,269
(2,422)
383,847
795,645
(21)
795,624
9,268
(284)
8,984
(109,396)
(284)
(109,680)
(110,609)
(284)
(110,893)
(2.42)
—
(2.42)
45,276,278
—
45,276,278

In the table above for periods prior to December 31, 2018 weighted averages shares – basic and dilutive
have been converted to their ordinary share equivalents by using an exchange ratio of 42.84 (rounded down
to the nearest whole share), which was the ratio the common units were converted to ordinary shares of
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc immediately prior to the Company’s initial public offering in October 2018.
See Note 1, Organization and Nature of Operations.
The Company has also made certain reclassifications to cost of goods sold from research and development
expenses which were concluded by the Company to be immaterial. For the year ended December 31, 2018
we have reclassified $5,068,252, to cost of goods sold from research and development expenses to
conform to the current year presentation.
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2019
$

2018
$

2

363,168

363,886

Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand

3

2,059
18
2,077

1,592
30
1,622

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

4

(6,553)

(7,881)

(4,476)

(6,259)

Notes
Fixed assets
Financial assets

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities

358,692

357,627

Net assets

358,692

357,627

518
10,000
7,617
340,557

525
362,542
5,465
(10,905)

358,692

357,627

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserves
Profit and loss account

5
6
6
6

Total equity

The Company’s loss for the financial years ending December 31, 2019 and 2018, as determined in accordance
with Irish GAAP (FRS 102), was $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively.

On behalf of the board
/s/ Brian Markison
Brian Markison
Director

/s/ Gregory L. Cowan
Gregory L. Cowan
Director

Date: April 17, 2020
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Financial Year Ended December 31, 2019 (in thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2018

Called up
share capital
presented
as equity
$

Share
premium
account

Other
reserves

Profit and
loss account

Total
equity

$

$

$

$

-

-

-

-

-

Net loss
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance of Euro deferred shares prior to initial public offering
Cancelation of original ordinary shares and euro shares
Effect of reorganization
Issuance of shares under initial public offering and private placement
Share option compensation
Balance at December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2019

29
(29)
428
97
525

299,571
62,971
362,542

29
4,719
717
5,465

(1,204)
(1,204)
(9,701)
(10,905)

(1,204)
(1,204)
29
299,999
58,086
717
357,627

Net loss
Total comprehensive loss
Transfer of reserves approved by the High Court
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares
Share option compensation
Balance at December 31, 2019

(7)
518

(352,542)
10,000

(2,780)
4,932
7,617

(1,080)
(1,080)
352,542
340,557

(1,080)
(1,080)
(2,787)
4,932
358,692
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Limited) is
an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc was incorporated in Ireland on July 13, 2017
with registration number 607944 and has its registered office at 25 – 28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, D01 H104.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on April 30, 2018 for the purpose of
facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On October 22, 2018, Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which it issued and allotted 7,647,500
ordinary shares at a public offering price of $7.00 per share. The number of shares issued in the IPO reflected
the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 997,500 additional ordinary shares. In addition, the
Company issued and allotted 2,014,285 ordinary shares at the public offering price in a private placement to
investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, Altchem Limited and an entity controlled by the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The aggregate net proceeds from the IPO and the private placement were
approximately $58.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering
expenses.
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc being the direct parent of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp with each holder of common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. receiving approximately 42.84
ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc in exchange for each such common unit. In addition, each
holder of an option to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. received an option to purchase
the number of ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc determined by multiplying the number of units
underlying such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded down to the nearest whole share) and dividing the
exercise price per unit for such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded up to the nearest whole cent). These
transactions are referred to as the “Reorganization”.
Until the Reorganization on October 17, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc did not conduct any operations
(other than activities incidental to its formation, the Reorganization and the pursuit of an initial public offering).
Upon the completion of the Reorganization, the historical consolidated financial statements of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp. became the historical financial statements of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc.
On February 27, 2019 the Irish High Court approved a reduction in the company’s capital by $352.5m. The
reserve created by the capital reduction is a realised profit and was transferred to the profit and loss account
reserve of the company.
Statement of compliance
The entity financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with Irish
GAAP (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK and the Companies Act 2014).
The entity financial statements comply with Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2014.
Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the entity financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all financial years presented.
Basis of preparation
The entity financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date. It also requires the directors to
exercise their judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments
made in the process of preparing the entity financial statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
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1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies- continued

Exemption for qualifying entities under FRS 102
FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions to a member of a group where the parent of
that group prepares publicly available consolidated financial statements which are intended to give a true and
fair view (of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss) and that member is included in the
consolidation. The Company is a qualifying entity and has taken advantage of the below disclosure exemptions:
(1) Exemption from the requirement to present a statement of cash flows,
(2) Exemption from the financial instrument disclosure requirement to provide the equivalent disclosures
included in the consolidated financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated, and
(3) Exemption from the requirement to disclose key management personnel compensation in total.
(4) Exemption from the requirements of Section 26 Share based Payment: paragraph 26.18 (b), 26.19 to 26.21
and 26.23.
Critical accounting estimates
The directors make estimates and assumptions concerning the future in the process of preparing the entity
financial statements. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year relate to the carrying value of the
investment in subsidiaries.
Going concern
The directors believe that the group’s existing cash balances, cash we expect to generate from operations of
the existing product portfolio, near-term product launches and product pipeline, as well as funds available
under the Revolver, will be sufficient to fund the group’s operations and to meet its existing obligations for at
least the next 12 months. Further, the directors believe recent events from the COVID-19 pandemic will not
affect the group’s ability to meet its existing obligations for at least the next 12 months. Therefore, these entity
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Currency translation
The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the U.S. dollar ($). Transactions denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency are translated into U.S. dollars using the spot exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions.
Monetary items are translated to the U.S. dollar using the closing exchange rate at each reporting date. Nonmonetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the spot rate on the date of the transaction.
Foreign currencies exchange differences are recognized in other expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income.
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries is recorded at cost less impairment.
Impairments of investment in subsidiaries
The Company evaluates whether facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying values of its investment in
subsidiaries may not be recoverable. If such facts or circumstances are determined to exist, an estimate of the
recoverable amount is compared to the carrying value of the asset to determine whether an impairment exists.
If the asset is determined to be impaired, the loss is measured based on the difference between the asset’s
recoverable amount and its carrying value.
Cash at bank and in-hand
Cash at bank and in hand includes all cash balances and deposits which are repayable upon demand.
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1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies- continued

Share-based payments
The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan for employees of some of its
subsidiaries. The grant-date fair value, calculated using the Black-Scholes model, of the employee services
received in exchange for the equity instruments granted in the Company is recognized as an addition to the
investment with a corresponding increase in equity as a capital contribution by the Company to its subsidiaries.
The grant-date fair value of the award is recognized over the period during which the employee is required to
provide service in exchange for the award (vesting period). The proceeds received by the Company when share
options are exercised are credited to share capital (nominal value) and the balance to share premium
Financial instruments
The Company has chosen to apply the provisions of Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 to account for all of its
financial instruments.
Financial assets
Basic financial assets, including trade and other debtors, cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits,
are initially recognized at transaction price (including transaction costs), unless the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction the resulting financial asset is
initially measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar
debt instrument.
Trade and other debtors, cash and cash equivalents and financial assets from arrangements which constitute
financing transactions are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
At the end of each financial year financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed for impairment. If
there is objective evidence that a financial asset measured at amortized cost is impaired an impairment loss is
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. The impairment loss is the difference between the
financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the financial asset’s estimated cash inflows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
If, in a subsequent financial year, the amount of an impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the
carrying amount would have been had the impairment loss not previously been recognized. The impairment
reversal is recognized in statement of comprehensive income.
Financial assets are derecognized when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are
settled, (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to another
party, or (c) control of the financial asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to
unilaterally sell the financial asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.
Financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies
and preference shares, are initially recognized at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction the resulting financial liability
is initially measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a
similar debt instrument.
Trade and other creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies, and financial liability from
arrangements which constitute financing transactions are subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the
effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is treated as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility
to which it relates.
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1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments – continued
Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade creditors are classified as due within one year if payment is due within one year
or less. If not, they are presented as falling due after more than one year. Trade creditors are recognized initially
at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are not recognized as a liability if it is not probable that
the Company will be required to transfer economic benefits in settlement of the obligation or the amount cannot
be reliably measured. Possible but uncertain obligations are not recognized as liabilities but are contingent
liabilities. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements unless the probability of payment is
remote.
Share capital
Equity shares issued are recognized at the proceeds received. The par value of the shares issued is credited
to the called up share capital account with the excess of the proceeds received over the par value of those
shares recorded in the share premium account. Transaction costs relating the issuance of equity shares are
charged directly to equity.
Dividends
Dividends may only be declared and paid out of the profits available for distribution in accordance with
accounting practice generally accepted in Ireland and applicable Irish company law. Any dividends, if and when
declared, will be declared and paid in U.S. dollars. Dividends declared by the directors are accrued when
declared.

2

Financial assets

Investment
in subsidiary
undertakings
$’000

Cost
At December 31, 2018
Additions – Share based compensation
Return of capital
At December 31, 2019

363,886
4,932
(5,650)
363,168

Financial fixed assets comprise equity shares in the following direct 100% owned subsidiary undertakings:
Company Name

Principal activity

Registered address

Osmotica Holdings SCSp

Holding company

19, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273
Luxembourg

Osmotica Holdings US LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807
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3

Debtors - amounts falling due within one year

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Prepayments

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$’000
$’000
215
1,844
2,059

6
1,586
1,592

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are
repayable on demand.

4

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

Notes payable
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Accruals

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$’000
$’000
5,101
1,452
6,553

1,576
5,718
587
7,881

Notes payable represented the amount financed that remains outstanding at the balance sheet date in relation
to Commercial Premium Finance Agreement by the Company. The arrangement attracted an annual interest
rate of 4.25% with 9 month payments commencing December 10, 2018.
Trade and other creditors are payable in accordance with the creditors usual and customary credit terms.
Amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are
repayable on demand.
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5

Called up share capital presented as equity

Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Authorised
400,000,000 (2018: 400,000,000) ordinary shares of $0.01 each
40,000,000 (2018: 40,000,000) preferred shares of $0.01 each

25,000 (2018: 25,000) Euro deferred shares of €1 each

Allotted and fully paid
51,845,742 (2018: 52,518,924) ordinary shares of $0.01 each

4,000
400
4,400

4,000
400
4,400

€’000

€’000

25

25

$’000

$’000

517

525

Share capital movements
Ordinary shares
Number of
Per value
shares
$’000
Shares redeemed and cancelled
during the financial year

Euro deferred shares
Number of
Per value
shares
$

673,182

(7)

-

-

673,182

(7)

-

-

For details of the reasons why shares were issued during the period and the consideration received refer to
Note 1 of the financial statements.
Redemption of shares
Following the redemption and cancellation of the shares above, in line with the Irish law, the par value of the
cancelled shares has been transferred to an undenominated capital account which forms part of other reserves
on the balance sheet.
Ordinary shares
The rights and restrictions attaching to the ordinary shares are as follows:
•
•
•

the right to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company and to exercise one vote per Ordinary
Share held at any general meeting of the company
the right to participate pro rata in all dividends declared by the company with respect to the Ordinary Shares;
and
the right, in the event of the company’s winding up, to participate pro rata with all other holders of Ordinary
Shares in the total assets of the company.

The rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares shall be subject to the terms of issue of any series or class of
preferred shares allotted by the directors from time to time.
Preferred shares
The directors are authorised to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued Preferred Shares from time to
time in one or more classes or series. The directors may at any time before the allotment of any preferred share
by further resolution in any way amend the designations, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations or
restrictions, or vary or revoke the designations of such Preferred Shares.
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5

Called up share capital presented as equity - continued

Euro deferred shares
The holders of the Euro Deferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive any dividend or distribution and shall
not be entitled to receive notice of, nor to attend, speak or vote at, any general meeting of the Company. On a
return of assets, whether on liquidation or otherwise, the Euro Deferred Shares shall entitle the holder thereof
only to the repayment of the amounts paid up on such shares after repayment of the capital paid up on the
Ordinary Shares plus the payment of $5,000,000 on each of the Ordinary Shares and the holders of the Euro
Deferred Shares (as such) shall not be entitled to any further participation in the assets or profits of the company.

6

Reserves

Share premium account
Share premium represents the excess of proceeds received in relation to the issuance of equity shares over the
par value of those shares.
Other reserve
This comprises a) share option reserves related to the equity settled share based payments to employees of
subsidiaries of the company b) the par value of cancelled shares which have been transferred to an
undenominated capital account.
Profit and loss account
Profit and loss account represents the aggregate of accumulated comprehensive income/(loss) since
incorporation and the realised profit created following the High Court approved capital reduction.

7

Loss attributable to Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

In accordance with Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014, the Company is availing of the exemption from
presenting and filing its individual profit and loss account. The Company’s loss for the financial years ending
December 31, 2019 and 2018, as determined in accordance with Irish GAAP (FRS 102), was $1.1 million and
$1.2 million, respectively.

8

Related-party transactions

The Company has not disclosed related party transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries as it has
availed of the exemption available under Schedule 3(67), paragraph 3, Companies Act 2014, which exempts
disclosure of transactions entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary
undertaking which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by a member of that group.
Disclosure of directors' remuneration is included in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements of the
company.

9

Auditors' remuneration

Auditors’ remuneration for services provided by EY Ireland (2018: BDO Ireland), the statutory auditor to the
Company during the year ended December 31 2019, was $57 thousand for the provision of audit services (2018:
$80 thousand) and $nil thousand for the provision of tax advisory services (2018 $nil). Disclosure of the auditors’
remuneration for the group is included in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements of the company.
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10 Commitments and contingencies
The Company has no commitments and contingencies other than as disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

11 Events since the end of the financial year
The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2019 through the
date of the approval of the directors’ report.
On January 13, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 6,900,000 ordinary shares at a public
offering price of $5.00 per share. The number of shares issued in this offering reflected the exercise in full of
the underwriters’ option to purchase 900,000 ordinary shares. The aggregate net proceeds from the follow-on
offering were approximately $31.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering
expenses.
On March 17, 2020, Carlos Sielecki informed the board of directors (the “Board”) of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals
plc (the “Company”) that he would resign as a director, with such resignation effective immediately prior to the
appointment of his successor to the Board. On March 22, 2020, the Board appointed Joachim Benes to fill the
vacancy on the Board resulting from the resignation of Mr. Sielecki, with such appointment effective on March
23, 2020.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, referred to as 2019-ncov, COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic, or
COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. COVID-19 has since spread to other regions in
China and other countries, including the United States, where we have our executive offices and principal
operations. For additional information please refer to Risks related to our business described in the Directors
Report.

12 Approval of financial statements
The directors approved the financial statements on April 17, 2020.
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